

Karolina Lillvis

# Increasing well-being experiences through cultural events

Improving participation and communality as eventful well-being promotion aims

Metropolia University of Applied Sciences Master of Culture and Arts Creativity and Arts in Social and Health fields Master Thesis Date 30.9.2022

# Abstract

Author(s):	Karolina Lillvis
Title:	Increasing well-being experiences through cultural events
Number of Pages:	141 pages + 3 appendices
Date:	30. September 2022
Degree: Degree Programme: Specialisation option:	Master of Culture and Arts Creativity and Arts in Social and Health fields
nstructor(s):	Dr. Sanna Kivijärvi (Thesis supervisor)
Keywords:	cultural event, well-being experience, event experience

While communality and participation are foundational parts of the definition of an event, the significance of eventfulness is not often discussed with creativity, arts, and culture. In practice, most subsidies are directed to artists themselves, while the role of facilitators is not recognized. The focus of this study is the well-being effects of cultural events – their position in the prevailing literature and at municipal and national levels, as well as eventfulness as a component of arts and culture activities and health services. Based on the findings of this research, many studies measure the instrumental impact of arts but not the full extent of the participants' experience. However, the findings also show that events are a part of the culture in every community and that eventful activity runs through every sector of society.

My research aims to identify the connections between participation in cultural events and their effect. The objective is to present better practices to produce and analyze data and show that eventfulness is critical in cultural well-being promotion. My research consists of a literature review and a related analysis of expert interview data. Attending events is proven to increase well-being through the experience of participation and community, as well as through a person's sense of agency in subject that is meaningful to them. The Finnish Government's publications on arts and culture activities call for action to advance individuals' agency and community-building. Although various studies have successfully measured subjective well-being strategies. It can be pointed out that the character of many arts and culture interventions is similar to the character of events. However, the analysis of expert interview data recognizes that events are not seen as instruments to increase experienced well-being.

Based on the findings, one solution to increase cultural well-being promotion could be to integrate eventful operations into the current plans of action as a procedure which would, as a result, create more space for all arts and cultural activities in general. Specifically, I suggest distinguishing existing events from the current strategies, offering past-time activities and well-being services, and starting program development as the first measure. Furthermore, these positive effects generated by the cultural events can trickle down to start changing the operating models of municipalities, non-profits, and entrepreneurs.

# **Table of Contents**

1	Introdu	ction	1
2	Implementation of the research		4
	2.1	Research task and question	4
	2.2	Research methodological standpoint	5
	2.3	Data collection	7
	2.4	Data analysis	11
	2.5	Research ethics	13
3 Literature review		15	
	3.1	Expressions of cultural well-being	15
	3.2	Creativity, health, and well-being as a multidisciplinary field	26
	3.3	Theoretical premises of well-being experiences at cultural events	30
	3.4	Measuring subjective experiences of well-being	41
4 Findings		56	
	4.1	Expert interviews	56
	4.2	Relating the expert interviews to the literature review	71
5 Discussion and conclusions		85	
	5.1	Implications of findings	85
	5.2	Discussion	91
	5.3	Research reliability	98
В	Bibliography		
A	Appendices		141
	Appendix 1. Tutkittavan informointilomake		141
	Appendix 2. Tutkittavan suostumus		142
	Appendix	3. Interview questions, Finnish	143

# 1 Introduction

Cultural well-being is a multifaceted concept of the different positive effects that engaging in different forms of culture can produce (e.g., Lilja-Viherlampi, 2021; Lilja-Viherlampi & Rosenlöf, 2019). The development of cultural well-being measures is a current and ongoing process (Daykin, 2019, 2021; Liikanen, 2010; Saukko et al., 2020), and for long art-based methods have been used in, for instance, education, mental health rehabilitation, or the integration of refugees (Gross et al., 2021; Hardiman, 2019; Houni et al., 2020, pp. 111–173; Laitinen, 2017a).

Including objectives that increase cultural well-being in national and municipal policies combine multiple areas of helping and bettering different people groups' lives (Gordon-Nesbitt & Howarth, 2019; Laitinen et al., 2020). They can be seen in Finland in several governmental publications (Liikanen, 2010; Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland, 2016; Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland, 2016; Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland, 2017; Finnish Government, 2021). However, accumulating publications, articles, and theses (e.g., Daykin & Coulter, 2021; Daykin, 2019; Fujiwara et al., 2014a; Staricoff, 2004; Staricoff & Clift, 2011) have proven that music, creativity, arts, physical exercise and being part of a community are essential and benefit a person's well-being in many ways. However, in these texts, the mention of taking part in cultural events is reduced to discussing the limitations of measurement of what effects taking part in cultural events has on the host locality.

The Ministry of Education and Culture's strategy for cultural policy (Ministry of Education and Culture, 2017, p. 30) only mentions events in the context of the municipal economy and the government's current implementation plan for promoting well-being, health, and safety (Finnish Government, 2021, p. 4) does not mention them at all, only the instrumental use of applied art activities. Since the general understanding that participating in the arts and culture benefits well-being has been growing along with the policies, I want to look at participation through cultural events and research how well-being experiences are measured.

From my point of view as an event producer, an example of an eventful objective of an arts and culture activity would be going to an orchestra concert, taking a tour of an art museum with a guide, or painting at an art therapy session. The experience of attending an event is more than the sum of its parts, not only art and creativity as its focal point. Even though agency and engagement in the creative and art activities are studied (Huhtinen-Hildén & Isola, 2019; Matarasso, 1997) in this intersection of participation, sense of community, and experiencing arts and culture at an event, the connections are yet to be made from the perspective eventful cultural activity. Interestingly, the studies that measure the benefits of participating in arts and culture activities do not generally measure the effects of the full extent of participation in events. The focus tends to be on the participants' observations of the art subject or performance as the factor that increases well-being.

My research objective is to present evidence that cultural events create wellbeing experiences through a literature review and qualitative expert interviews. My findings show the basis for cultural well-being at events and that a measurement method for experiences at cultural events should be developed. My research question is: *How does attending cultural events increase one's wellbeing from the standpoint of measuring subjective well-being experiences in arts and culture activities*? The research problem also touches on the context of current cultural well-being initiatives and programs and the inequality between the different cultural well-being expressions, values, emphases, and operations.

In the following chapter 2, I present the implementation of my research, my research task and question, research methodological standpoint, data collection and data analysis methods and process, and research ethical matters. Chapter 3 presents my literature review, in which I approach my topic through the expressions of cultural well-being, I show from existing research the multidisciplinary nature of the cultural well-being field, and introduce the theoretical premises of the literature review and discuss measuring subjective experiences of well-being. In chapter 4, I present the findings of my interviews

and my literature review, as well as their relations to each other and the current disposition of the cultural well-being discussion. Chapter 5 is the conclusion and discussion of my research where I summarize my findings, discuss other revealed topics and the limitations of my research, as well as future prospects for relevant and related research.

# 2 Implementation of the research

In this chapter, I present the implementation of my research. In subchapter 2.1, I talk about my research task and question and how it relates to society. In subchapter 2.2, I discuss the research methodological standpoint, aims, and details of my literature review and semi-structured qualitative expert interviews. In subchapter 2.3, I explain practical matters for my literature review and conducting the interviews and how I analyzed them separately and as a part of the theoretical premises of my research task and question. In subchapter 2.4, I address what should be accounted for concerning research ethics.

#### 2.1 Research task and question

In this study, I explore the topic of cultural events and how they fit into the more prominent theme of cultural well-being. This research aims to seek more precise conclusions in my established problem; of the missing research about the well-being effects of cultural events and to put the existing ideas of measuring experiences that have well-being effects from related research into event context. The broader context of the processes for cultural well-being promotion also includes perspectives about urban environments as the hosts of events, arts and culture activities, communality, and administrative bureaucracy to provide a frame of reference to my research task and question. The rationale is to show that the effects of experiencing cultural well-being at an event can be defined and recognized in existing circumstances. A central theme is to find possible evidence for a cause-and-effect relationship between cultural events and experiencing well-being.

The research question is: *How does attending cultural events increase one's well-being from the standpoint of measuring subjective well-being experiences in arts and culture activities*? I also examine this question within the framework of expert interviews to present a more profound understanding of the topic, gain a practical understanding of the measurement of cultural well-being effects, and

make suggestions about measuring experiences at events based on generalizable findings for the multidisciplinary field. This study's approach pushes the current instruments of cultural well-being promotion to present the necessity for a measurement and data collection method specific to the well-being effects of cultural events. I hope to be among the first to conduct initial research about the scope of all cultural events and their importance to experiencing well-being.

#### 2.2 Research methodological standpoint

Data on the relationship between the arts and culture and well-being can be acquired qualitative and quantitatively, which can be seen in, for instance, the literature reviews of Fujiwara et al. (2014a, 2014b). My methodological starting points and research methods are pretty standard for qualitative research. This study is constructed in the tradition of pertaining research in the field. However, I can include different points of view to contribute more knowledge and understanding to build my case. I also examine evidence from quantitative studies. There are both conceptual and empirical aspects to my research. The standpoint also has aspects of hermeneutic and interpretivist methodology. The indicators of trustworthiness, which I aim to establish so that my findings can be generalized and applied to a broader context are "quality of the project, the rigor of the methodology, and whether readers of the research findings feel you have established trustworthiness" (Leavy, 2017, pp. 154–155).

My goal is to contribute rich but accurate research findings about the cultural field and events within its processes concerning creating well-being. Even though my research problem can be identified from related studies and public discussion, the gap in the literature provides a foundation on which I can base my objectives on. I explore the ideas of my topic to gain elaborated insights into this specific context conducting qualitative interviews and placing more emphasis on description and explanation than applying my findings to pre-defined hypotheses (Hammersley, 2013, p. 12). I view that under the qualitative methodology umbrella, I came to this topic in an exploratory way; I had a general idea and a specific observation that I could not place and find more information. Exploratory research questions are designed to understand particular segments of interest, and they can help to put together ideas to understand the underlying fundamentals of the topic (Hammersley, 2013, p. 29). They are most often used when the studied issue is new or when the data is unavailable. This is not indispensably the case with my topic, but it is how I see the missing perspective; it stands unaddressed, yet simultaneously elements related to it are being vindicated.

Qualitative research methodology supports my research task since I am doing groundwork for well-being studies in an event studies context. It also allows me to compare the backgrounds of different examples to assess those involved in the investigated processes (Hammersley, 2013, p. 14). Because the qualitative paradigm is extremely diverse methodologically and theoretically and enables me to incorporate multiple tiers of analysis to the literature review and data. Even if the premise is to work in an interpretive manner within the research design (Leavy, 2017, pp. 124, 134), qualitative research can entail in-depth experiences and perspectives of segmented people groups, or persons (Hammersley, 2013, p. 54). I used judgmental sampling to gather expert data, a typical hermeneutic technique (Gillo, 2021, p. 45; Maul, 2018, pp. 914–915).

It is challenging to obtain a perspective that takes advantage of insights from prior research while simultaneously being open to new findings in my specific topic of interest (Patterson & Williams, 2002, p. 39). Hermeneutic research attempts to address this dichotomy by creating models that can be utilized to guide the search but do not predetermine pre-constructed limiting designs for the findings. (Patterson & Williams, 2002, p. 39). The questions of the semi-structured interviews follow the same concepts as my literature review. They dig into the specifics and professional knowledge of showing the layers behind experiencing well-being by participation, agency, and community at events combined with creativity, arts, and culture producing well-being benefits. This act is also a method of triangulation that gives "a more complete and nuanced understanding of the topic"; data from multiple sources makes the research more trustworthy,

and it lowers the risk of bias (Leavy, 2017, p. 153). Theoretically, triangulation refers to "looking at the data through more than one theoretical lens to allow different interpretations to emerge" (Hesse-Biber & Leavy, 2011, p. 51), which in my view, is the approach to the interview questions is exploratory.

Exploratory orientation is also required in interpretivism to learn how "patterns of action unfold in particular contexts" (Hammersley, 2013, p. 29). In gualitative research, the analysis is based on language, observations, and textual analysis. I followed the tradition of qualitative research by analyzing the context of the content analysis using research methods to describe, interpret and understand the texts. Because my data is qualitative, it can be categorized through content analysis for further insights. "Content analysis is a method for systematically investigating texts and qualitative researchers use content analysis to understand the meanings and patterns that arise from the texts." (Leavy, 2017, pp. 145–148.) I based my data analysis on a hermeneutic organizing system I developed through the analysis. This hermeneutic process aims to identify predominant themes that can be referred to in pursuit of organization, interpretation, and presenting meaningful narrations. Its scientific and philosophical interpretation and understanding come from setting the text against history, culture, language, and context as core factors that service analysis (Gillo, 2021, p. 45.) A final organizing system that comprises the layers and themes of the theoretical premises of the literature review and the findings of the semi-structured interviews "promotes a comprehensive understanding of the subject matter by unfurling the inter-relationships among the themes and by retaining a rich depiction of individual themes" (Patterson & Williams, 2002, p. 46).

#### 2.3 Data collection

Through a literature review and semi-structured interviews as a qualitative study, my research objective aims to show evidence of the connection between cultural events and increased well-being. I find this a suitable approach because qualitative research is a form of social inquiry that emphasizes the meaning of subjectivity in the research process and can adopt a flexible research design, which can be driven by both theory and data (Hammersley, 2013, p. 12). These characteristics are also prevalent in the studies done in the cultural field. I followed the tradition of studying the literature in detail and using "verbal rather than statistical forms of analysis" (Hammersley, 2013, p. 12).

I submerged myself in the current cultural well-being and event study literature. A meta-analysis of literature begins with an "initial immersion into the content to get a sense of the big picture, determining the units of analysis, coding, and interpretation" (Leavy, 2017, p. 147). I started sourcing my material by getting familiarized with academic journals in the field of cultural well-being, such as The Nordic Journal of Arts, Culture and Health, and Tafter Journal. I also found wellbeing-themed issues from arts and creativity journals like Musiikki 4/2021 - Vol 51: "Music, sound and well-being." The Finnish Arts and Health coordination center Taikusydän also maintains an index of relevant research publications. Since cultural well-being is a narrower field, the initial material kept circling back to hallmark researchers and their works (e.g., Belfiore & Bennet, 2008; Diener, 1984; Diener & Suh, 2000; Fancourt & Finn, 2019; Liikanen, 2010; Matarasso, 1997; Skingley et al., 2011; Staricoff, 2004). These researchers' publications and their bibliographies provided me with ample information on the history of cultural well-being studies and policy, which then crossed over to research from social sciences and event studies that came to outline my literature review. Some keywords I used in finding related literature were 'event experience', 'well-being and events', 'effect and impact of events' gave a point of reference for me to recognize the saturation point of event studies and their recurring research findings and theories (e.g., Getz, 1997; Konlaan et al., 2000; Richards et al., 2013; Richards & Palmer, 2010; Waterman, 1998; Zukin, 1995). The articles I have used are peer-reviewed and are rated by the Federation of Finnish Learned Societies (TSV) in their publication forum. In addition to peer-reviewed journal articles, I began looking for Routledge companions related to my previous studies in production and management in arts and culture, such as 'Events Management' (Bowdin, O'Toole, Allen, Harris, & McDonnell, 2006), 'Event Studies: Theory,

research and policy for planned events"'(Getz & Page, 2020). This starting point quickly led me to more related literature.

The literature synthesis provides a solid base of what is already known through the recent and notable studies concerning my topic (Leavy, 2017, p. 128). Because the nature of cultural well-being research is multidisciplinary, some data in my literature review had been produced according to very different traditions. Some studies used empirical evidence and a very positivist paradigm, while others were meta-analytical or longitudinal. However, the research papers have a qualitative essence at their core because "they value the depth of meaning and people's subjective experiences, and their meaning-making processes" (Leavy, 2017, p. 124). Even quantifiable measures are used in verifying and describing the human experience. These research design differences can complicate the broader generalizability of the research results. I intended to find articles and works published from 2010 onwards, but references to established definitions and concepts also vary from 1980 to 2009. The theoretical premises of the concepts of my research task and question blend into the literature review, thus building the case for my problem and discussion.

Because my goal is to gain detailed knowledge about a specific phenomenon, my choice was to do a judgmental sample. (Leavy, 2017, pp. 79–80). An advantage of judgment sampling is that participants who meet the specific criteria make judgment sampling efficient in practice due to their experiential knowledge of the research task and question and when the sample unit is small, it does not miss critical representative elements of the research topic (Bernard, 2002; Maul 2018, pp. 914–915; Tremblay, 1957). I wanted to interview experts from the cultural field with multiple years of work experience in cultural events who are also scholars whose work is related to describing events and experiences through social matters.

I contacted the participants for interview data collection in December of 2021; when my research methods had become crystallized, I chose to carry out interviews in addition to the literature review. Then timeslots for an online video

call via the platform Zoom were scheduled. I required the interviewees to agree with the conditions of the participant information form and the participant consent form. These documents included institutional approval, practical matters, and GDPR measures (appendices 1 & 2). I conducted three interviews. The interviewees were provided with two recent articles (Huhtinen-Hildén et al., 2020; Lilja-Viherlampi, 2021) about cultural well-being concepts in Finland but were not obligated to learn them or otherwise prepare for the interview. They knew the research topic and the themes that were in line with my research task and question in advance but did not have additional information about the interview duration and was successful about the time-keep with every meeting.

These were the measures I took to ensure detailed insight and specific points of view on the matters concerning cultural well-being practices and events. Each expert answered the same prepared questions on their behalf, each interview lasted for an hour, and the transcriptions of the interviews were very similar in length. Each interviewee answered each question to different extents and from both overlapping and differing points of view, as they shared multiple common traits as researchers but had different backgrounds project-wise. I acted as the interviewer and facilitated the video calls; no other assistance was required. The interviews were done one-on-one. I invited the interviewees to have an interactive discussion with me; I emphasized this by making my questions open-ended and not fixed to be asked in a particular order. I had predetermined questions and a tentative order to present them, but I encouraged the participants to give freeflowing answers. I determined the order of questions depending on the topics and nuances of the dialogue but ensured that all the participants answered the prepared question in full. I wanted to engage in considerable efforts to build and sustain rapport while simultaneously trying to minimize my influence. (Cf. Hammersley, 2013, p. 68.)

The interview data was collected verbally and recorded with the participants' consent for transcription and trustworthiness. The recordings were done by the specialized software used to make the video call, saved as audio files, and

transferred to a private external hard drive. The interviews were transcribed for analysis. This research design allowed me to gather rich information, recognize patterns, and create as much room and diversity for the answers as possible.

#### 2.4 Data analysis

Because of the absence of preliminary data on the measured well-being experiences at events, my research relies heavily on the textual analysis part of the literature review and conducting a textual analysis of the interview transcriptions. For this research, the literature review is a fundamental way to recognize the existing elements and variables of the research task and question. The variables include concepts of an event and subjective experience. In order to investigate the subjects of my research question according to the aims of my research, showing the connection between experiencing arts and culture at an event and its effects on increased well-being, the most suitable definitions for these concepts need to be argued.

Detailed operationalization needs to reform the theoretical constructs of the expressions of cultural well-being from the literature into concepts identified in empirical existence. Through operationalization, it is possible to collect data systematically on processes and phenomena that are not directly observable or measurable. My literature review constructs the theoretical premises and addresses the concepts that different contexts use for the topics of my research task and question. (de Groot, 1969.) To examine the experienced well-being in the context of cultural events, looked for the theoretical building blocks of experiences and well-being and conceptualized culture and events. I recognized perspectives that serve the context of the research field, which I could use to specify my observations to narrow the focus of my analysis. These perspectives were event context, measurement methods, and subjective experiences. Because the described well-being experiences in this study derive from subjective experiences, it is essential to locate and show the factors that establish the concepts as explicitly as possible.

The starting point of my analysis is to pose the same questions to both the texts, the literature review, and the transcribed expert interviews. The interviews were analyzed from a thematic and a discoursal point of view, aligned with the theoretical premises of my literature review. The categories for the organizational system were not predetermined and developed so that one code could be assigned to multiple categories. I began the process with thematic analysis by recognizing the themes as inductively as possible and simultaneously developing the codes (Hesse-Biber & Leavy, 2017, p. 51). I wanted to commence the analysis with a systematic procedure that could increase the reliability of the analysis. However, I chose to mix analysis methods to suit the elaborate data. I coded and closely examined the texts segment by segment. Each found theme was examined to understand participants' and researchers' perceptions and identify the primary patterns first. (Hammersley, 2013, pp. 63–64). These themes were identified based on their development through the simultaneous review of existing literature research.

Because I wanted to enlighten the underlying processes and social context, I also applied meta-analysis measures. I discuss the meaning of words, phrases, and sentences in the light of the theoretical premises of my research task and question, the context of my research, the current climate surrounding cultural well-being. I also used content analysis to make qualitative interpretations by analyzing the meanings of the concepts in the literature review and the expert interviews.

Critical analysis considers different matters of analysis as power dynamics in society and the research process context. My analysis also takes a critical viewpoint because most health services under cultural well-being operations are in the public sector. Leavy (2017, p. 130–131) describes that in qualitative research, critical analysis can examine "how power is negotiated, maintained, and resisted by and within small groups." A critical perspective sees that "power is always at play" in every environment. (Leavy, 2017, p. 130–131.) Also, affecting change, developing processes further, and piloting new projects are politics and

require lobbying. It should also be considered that many target groups for increasing well-being through the arts are in a vulnerable or discriminated position.

#### 2.5 Research ethics

I conducted this research according to the ethical research principles of the Finnish Advisory Board on Research Integrity (Finnish National Board on Research Integrity TENK, 2012, 2019). I considered my research by observing the General Data Protection Regulation, GDPR, which includes the procedures for personal processing data and the participants' privacy protection. I also followed the TENK principles about the treatment and rights of the research participants. In practice, this meant deconstructing the process of organizing and carrying out the interviews and evaluating every aspect of it in the light of research integrity. The participants' information and consent forms were extensive. They included written out sections of their rights for privacy, to store their data, and to terminate their participation at any moment during the interview process. The consent forms (see appendices 1 and 2) also consider the participants' conflicts of interest if they are, for instance, employed by an institution with a strong ideology so that their participation would not end up including lobbying. None claimed that any of these matters would inhibit them from participating.

It can be debated if I succeeded in formulating the interview questions carefully in a manner that considers the theoretical premises of my research task and question. Even though the participants have comprehensive professional knowledge of the concepts of my research context, their observations and opinions are empirical and subjective, as well as even evident critique of the field. Accidental leading questions are a risk due to 'the interviewer effect' (Roller & Lavrakas, 2015, pp. 83–84). To avoid these risks, my peers and supervisor extensively reviewed my interview questions before implementation.

According to Hammersley (2013, p. 13), when the researcher shares a fundamental identity with those they study as I do with the experts, the researcher obtaining others' perspectives will inevitably "filter through their distinctive view of

the world, their attitudes, and feelings; though it might reasonably be argued that these are not simply a source of potential blindness or bias but are also essential in facilitating understanding." Understanding still cannot be guaranteed since there will always be other ways in which I differ from them.

## 3 Literature review

In this chapter, I present my literature review, which will examine some of the literature and theories of well-being, its components, and various ways of measuring subjective well-being. In the following sections, I will discuss how cultural events create opportunities to experience cultural well-being and how cultural events can affect increased subjective well-being. I will present concepts related to promoting well-being, participating in events, and measuring subjective experiences. These notions are also connected to the instrumental use of events as a tool to achieve the aims that the current cultural well-being policies have.

#### 3.1 Expressions of cultural well-being

The arts benefit well-being, and the arts are a part of culture; therefore, taking part in culture in general benefits well-being in general. The 'all art is good for you' rhetoric is a characterization of the impacts of the arts (Belfiore & Bennett, 2010, pp. 194–195). However, researchers note that this claim comes from a confusion between correlation and causation (Odendaal et al., 2018). The ongoing, extensive and critical dialogue about cultural well-being is linked to the research evidence of well-being effects, the role of the arts as an instrument and intrinsic value, as well as cultural politics and funding of the arts.

Cultural well-being is described as an individually or communally shared experience that culture and art increase well-being and are connected to it. The main essence is a person's meaningful agency amidst culture and art, which also includes the cultural nature of day-to-day life. (Lilja-Viherlampi & Rosenlöf, 2019, p. 20) The day-to-day experiences that make life meaningful, whether it be reading the paper daily, social get-togethers, or karaoke at the corner pub, have a cultural nature and shape meaning into an individual's life, values, habits, and memories. It is a prerequisite to spiritual, physical, and social well-being. (Lehikoinen & Vanhanen, 2017b; Liikanen 2010, pp. 36–37) Lilja-Viherlampi and Rosenlöf (2019, pp. 20–22) list other aspects of cultural well-being as art hobbies and activities, self-expressions and interaction through arts and culture, and

experiencing arts and culture by attending events and situations where art is available. These could take place in, for instance, galleries, concert halls, or the urban environment. Personal well-being and what is every individual's relationship to culture and art are at the center of the cultural well-being phenomenon. What is meant by the cultural nature of well-being is that the understanding of the term well-being is connected to values and norms both culturally and socially. (Lilja-Viherlampi, 2021, p. 74).

Cultural well-being is a phenomenon where culture and art carry different meanings and effects concerning the well-being benefits of an individual or a community, can also refer to cultural well-being as a professional field (Lilja-Viherlampi, 2021, p. 74). In this case, it concerns the environment of measures, development, education, and research where the knowledge of different art and health and well-being fields is used to build and apply the concepts of cultural well-being and the procedures and knowledge connected to them. (Lilja-Viherlampi & Rosenlöf, 2019, pp. 21–22.) According to Daykin (2021, p. 54), "as well as studying associations between arts and well-being and trying to assess the impact of arts, the mechanisms, and processes through which arts and creativity can affect health and well-being are important to understand." Deep down, the means of experiencing, sharing, and producing well-being are also about politics, because the perception of what well-being is directs how and with what measures well-being promotion is conducted (Aholainen et al., 2021, p. 564).

The services supporting cultural well-being are central to the general operating context. The services consist of activities, concrete measures, and services that offer arts and culture substances that offer meaning and opportunities for individuals' and communities' well-being. These measures include concerts, performances, and art therapies where art is a channel of communication and rehabilitation, and the underpinnings support the possibilities of agency and participation. The 'stages' of cultural well-being services include elderly care homes, hospitals, rehabilitation centers, prisons, and work communities. These are quite new operating environments for art, and they include factors that

substantially affect making art. (Lilja-Viherlampi & Rosenlöf, 2019, pp. 29–30.) Good quality and comprehensively organized cultural services create the foundation for realizing the cultural well-being dimension (Jumppanen & Suutari, 2013, p. 8). From the interests of my research, the expressions of cultural wellbeing also extend to social capital, social sustainability, a sense of community, and urban planning.

In the spring of 2019, when the Act on Cultural Activities in Local Government (166/2019) came into effect, the implementation of the cultural activities and services was made the responsibility of the municipalities of Finland, reinforcing the importance of culture. The law requires local governments to look at the possibilities of cultural well-being and organize accessible arts and culture activities (Ranta-Meyer et al., 2021, p. 4). As well as providing cultural services, the primary functions of municipalities are promoting the habitants' health and well-being, which is included in the Act of Healthcare (1362/2010) and the Local Government Act (410/2015). The larger part of the basic cultural services in Finland are organized in typical cultural environments like libraries, museums, or the symphony orchestra. The municipalities can decide in which ways they want to organize their cultural services, and most of the cultural services the habitants use are organized by the municipality. In addition, the municipalities utilize outsourcing with cultural services and event organization. Therefore, operators from the third sector, as well as professionals, can be involved in the organizing of the local cultural field. (Hyttinen, 2022, p. 7.) Connecting culture to other municipal services and planning will be central to finding shared operating models between the social, health, and cultural sectors. Some municipalities have emphasized the importance of an interdisciplinary cultural policy strategy so that it could be implemented as a part of the municipality's well-being strategy. (Jumppanen & Suutari, 2013, p. 25) The most common definition of cultural wellbeing in municipal publications can be described by the following such as by Pohjois-Karjalan maakuntaliitto (2022, p. 5), echoes descriptions of the likes of Liikanen (2010, pp. 36–37), Lehikoinen and Vanhanen (2017b), Lilja-Viherlampi and Rosenlöf (2019), and Lilja-Viherlampi (2021).

The health and social services reform that will take effect in Finland in 2023 also affects cultural services. The organization of public healthcare, social welfare, and rescue services will be reformed, and responsibility for organizing these services will be transferred from municipalities to new 'wellbeing services counties' from 2023 (Finnish Government, n.d.a). Cultural well-being is highlighted in operations of the wellbeing services counties' procedures 99, 100, and 104. (Finnish Government, 2021, pp. 35-36). According to AFLRA (2021), culture will be considered a well-being service when it includes a societal aim, like preventing social exclusion, on top of cultural and artistic aims. At its best, this reform could create opportunities to spread the knowledge of cultural wellbeing knowledge, so that they would become well-being services countywide. By the Health Care Act (1326/2010), local governments are required to publish an annual welfare report, which is one method of examining the state of well-being and its developments in the municipality (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare [THL], n.d.c). The welfare report is one of the opportunities or means of leverage for the municipalities to compose a separate cultural well-being strategy to promote cultural well-being operations. The municipalities are recommended to make cultural well-being developments visible, enable cross-sectoral collaboration, and advance evaluation from different perspectives, like the realization of cultural rights or the impact of the services. (Hyttinen, 2022, p. 6.)

Promoting well-being in public policy has not originated in the same geographical hub. The wide array of cultural well-being practices is not only because of the many expressions of arts and culture but also because they take effect in different sectors of society, and different countries place emphasis differently. Change in public policy stems from legislation. The largest differences in different countries' policies are in preserving cultural heritage, how colorful and experimental their healthcare practices are, or the implementation of research. What I think is relevant for the context of my research are the emphases that the origins of cultural well-being policies have had internationally, most recent reforms, which hold the most weight in what different national, municipal, organizational, or commercial cultural well-being strategies might become.

In 2012, all 53 countries in Europe adopted 'Health 2020', "a new common European health policy framework with aims to provide a platform for such joint working between the arts and health sectors," and committed themselves to developing integrative policies (World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe, 2019). Finland has participated in culture and well-being projects from 1992 in UNESCO's and the United Nations' culture development project 'Arts in Hospital' from 1988 to 1997 (Liikanen, 2003). One of the applied cultural services is socio-cultural animation which originated in France and has long traditions in Western Europe and Latin America (Liikanen, 2010, p. 33). In Sweden, arts and culture activities in hospitals and hospices have been developing since the 1970s. The services were not solely art-therapy, but cultural activities were seen broadly as therapeutic, and having an active part in the arts was seen as a basic humane need (Liikanen, 2010, p. 55). The Authority of the United Kingdom concluded in 1999 that "the arts clearly have a potential to make a major contribution to our health, well-being, and life skills" (Meyrick, 2000, p. 4). Pascoe et al. (2005, p. 8) concluded similarly in Australia that music has the power to "exalt the human spirit, transform the human experience and bring joy, beauty, and satisfaction to people's lives." Aotearoa New Zealand (Local Government Act 2002, s 3 (a)) specifies that one of the purposes of local government is to "promote the social, economic, environmental, and cultural well-being of communities, in the present and for the future." The European Union promotes policy collaboration on culture among national governments and international organizations and aims to increase participation in cultural life and social cohesion (Council of the European Union, 2018).

In Finland, the general cultural well-being agenda has been nationally advanced in the past few years due to political intention. Groups of experts from the Ministry of Education and the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health have been central in the development processes of cultural well-being. (Ranta-Meyer et al., 2021, p. 4). The foundations for the justification of cultural well-being matters in Finnish policy can be traced back to the impactful projects and publications of von Brandenburg (2008) and Liikanen (2010), which have affected multiple government strategies. Laitinen et al. (2020) retell the history of arts and health policies in Finland in their 2020 article. 'Taiku 2010-2014' (Well-being from the arts and culture) was a globally unprecedented government program aimed to endorse the well-being benefits of arts and culture. The Taiku government program's focus areas were promoting agency, communality, daily practices, and environments through culture; arts and culture as a part of social and healthcare services; and supporting well-being at work through arts and culture. (Finnish Government, 2020.) A central premise of the current three-year task force, Taiku3, directed by the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health task force is to promote establishing arts and culture operation in different sectors, to develop the grounds for research, and to support the evaluation of the quality of art and the account of financial matters. (Houni, 2021, p. 7; Finnish Government, 2020.) Cultural well-being and its meaning for health and well-being are also noted in the Finnish Government's implementation plan for promoting well-being, health, and security in 2030. The plan defines methods to decrease the inequality the Finns experience in health and well-being (Finnish Government, 2021, pp. 10-11).

The equal availability and accessibility of cultural services and agency and participation in cultural activities remain the most noted objectives in Finland throughout the years. Another standout theme in many policies is also connected with improving the position of specific people groups like children, the elderly, or immigrants. Especially in the 2000s, a wider comprehension of culture as an enforcer of the prerequisites for a good life became a part of cultural politics (Lilja-Viherlampi & Rosenlöf, 2019, p. 31). Much of the focus has been on people groups who have not had the opportunity to participate in arts and culture activities due to their economic, health, or other impediments. Art projects have been imparted to those in vulnerable positions, such as hospitals, hospices, and elderly care homes (Houni et al., 2020, pp. 161–182). The government program for arts and art policies from 2002 highlighted the applied use of the arts to promote health and prevent social exclusion (Ministry of Education and Culture, 2002). The health promotion government program in 2007 emphasizes that communities construct the relation of arts and culture to well-being, arts and culture activities can strengthen social capital, and cultural hobbies birth and maintain communality and social networks. (Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, 2007, p. 15; von Brandenburg 2008, pp. 12–23.) Hämäläinen and Rosenlöf (2020) note the importance of culture extending past cultural institutions to the environments where people are. From the perspective of accessibility, the obstacles to participation are various. This can be related to the senses, communications, understandability, preconceived attitudes, physical, gender, social, or financial factors. (Houni, 2021, p. 16) Lilja-Viherlampi (2021, p. 75) states that as a term cultural well-being describes the possibility for well-being and health regardless of circumstances, limitations, or illness. According to Huhtinen-Hildén et al. (2020), no factor concerning an individual like socioeconomic status or health defines the possibilities for cultural well-being.

Accessibility to cultural services is also about human rights. Culture and art being a basic right connected to citizenship, nationality and a part of a decent life that everyone is entitled to, are the foundation of the implementation of the Finnish government's cultural politics. Therefore, the fulfillment of these rights is more important than well-being effects. (Aholainen et al., 2021, p. 566.) The Finnish constitution rules for every individual's right to culture and art, making it a mandate for the municipalities of different regions. Issues like regional budgets and both national and local politics highly affect the actualized outcomes. Finland's constitution secures cultural rights, everyone's right to improve on themselves, freedom of art, and the right to one's language and culture (Ministry of Education and Culture, 2017, p. 15). The right to participate in arts and culture, improve oneself and one's community, and freely express oneself is also protected by the United Nations' Universal Declaration of Human Rights 1948, United Nations, 1948, art. 27).

However, cultural well-being contributes to diversity between people and equality. The accessibility argument and producing cultural services for discriminated groups are central to well-being strategies, but art interventions are often directed toward other audiences. There is still an imbalance in assessing who can acquire cultural experiences to have balanced lives. Accessibility is one of the main issues when critiquing the measures of cultural well-being policies. Artists, art pedagogues, and art organizations lack know-how in art education and

understanding of societally responsible operations that would dismantle the mechanisms of inequality and be inclusive. (Lehikoinen & Vanhanen, 2017b). The social and healthcare services are diverse, and the clientele might have very varied cultural needs. The social and healthcare services differ in the aims, legal foundation, financing, organizational responsibilities, and field of operators. (Ministry of Education and Culture, 2019, p. 56) Accessibility enables participation. Putnam (2000, as cited by Wilks, 2011, p.8) suggests that "the arts can bring together diverse groups" and thus "promote well-being by allowing the production of mutually beneficial norms of reciprocity, generalized trust, and cooperation."

The meaning of social relationships and social capital and their connection to, for instance, good health can be observed through the lens of doing cultural activities as a hobby (Hyyppä, 2011) or to provide a lens through which audiences can be examined (Putnam, 2000). According to Hyppä (2007), doing cultural activities as a hobby does not itself relate to well-being. However, it is the social and communal aspects and sense of belonging behind 'basic culture.' Putnam (2000, p. 116) explains that this sense of 'doing with' contributes greatly to the social capital building. Schechner (2006) and Ellis (2011) individual and social fragmentation can be understood and coped with differently by sharing the arts with the surrounding audience. Picard and Robertson (2006) emphasize that the key element of events is people and their need to do things together. According to Procter (2004 as cited by Jepson & Clarcke, 2014, p. 19) community events "function to draw people into a shared identity, shared visions of community and codes of conduct while bonding citizenry around the social and political structures of a specific locale." Also, the opportunity for a shared public celebration and creating together strengthens social capital. (Arcodian & Whitford, 2006.)

A related expression of cultural well-being comes into existence through communality, a sense of community, and a sense of belonging. Van Winkle et al. (2013) found that the relation between festival attendance contributes to a sense of community. Arcodian and Whitford (2006) have described how social capital is created at and by festivals. It is created when the resources of the communities develop as the event organizers, local actors, and the entire community

collaborate, form new networks, and share experiences. These social networks can last for long after the event. Social cohesion, the development of the community's shared worldview, and sharing are vital to forming social capital. (Arcodian & Whitford, 2006.) The experience of participation merges cultural events and well-being to the point of view that the well-being experience entails more than just attendance. Social capital can be described as having three possible types or forms: bonding, bridging and linking (Putnam, 2000; Ruuskanen, 2001). According to Putnam (2000), cultural events can contribute to being used as a means to affect social barriers because they facilitate bridging and people making new connections there (Putnam, 2000; Wilks, 2011). Bonding includes having a sense of belonging, which can be experienced by relating to the similarities with the audience at a cultural event. This can include interests and values. (Putnam, 2000).

A remark by Ranta-Meyer et al., (2021, p. 12) is that the cultural well-being handbook from Arts Promotion Centre Finland [TAIKE] (2020) misses one notable form of arts and culture activities, which is the art done in urban and public environments. The urban environment can be seen as one of the locations where art can be accessible to everyone, and its origination is often to surprise people in different settings where they would least expect to encounter art. (Ranta-Meyer et al., 2021, p. 12.) Richards and Palmer (2010, p. 21) states that "at the base of certain urban event strategies, there is an underlying belief that events can be a new source of identity and help build social cohesion as they begin to redefine the way in which we look at cities and their communities." Cultural activities and operations have evident effects on an individual's functions, experiences, and the prerequisites of a good life, but also in a larger context by increasing vitality and well-being in cities (Mercer, 2002). The more instrumental meaning that culture has taken in cities is what has been called the 'symbolic economy,' which creates wealth through cultural activities, which according to Zukin (2004, p. 3), includes "art, music, dance, crafts, museums, exhibitions, sports and creative design in various fields." The economy of culture provides past-time activities and hobbies. It colors social life and gives life experiences for personal growth. (Kainulainen, 2005, p. 336.)

Cultural events influence the idea of a city. They form intangible and temporal products which enrich the environments of tourists and local inhabitants. (Cudny, 2016; Silvanto & Hellman, 2005). By adding life to the streets, cultural events give the locals a renewed pride, but simultaneously they have become means that cities use for image benefits. They impact how the city is viewed and how the habitants view the community and thus themselves as a part of that community. This newfound community pride that follows a cultural event can be called the 'halo effect' (Hall, 1992), the 'showcase effect' (Fredline & Faulkner, 1998), and the 'feel-good effect' (Allen et al., 2010). Proshansky et al. (1983) describe the symbolic and emotional relationship that creates 'place identity' as an "individual's symbolic understanding of what the place has meant in an individual's own life." Place as a component of self-identity increases the belief that the individual is a member of the community they associate with (Proshansky et al., 1983; Relph, 1976). Cultural events dominate both the image of places and urban life and "have become central to urban development and revitalization processes, as cultural production becomes a major element of the urban economy" (Richards & Palmer, 2019, p. 3). Events have important impacts on the host localities (Cudny, 2016). Events even dominate the identification of cities in imagery (Burns, Hatch & Mules, 1986), which reflects how art, music, and sports are being commandeered by commercial interests (Waterman, 1998).

Events can generate economic development through income from event tourism and job creation in the event sector (Cudny, 2020, p. 9). Cities have transformed themselves into continual streams of events, called the 'festivalization' of the city (Richards & Palmer, 2010, p. 1). The 'symbolic economy' (Zukin, 1995) and the 'experience economy' (Pine & Gilmore, 1999) have led both culture to becoming an "important means of consuming the city" and a great presence of cultural activity, resulting in some cities to promote themselves as 'eventful cities' (Richards & Palmer, 2010, p. 1). According to the observation of Kainulainen (2005, p. 336), the perspective of culture enhancing the quality of life is present in the research concerning entrepreneurs' and workforce location. The image a city conveys indirectly attracts businesses and the labor force, thus adding to tax profit, employment, and thus the well-being of the area that extends to the lives of the habitants (Kainulainen, 2005, p. 290). Kainulainen (2005, pp. 39-40) concluded that events might increase the attractiveness of the locality as a domicile, and active cultural life – including events – may serve as one of the reasons why locals stay in the region. Nevertheless, both economic and image effects are fundamentally instrumental. This notion, in particular, is very visible in the Finnish cultural well-being strategies and cultural strategies regions and municipalities. Event producers by profession "manage the economic, promotional and operations aspects of community festivals. However, with increased emphasis on programmed festivity also have the opportunity to manage larger social impacts" (Jepson & Clarcke, 2014). Since event managers have become experts at managing the economic, promotional, and operational aspects, or, in other words, the objective product and service aspects of community festivals, their knowledge could be harnessed to lead to a genuine transformational experience and to let significant human social impacts to develop out of their events.

In Finland, the development of an aid system for cultural events has been discussed in the field of art administration since the 1990s (Herranen & Karttunen, 2016, p. 59). The Ministry of Education and Culture admits annual national subsidies to support art and cultural festivals separately. Ministry of Education and Culture (Ministry of Education and Culture, 2016, p. 15) notes that festivals are a communal function that has meaning to well-being and the development of identity and aims to strengthen the position of festivals in cultural policy, social sustainability, internationalization and competence, knowledge base, and collaboration. No components of this proposal for an action program can be seen in the current strategy for cultural policy 2025 (Ministry of Education and Culture, 2017) and none of its aims include cultural event organization. Participation and agency are emphasized because their sought effects benefit society – the citizens' increased well-being and agency, decreased social exclusion, and economic growth. The realization of these effects is studied in research and projects. (Honkasalo & Laukkanen, 2015; Ministry of Education Department for

Cultural, Sport and Youth Policy, 2009, p. 28; Virolainen, 2015, pp. 28-41, 76– 85.)

## 3.2 Creativity, health, and well-being as a multidisciplinary field

In this subchapter, I will present how different research fields are related and have come to form the core of cultural well-being research. The main definitions of different concepts of my research stem from different theories, some prevailing approaches, different methods, and aims. The research foundation of cultural well-being is most centrally constructed on the observations that can be made of the effects of arts and culture (Lilja-Viherlampi, 2021). Even though connections between cultural well-being and the quality of a good life can be found in all cultural research, usually, cultural well-being is explicitly observed from the point of view of the well-being effects of arts and culture (Lilja-Viherlampi & Rosenlöf, 2019, p. 23). Other connected topics related to studying cultural well-being bring to light where cultural well-being is experienced and where it is not and raises the question of who is producing the cultural activity and who should. Aspects of social science like political science, anthropology, economics, education, history, law, sociology, and social work are interconnected. The ethos of art research includes recognizing the diversity of arts and culture. (Aholainen et al., 2021, p. 566)

A consensus of cultural well-being is an integral part of a balanced individual and community is forming. Equally, services based on the methods and models are constantly being developed. Due to the systematic construction of the field, resources develop in multidisciplinary collaboration. Cultural well-being expertise is multiplying, degree programs are created, and the multi-perspective cultural well-being field is an exciting research subject. (Lilja-Viherlampi, 2021, p. 80.) According to Nummelin (2011), the research on cultural well-being effects can be divided into four categories. Most cultural well-being publications and strategies concerning cultural well-being present an evidence base that hosts a mix of these categories and references a little bit of everything. The first category is formed by research about cultural activities' social and communal nature. The second

category consists of research examining the effects of cultural activities on quality of life. The third category is composed of research that concerns the effects of cultural activities or hobbies on physical and experienced health, and the fourth category is comprised of the research that is critical of the well-being effects of culture or presents opinions on such research. (Nummelin, 2011.) There are also multiple perspectives on well-being promotion research, and according to Niemi et al. (2017), they are medical, psychological, social, economic, and philosophical. The concept of creative, artistic, or cultural activity in the hypothesis is what makes a well-being study a cultural well-being study. The breadth of my literature review touches on fields that are put together concerning all of these.

Liikanen (2010, pp. 42–43) calls for more creativity in the social and health fields and more social and health angles in the creative field, because of the multidisciplinary need in Finnish cultural well-being policy (pp. 42–43). There is plenty of expertise, research evidence, and willingness in cultural well-being. The challenge is the collaboration between different sectors (Lilja-Viherlampi, 2021, p. 80). According to Daykin (2019, pp. 6-20), "the cultural well-being field has grown through evidence building, advocacy and sector development, and there is now a wider recognition of the contribution of arts and cultural engagement to a wide range of policy objectives." Specialist journals, such as Arts and Health, The Journal of Applied Arts and Health, and the Nordic Journal of Arts and Health, have given visibility to cultural well-being matters in the scientific field. The scoping review of the World Health Organization (Fancourt & Finn, 2019) gives a broad perspective of different studies and responds to criticism that has been posed against the research on the well-being effects of arts and culture.

In relation to this research, I want to separately mention some adjoining branches of research that are included in my literature and relate to my research context. Empirical cultural event research has been conducted more broadly since the 1990s. The challenge of the research has been the large variety of the field, which has complicated the definition of festivals in an established field. (Herranen & Karttunen, 2016, p. 20.) The importance of events, due to their multidimensional impact, is so high that a separate field of studies was established to investigate. Like well-being, events are studied in several sciences, including anthropology, sociology, psychology, and religious studies, but also economics, management, geography, and history (Getz & Page, 2020). Sociology and anthropology have conducted event research for a long while, but according to Getz, this discourse has not encountered the paradigm of festivals. Some common themes are myths, rituals, and productization (Getz, 2011). Festival research is the interest of multiple fields of scientific research due to its multidisciplinary nature. All planned events have multidimensional economic and social impacts on host communities which can be positive or negative, which are often the focus of the research. In addition to academic research, different reports and reviews regarding events are also done in various research institutions. Events and festivals are also popular topics for theses. (Cudny, 2020, pp. 8-9; Herranen & Karttunen, 2016; Kainulainen, 2005, p. 24.) The significance and effects of festivals in the event environments raise interest in the different sectors of society and politics. Finnish cultural politics research has considered art and cultural festivals from the perspective of, for instance, the achieved goals of the government's cultural politics aims, the government's subsidies (Herranen & Karttunen, 2016), nationally consequential and multifaceted arts and culture field operators (Silvanto, 2016) and as a phenomenon which's effects and influence on society should be examined with a broad scope (Luonila et al., 2019). The research on social and cultural impacts is lesser than the research on economic impacts and productional angles. They are not as significant, and event organizers and funders are less interested in them. (Herranen & Karttunen, 2016.)

Donald Getz (1997, 2020, pp. 15–20) distinguishes three evident discourses that can be used to fashion the general makeup of event and festival research: festival travel and economic impacts, event production and management, and the role and meanings of festivals in society. As the interests in festival research have broadened, research topics have included the role of festivals in forming identity, the creation of social capital, and the well-being effects of specific factors (Robertson et al., 2009; Packer & Ballantyne, 2010; Wilks, 2011). As a result of

this development, the need for more data on events has increased both in administration and in the event field itself.

Culture can be understood comprehensively; for instance, medicine and its practices could be perceived as an element of culture (Aholainen et al., 2021, p. 565). The health humanities projects have paid particular attention to different narratives, discourse, the different possibilities through art, the constructed environment, philosophy, spirituality, religion, and history. (Crawford et al., 2020.) Experiences like "well-being, contentment, satisfaction, hope, optimism, flow, and happiness" are factors that positive psychology seeks to understand. These factors are recognized as improving the quality of life but play a role in coping with challenging circumstances. (Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000). According to some, the possibility to experience the most happiness is not attaining the happiest moments daily but experiencing uninterrupted periods of general wellbeing (Diener & Seligman, 2002; Diener, 2000; Fredrickson, 2003). Goal theorists propose that moving towards accomplishing a goal creates subjective well-being (Diener, Lucas, & Oishi, 2003). According to Csikszentmihalyi's suggestion (1999), engagement in meaningful activities creates the most happiness in individuals. Some remarks differ, I find many complimentary, but this is something multidisciplinary that highlights the nature of cultural well-being.

Following Allardt's (1976, pp. 9–10, 18), example, the effects of culture or art can be viewed specifically through subjective well-being. Depending on the objective, the dimensions of cultural well-being can be derived from the concept of wellbeing or the elements of creativity and arts. For the whole term 'cultural wellbeing,' the most commonly used categories for the dimensions are categorized by theories of subjective well-being. According to Diener (et al., 2002), subjective well-being is a person's cognitive and affective evaluation of their life. These evaluations include emotional reactions, cognitive judgments of satisfaction, and experience of fulfillment (Diener et al., 2003; Kim-Prieto et al., 2005). Other overlapping perspectives add to the dimensions of well-being in the theories of the different research fields. Social capital is related to subjective well-being through cohesion (Putnam, 2000).

# 3.3 Theoretical premises of well-being experiences at cultural events

To find similarities between the components of my research task and question in a theoretically-oriented study, I must define the concepts I will use to describe the elements behind experiences and the context of cultural events. I present the evidence of the connection between experiencing arts and culture at an event and its effects on increased well-being through literature review and semi-structured interviews. I am to answer the following research question *how does attending cultural events increase one's well-being from the standpoint of measuring subjective well-being experiences in arts and culture activities?* 

There are many names for cultural well-being in legal, institutional, and bureaucratic language. Some include terms like creativity and arts, art activities, cultural hobbies and past-times, heritage and traditions, and practices of people groups. For the entire term 'cultural well-being,' the most commonly used categories for the dimensions are categorized by the theories of subjective wellbeing.

UNESCO's Universal Declaration on Cultural Diversity states that "Culture should be regarded as the set of distinctive spiritual, material, intellectual and emotional features of society or a social group, and that it encompasses, in addition to art and literature, lifestyles, ways of living together, value systems, traditions and beliefs" (UNESCO, 2001).

For an example of my research context, I want to present a 2016 cultural strategy report for the state of Ontario that Communications MDR created where they described the context of culture like this:

Culture is the lifeblood of a vibrant society, expressed in the many ways we tell our stories, celebrate, remember the past, entertain ourselves, and imagine the future. Our creative expression helps

define who we are and helps us see the world through the eyes of others. In addition to its intrinsic value, culture provides important social and economic benefits. With improved learning and health, increased tolerance, and opportunities to come together with others, culture enhances our quality of life and increases overall well-being for both individuals and communities. Participating in culture can benefit individuals in many different ways, some of which are deeply personal. They are a source of delight and wonder, and can provide emotionally and intellectually moving experiences, whether pleasurable unsettling, that encourage celebration or or contemplation. Culture is also a means of expressing creativity, forging an individual identity, and enhancing or preserving a community's sense of place. Cultural experiences are opportunities for leisure, entertainment, learning, and sharing experiences with others. From museums to theatres to dance studios to public libraries, culture brings people together. These benefits are intrinsic to culture. They are what attracts us and why we participate. Participation in culture contributes to healthy populations in several ways. Creativity and cultural engagement have been shown to improve both mental and physical health. Culture is being integrated into health care, notably in the UK, but also increasingly in other jurisdictions, including Canada. The link between past efforts to eradicate Indigenous cultures and health issues in today's Indigenous communities is increasingly recognized. Research has shown that revitalization of Indigenous cultures plays a key role in supporting the health, well-being, and healing of individuals and communities. The vast majority of Ontarians believe that the arts help to enrich the quality of their lives, and that arts activities are valuable to their communities.

This description is almost word for word, what is used in cultural well-being strategies and reports to define cultural well-being and cultural well-being benefits. However, it is also a description of culture. Zukin's view (1995) of culture

covering all city amenities reflects what is considered culture now. It is not only the cultural institutions such as museums, theatres, and concert halls, but it has come to consist of more elements of 'popular' or 'mainstream' culture, such as pop music, fashion, 'ethnoscapes' (Appadurai, 1990), and sports. In the discussion about cultural well-being, culture is usually defined by its narrower meaning, the arts and making art. Culture can also include "a range of activities beyond what is categorized within the arts, to include sporting activities" (Karpusheff, 2019, p. 15). For example, UNESCO Institute for Statistics (UNESCO-UIS, 2009.) includes all cultural activity under one 'domain,' including informal and social activities. Cultural activities are cultural expressions, regardless of the commercial value they may have. These activities may be something that one does because one wants to and not because it will help achieve or accomplish something else in themselves or contribute to cultural goods and services (UNESCO-UIS, 2005). This description supports and recognizes all cultural activities to be included and clearly distinguishes the preconceptions of culture only being 'highbrow' (Yaish & Katz-Gerro, 2012).

How can the terms 'arts' and 'culture' be understood when they are tied together? They have been evolving and changing over the centuries. Belfiore and Bennett (2008) ask if it is possible to juxtapose these modernized concepts with older and possibly incompatible worldviews. Culture and art both express human values and meanings but according to Matarasso (2019, p. 19), "art's difference lies in its self-consciousness" and that "people express their culture in everything they do," mostly being unaware of it. Much of how art is defined could equally be said of culture, so why are there confusingly overlapping terms that are often used interchangeably? (Matarasso, 2019, p. 19)

Belfiore and Bennett (2008) observed the culturally viewed impacts of the arts and how they have risen to their importance. This role is often expressed in the notion that it can transform lives. They found that the arts attract the support of governments, have legitimized their place in the educational system, and that they keep the attention of the media. (Belfiore & Bennett, 2008). Among the first, art resulting in an experience that increases well-being was made by Immanuel Kant (1893). Dewey (1934) defines fulfillment as a 'completed experience' and recognizes art for bringing about completed experiences to happen.

What, then, is the definition of an 'event'? The term' cultural event' is possibly even more complicated to define because there is also no commonly agreed definition of 'culture' (Richards, 2001; Richards & Palmer, 2010, p. 39). Biaett (2017) describes hunter-gatherers as "mythological beings who participated in festive experiences of transcendence and feelings of ecstasy and that in early humanity festivities were tradition and were a part of everyday life." The positive experience, a shared meaning, and shared experience can result in 'communitas,' the shared belonging that is something else than the everyday. (Getz, 1997.) Sadie (1980) questions if there can even be events that are not cultural events. As for the societal context of an event, the history of cultural events spans the history of our society. The symbolic meanings have encompassed the prerequisites for forming the ways of life, local community values, ideologies, worldviews, local identities, social appreciation, and historical continuation. Festivals were the arenas of participation and celebration, as well as the expressions of collective outbursts. All of these descriptors can still be observed in the cultural events of the twenty-first century. (Duvignaud, 1976; Kainulainen, 2005; Mossberg, 2000, p. 5; Waterman 1998, p. 57.) ). Planned events are "inherent in all societies and integral to civilization itself." They are essential in terms of "public policy, industry, and corporate strategy" and are "fundamental to the experience economy" (Getz & Page, 2020, p. 14). These are the premises for the operationalization of a cultural event.

Ţară-Lungă (2012) stated that the word event is of Latin origin and refers to, among other things, happening or manifestation. According to the Oxford Wordpower Dictionary (2002, p. 264), an event is: "1. Something that happens, especially something important or unusual: a historic event; 2. a planned public or social occasion: a fundraising event 3. one of the races, competitions, etc., in a sports program: the next event is the 800-meter race". Scientific definitions of events may be found in works by Ritchie (1984), Hall (1989), Goldblatt (1990), and Getz (2008). Events can be unplanned (e.g., spontaneous gatherings of people, like riots, unscheduled manifestations) or planned (Getz & Page, 2020).

According to Getz and Page (2020, p. 44), planned events ", by definition, have a beginning and an end." They are a temporal phenomenon, one-time or a sequence of events, and often confined to particular places, even though an event venue can be a wide open outside space at a series of locations. (Getz, 2020; Richards & Palmer, 2010, p. 39). The event studies field has concentrated on 'special events', which are more easily understood as "unique occurrences, separate from everyday experience, and on specific categories of cultural events, such as arts festivals, sports competitions or traditional celebrations, which are recognized" (Getz, 2008). According to Biaett (2013), "the classic rhetoric of festivals and events emanating from dictionaries as well as festival and event management texts define the term event simply as an occurrence; the term special event expands this meaning to include temporary and infrequent unique experiences; the definition of the term festival further adds ideas of community and celebration." When the distinction is made that special events or festivals rarely occur, a distinction can be made that a festival is always an event, but all events are not festivals (Mossberg, 2000). In recent research on the importance of understanding event experience, Lesić et al. (2017) divided events as follows: "art events, cultural events, sports, and recreational events, tourist events, business events, religious events, environmental events, and educational and scientific events." Getz (1997) notes that there might not be events that do not have a cultural component to them. In the context of Finnish policy, arts and culture festivals are viewed as repeating time and venue-bound planned events that consist of the arts and culture content produced by the festival organization. Festivals are created by public organizations, enterprises, and the third sector. They are also organized in production networks consisting of voluntary audience members. (Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland, 2016, p. 20)

According to Richards & Palmer (2010, pp. 41–42), a definition for a cultural event can prove complicated, but it is possible to identify critical elements. Cultural events comprise "a series of activities, have limited duration, are generally recurrent and are usually celebratory." They also clarify that cultural events generally have an artistic compound, even though they can contain other content and have roots in the community. These descriptions include the community aspect in the term 'culture' itself. Richards and Palmer's (2010, pp. 41–42) definition of cultural event culture also includes the products of a specific society and its cultural processes. This means pieces of art, music, literature, film, food, fashion, and the larger context of lifestyle and tradition. The cultural events emphasized in this view range from 'high' and formal culture events and 'popular' culture events. (Richards & Palmer, 2010, pp. 41-42.) To my interest, the longitudinal study by Konlaan et al. (2000) defined cultural events observed by their study as "visiting a cinema, theatre, concert, museum, art exhibition, church service, or a sports event as a spectator, and reading books or periodicals." The study aimed to "distinguish between different kinds of cultural activities in a broad sense and their influences on longevity." (Konlaan et al., 2000.)

Even though the terms cultural event and cultural festival have their histories and partially differing definitions, in research such as Herranen and Karttunen (2016), Kainulainen (2005 pp. 64–65) or Pasanen and Hakola (2009, p. 14) are used side by side, almost as synonyms. The term festival is sometimes related to a cultural event and is sometimes understood as a specific type of cultural event. (Kainulainen, 2015). Falassi (1987) also looks at festivals as a form of celebration with special observances but also offers a further definition specifically for the social sciences: "a periodically recurrent, social occasion in which, through a multiplicity of forms and a series of coordinated events, participate directly or indirectly and to various degrees, all members of a whole community, united by ethnic, linguistic, religious, historical bonds, and sharing a world view ." (Falassi, 1987.) Burgess (1992) sees attendance at events can also be seen as a group celebration where the interaction of the performance and the audience and the space is produced and consumed. Festivals mean different things to different people; the organizers, the audience, the performers, and the society, and what is seen s a festival by some might not by another (Aldskogius, 1993). According to Kupiainen and Sevänen (1994, p. 7), all definitions have in common: collectiveness and communality. Along this line of thought. Van Belle (2009) coined the verb 'festivalizing' and argues that festivals should be looked at as "a collection of assorted goings-on, imagining them also as action-oriented systems with transformative powers." Yeoman et al. (2007) describe a festival as a collective experience.

Biaett (2017) describes how "experiences make the mundane feel special" as those moments of different ranging emotions that one experiences and celebrates with spontaneous reactions and interactions concerning the surrounding environment. The meaningful relations between one's realization, functions, and objectives, which also entail perceptions, belief systems, and impressions, are what create experiences (Perttula, 2009, pp. 119, 123-124). The benefits of creative experiences enhancing agency and well-being in social and health care reveal what kinds of meanings and significance these experiences convey. The key aspects are "understanding life and creating coherence, fostering feelings of significance and purpose, constructing meaningfulness and creativity in everyday life and as a spiritual dimension" (Huhtinen-Hildén & Isola, 2019). According to Lehikoinen and Vanhanen (2017b, p. 13–15), experiences and their meanings are tied to both social and communal reality and culture. 'Intrinsic impact' means the effects that are received from attendance to performance. These benefits are: "captivation, emotional resonance, intellectual stimulation, aesthetic enrichment, and social bridging and bonding." (Brown & Ratzkin, 2012.)

Going to a movie theater enhances the experience and the impact more than what it would be by watching at home. Shared experiences draw people to a cultural event by providing a sense of community. They are excellent means of facilitating experiences lost in modern society because of their implied 'copresence.' (Pine & Gilmore, 1998; Richards & Palmer, 2010, p. 21.) According to Richards and Palmer (2010, p. 21), the production of a cultural event requires "a space in which people can come together in order to experience co-presence." Historically cities' infrastructures have facilitated eventful activities and "as different demographics claim to use for instance parks and town squares at different times for football matches, picnics, skateboarding or music jamming and drumming." Municipalities manage these public spaces. (Richards & Palmer, 2010, p. 23.) Richards and Palmer (2010, p. 19) claim that the well-being benefits

of events are widespread and visible in urban planning strategies with commercial goals because events are more flexible than certain types of fixed physical infrastructure. Events have a "greater ability to offer 'spectacle' and 'atmosphere,' events generally meet the need for co-presence and the feeling of 'being there,'" and "events can cost less and achieve greater impact in the short-term." (Richards & Palmer, 2010, p. 19.) Lesić et al. (2017) ask whether event organizers know what the participants experience, what variables affect the events' experiences, and whether the organizers can influence the participants' end experience. Lee, Lee, and Wicks (2004) and Bowdin et al. (2006) indicate that the experiences vary according to the type of event. As Subirós (cited in Richards & Palmer, 2010, p. 25) argues, "space is more than a place where experiences occur: it also shapes and gives sense to that experience. By facilitating the act of coming together, sense of community, and identity, more value is added to the experience".

The broad spectrum of research about arts and culture creating experiences of increased well-being has also provided evidence about events. An event or an art performance is an experience to remember to the individuals, and they psychologically construct benefits attained through attendance (Konijn, 1999; Pine & Gilmore, 1998) Kahle and Riley (2004) and Hall, O'Mahony and Vieceli (2009) note that the social setting affects the experience of a sporting event. There was no more empirical evidence that the type of event made a difference in the experience. Pitts (2005, p. 268) calls concerts at festivals "the ideal listening experience for many" because the event space creates a sense of both familiarity and novelty. The atmosphere is an interaction created by the venue characteristics and the social context of the experience. In my opinion, this description applies to any event or cultural activity. The experience of participation becomes the merging point of view and entails more than just attendance. Along with it comes a sense of belonging in a people group.

Getz (1997, p. 207) noted that "people entering this zone of planned event experience come with needs and expectations, willingly enter the event set out to experience something different and rewarding, and engage with the event program and other people in terms of behavior, emotions and cognitive processes." With the widespread proliferation of community festivals today, can the simple act of attendance still be considered a liminoidal experience for those who participate? "In a fast-paced world of unlimited entertainment options and mega-events, extreme shopping alternatives, and an insatiable demand for hedonist experiences, can the behavior of attendees at events engaged in activities of watching performances, shopping for arts and crafts, and what seems like incessant waiting in line for food, drinks, amusements, and restrooms, be regarded as out of the ordinary and impactful?" (Biaett, 2013.) Bennet et al. (2014) describe events as "liminal spaces that are removed from the more mundane process of everyday life." Liminal characteristics offer opportunities for encountering new social environments and communities born around cultural expressions. (Bennet et al., 2014.) It has also been observed that people are drawn to more "experiential consumption" than materia, which also affects why some cultural activities like cultural events have a deeper connection to social relations and self-identity (Gilovich et al., 2015).

"Although the effects of cultural participation are generally positive, it is essential to acknowledge that cultural experiences may prompt all sorts of emotional reactions. The effect of cultural participation in terms of appreciation of daily routines and facilitation of calm and peacefulness is far from unambiguous" (Węziak-Białowolska et al., 2019). The possible ill-being effects can result from many factors like past experiences influence how we experience the culture, and therefore reactions and feelings to it are individual and vary (Houni et al., 2020, p. 138; Rosenlöf & Laukkanen, 2017, p. 9). Utilizing art in promoting well-being also requires awareness of the side of art that can cause pain or nausea (von Brandenburg, 2012, p. 251). Simpanen (2007, pp. 12, 15) extends this to art and how all art does not speak to everyone, and culture and art pieces can remain indifferent, even though it is a great shame because art can deter from, for instance, negative thoughts.

The negative impacts that events may have on a community should also be considered when discussing cultural events' well-being effects. They can include traffic problems, environmental harm, noise, crowdedness, crime, and disturbance of private lives, and make some people experience exclusion rather than community (Duffy & Mair, 2014; Dwyer et al., 2000). What is fascinating to someone as 'redefining public and private spaces' (Heinonen, 2012, p. 211) can appear as commotion, littering, and urination to others (e.g., Terho, 2004, pp. 84-85). Getz and Page (2020, pp. 50–96) distinguished the following as the impacts of events: personal: positive (satisfaction, happiness, meeting expectations) or negative (waste of time, lack of value, harmfulness); social, cultural and political: positive (job creation, development of skills and networks, entertainment) or negative (costs, congestion, conflicts, pollution, diseases); economical: positive (revenues from event tourism, entrepreneurship development, local development thanks to investments and revenues) or negative (organization costs, inflation, lack of revenues); media: this impact encompasses presentation of events and host locations in traditional and electronic media. The media coverage may be positive (highlighting the positive impacts of an event) but may also be negative. The latter may be due to conflicts between inhabitants and tourists, high costs of event organization, or negative environmental impacts presented in the media. (Richards & Palmer, 2010, p. 8)

Empirical studies on the relationship between cultural participation to personal well-being represent a relatively new and promising line of research. However, the findings are still mixed partly due to different approaches to measuring subjective well-being (Jokić & Purić, 2020, p. 337). Węziak-Białowolska et al. (2019) and Buck & McFall (2012) emphasize interdisciplinary research on issues with complex definitions depending on the approach, such as well-being, social capital, and cultural participation. In the guidelines to measure cultural participation, UNESCO's concept of cultural participation is also complex, usually incorporating cultural production activities, engaging in art or a creative hobby, and cultural consumption at public establishments like museums and private at home (Morrone, 2006). In research, cultural participation often includes socializing as a contributor to experienced happiness (Fujiwara & MacKerron, 2015). Agency is connected to the personal identity, and its continuity is constructed by the lived and shared experiences and the sense of self. (Eteläpelto et al., 2014, p. 22). Participation and its promotion are known to increase well-being and health, and they can also be utilized to affect inequality and social exclusion (THL, 2019b, n.d.b). According to the Finnish Institute of Health and Welfare (THL, n.d.b), participation can be considered a factor that increases well-being and is a prerequisite for equality. The possibility to influence matters that concern yourself personally and the activity took part in is integral to experiencing agency (THL, n.d.b).

Matarasso (1997) cited studies to draw the connections of participation, such as people's confidence, enhanced skills, and personal growth. Participation promoted friendships and contacts, contributing to social cohesion. Virolainen (2015, pp. 38–40, 85, 88, 102–106) critiques the concept of participation in cultural politics. It can be said that even though participation is emphasized in politics, in practice, it is still rarely publicly funded. Even though much information and knowledge about participation have been accumulated, it is scattered, mainly quantitative, and produced from the point of view of the aims of cultural policy administration. The research from the perspective of the participants and nonparticipants is scarce. According to Virolainen (2015, p. 97), states that the experience of participation can be seen as a requirement for participating. What participation of the citizenry from the point of view of politics is; the right to participate in culture in a way that you can only 'receive' participation by participating. (Virolainen, 2015, p. 97.) According to Weziak-Białowolska et al. (2019), engagement with creative and cultural activities and attending artistic events are believed to benefit well-being and "active arts and culture participation are strongly associated with health behavior and mental well-being but also conveys health promotion messages and reduces social exclusion" (Bungay & Clift, 2010; Renton et al., 2012; Stuckey & Nobel, 2010; Zubala et al., 2013).

Cultural well-being can manifest as a part of the function of daily life - as an experiencer or through produced culture – as a participant, as well as through cultural hobbies – as an actor (Virjonen & Rouhelo, 2018, p. 4). Experience is the factor I want to observe because it creates the response to the arts and culture activity. It can be positive or negative. Participation, the structure of the audience, the arts and culture substances, locations, and artform all contribute to the experience and thus the response, the increased well-being. Events need to be

organized with intention, and the existing event within arts and cultural activities should be invested in from a well-being point of view. Demographic differences break down as participants of all ages, races, economic and social classes, gender, and lifestyle can be reached, bonding and bridging with others (Biaett, 2013).

## 3.4 Measuring subjective experiences of well-being

According to Daykin (2021, p. 53), "the assumption that a robust evidence base is the key to convincing power holders to invest in arts for health and well-being has provided the impetus for a growing number of studies." In the policies and academic research of cultural well-being, qualitative research explores the impacts of the arts by increasingly using mixed methods and subjective wellbeing data. Most cultural well-being studies have clinical and non-clinical outcomes, and some include an economic evaluation. (Daykin, 2021, p. 53; Fujiwara & MacKerron, 2015, p. 12). Many art interventions observe the effects of the arts on, for instance, an emotional or social level that are hard to measure with clinical procedures (Laitinen, 2017a, 2017b). Evaluation of subjective wellbeing is possibly the only way to measure the effects of cultural well-being. However, the other side of the coin is the tradition in medical measurement. Studies about the clinical and medical effects of arts and culture hold an important place in the origins of well-being measurement and the counterpart to measuring subjective well-being. Especially the thinking based on medical research critically affects the evaluation of cultural operation (Hyttinen, 2022, p. 34).

The concept of health is usually approached concordance with medical results, which especially point to the positive effects of arts on health (Houni, 2021, p. 29). One wide branch of cultural well-being research is the studies that can gather medical data. Music therapy research can, for instance, measure hormone levers or heart rate (Grape et al., 2003). This design style crosses over to psychological research about, for example, rehabilitation or the quality of life of the elderly. These studies formed the basis for the cultural well-being evidence base but only

created secondary data on aspects like participation and community. The most well-known and researched form of cultural well-being is still the mechanism through which music has healing capabilities and effects on mental well-being. Music medicine, brain research, and neuro and cognitive science have produced information about music's well-being and health benefits. Its effects are much more well-known than other forms of art or cultural activities. (Ranta-Meyer et al., 2021, p. 7) Another reason is why many of the indicators in the findings of many cultural well-being projects are clinical. This is also why a lot of the indicators in the findings of many cultural well-being projects are clinical, observation might even be in danger of becoming so narrow that the possible positive effects of art are left outside of the observation for being art. (Laitinen, 2017b, p. 42.) There are voices in the field concerned about the wider perspective of cultural well-being being forgotten amid medical research (Ikäläinen, 2014, p. 22) and that the full definition of well-being could get lost.

The examination of the well-being effects of culture and art has been made more systematic and broader in the past two decades, and data has been produced internationally (Laitinen, 2017b; Lehikoinen & Vanhanen, 2017b). According to Simpura and Uusitalo (2011), well-being is generally studied with objective measurement in Nordic countries. The discussion about cultural well-being and the well-being effects of culture regards specifically its instrumental value as a producer of well-being. Because of this, the focus has mainly been on how arts and culture can be measured in, for instance, the social and healthcare fields and what kind of evidence-based research of their benefits can be acquired. (Aholainen et al., 2021.) When observing the socio-cultural impacts of events, the focus has mainly been on the wide definition of culture. When discussing cultural impact, the narrower definition is rarely considered, especially in art. The cultural policy reviews show festivals as an instrument to increase and diversify art and cultural services. (Herranen & Karttunen, 2016, p. 53.) In addition, the multidimensional nature of well-being poses challenges concerning its measurement (Houni et al., 2020, p. 185; THL, n.d.a), which is why like with the concept of culture, the shared knowledge of the utilized terminology and interests of knowledge about are important. Different ways of defining culture also affect the perspective of measuring effects and their quality or breadth. A consistent definition and policy would ensure that precise evaluation stays within the framework of the represented approach (Jansson 2014, pp. 6, 11). This also applies to related terms like participation and agency. In general, when evaluating the well-being effects of culture, for the sake of the research, it is necessary to narrow what effects are studied (Liikanen, 2010, p. 64).

Wigram and Gold (2012, pp. 164–182) have expressed concern about the increasing requirements and demands based on harsh scientific research-based evidence. They state that even though the benefit of randomized research design is to have control over the possible bias or skewing that might arise from the sampling of the participants. This research does not recognize the individual's experience or consider the effects that might strengthen the individual's personal experience of well-being. (Wigram & Gold, 2012, pp. 164-182) Subjective wellbeing is an important measure of social progress in the United Nations and organizations like the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD]. (Fujiwara & MacKerron, 2015, p. 13) Measuring subjective well-being is not simple. As Kallio-Peltoniemi (2013) has stated, the discussion about the measurement has increased in the past years because more descriptive information to support societal decision-making has been required to add to the Gross National Income [GNP], which describes the economic advancements of a country. Even though methods of measurement have been developed by the OECD and Eurostat, it should be noticed that subjective well-being measurement is sensitive to the contexts of data acquisition, different verbal frameworks, differently formed questions and replies and other circumstances. (Kallio-Peltoniemi, 2013.) According to Fujiwara and MacKerron, (2015, p.13), "affective well-being is typically measured on a more frequent basis than evaluative measures, but evaluative subjective well-being measures are more prevalent in academic and policy research because of data collection issues with affective well-being." Evaluative subjective well-being data is more available from, for instance, large long-term national surveys. Measuring affective subjective wellbeing requires primary data on how a person feels and measures both positive and negative feelings. It is often measured in terms of hedonic and eudaimonic well-being, and negative feelings could ask about factors deterring them, like anxiety, depression, or stress. (Fujiwara MacKerron, 2015, p.13) Stiglitz, Sen, and Fitoussi (2009, pp. 145–146) have raised the philosophical tradition behind the concept of subjective well-being, by which the individuals are the best at depicting their personal well-being. Jowell (2004) acknowledged that policymaking built upon a narrow range of easily measurable evidence-based indicators of the effects of the arts had significant limitations.

Measuring and compiling statistics about people's emotions and feelings would have been considered inappropriate, but nowadays, many research methods have turned subjective well-being into systematically measurable and statistically compileable. Collecting different experiences becomes instinctive and reflects the subject's personal preferences when their personal evaluation is trusted. This premise makes it possible to observe the diversity of opinions when considering what different people value as important to their lives. (Ranta-Meyer et al., 2021, p. 6.) According to Lehikoinen and Vanhanen (2017b, p. 13), generally speaking, the effects of cultural well-being are relative because they are based on the experiences and views of individuals. It has also been stated that subjective evaluation can only observe some well-being effects (Laitinen, 2017b, p. 42). Timonen et al. (2022) from the Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare recently came out with their own notion about measuring the impact of cultural well-being, in which subjective well-being theory is utilized. The factors of hedonic, eudaimonic, and social well-being are proposed to together create flourishing well-being and mental health according to the definition of both Keyes (2005, 2007) and the constitution of the World Health Organization (1946). Subjective well-being is one of the factors recommended for measurement when conducting projects on cultural well-being by The Finnish Institute of Health and Welfare (Simpura & Uusitalo, 2011, p. 114; THL, n.d.a). According to Daykin (2021, p. 53), this type of qualitative research "cannot identify outcomes or prove value, it can explore participants' nuanced experiences of arts processes, providing useful insights for policy and practice."

The emphasis on personal experiences has been acceptable because, in many cultures, being happy and satisfied in one's life is the main goal. The field of

subjective well-being focuses on people's evaluations of their lives. (Diener, 2000.) Because subjective well-being research relies on a cognitive assessment of one's life, it can be biased because people can struggle to remember and make their evaluations retrospectively (Diener, 1984; Kahneman & Krueger, 2006). The question wording and order can also bias evaluative measures, the interviewer's characteristics, and the interview environment. (Fujiwara & MacKerron, 2015.) People may also respond by changing their evaluation to appear more socially desirable. (Zappala, 2007). Researchers have recently begun to question the distinction between the dimensions of well-being and examine the potential for integrating the theories and components of hedonic, eudaimonic, and well-being into a hierarchical model of well-being. The findings have been inconclusive. (Kashdan, Biswas-Diener, & King, 2008; Keyes, 2005, 2007; Keyes et al., 2002.)

Subjective and psychological well-being are related and stem from the distinction experienced happiness and finding meaningful. between something Psychological well-being examines the extent to which a person thrives in life's circumstances. The person can experience purpose in life and personal growth but simultaneously lower life satisfaction and feeling of happiness. (Keyes et al., 2002). To me, this positioning of the terminology explains how many well-being questionnaires and surveys usually work their inquiries and claims. These descriptions also echo the definitions of well-being, when the term is explained as the absence of negative factors and experiences. For this reason, Keyes et al. (2002) propose that quantitative and qualitative methods should be used to gain both depth and breadth in research.

The measurement of cultural well-being is always based on evaluation in one way or another (Houni et al., 2020, p. 189). Different fields conduct measurements from different starting points and with different research methods. Therefore, operators in the cultural field can feel like it is challenging to produce results understood in the social and health fields and the other way around. It has been commonly accepted that arts and culture activities have a strong connection to health. More broadly, well-being is often not unequivocally causal because multiple factors impact the experience of well-being. (Houni, 2021, p. 29.) According to Houni et al. (2020, p. 39), the studies conducted about cultural wellbeing can roughly be divided into three categories: data collected by interviews and surveys concerning experiences of participation, statistical analysis on experience or participation data, and healthcare studies of the clinical effects of the arts. Diener (2000) proposed the components of subjective well-being for a national index to include: "life satisfaction (global judgments of one's life), satisfaction with important domains (e.g., work satisfaction), positive affect (experiencing many pleasant emotions and moods), and low levels of negative affect (experiencing few unpleasant emotions and moods)."

In the United Kingdom, the Office for National Statistics has evaluated personal well-being from 2011 by four dimensions, life satisfaction, meaningfulness, happiness, and anxiety. When the meaning of leisure from individual and communal well-being was recognized in 2013, a fifth dimension of culture and sports hobbies was added. (Daykin et al., 2017, p. 282.) The statistical operations of the EU, Eurostat, measure cultural participation, including practicing culture and attending cultural events. The culture in cities, such as the citizenry's satisfaction with cultural facilities and services. The cultural activities covered include "going to the cinema, attending live performances, visiting cultural sites and practicing artistic activities (for example, playing a musical instrument, singing, dancing or painting)." (Eurostat, n.d.)

By the Health Care Act (1326/2010, § 12), local governments are required to publish an annual welfare report, which is one method to collect data concerning the habitants, and the municipality implements a well-being policy (Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, 2022a). The document is prepared in collaboration with experts from the different administrative fields, and it is used especially in governance, political decision making, and as a base for strategies, designing operations, and implementation (Finnish Government, n.d.b). The welfare report includes (Houni et al., 2020, p. 25). In Finland, the primary method to observe cultural well-being in different regions and merge cultural well-being with the strategies of health promotion and welfare reports is TEAviisari. TEAviisari is a benchmarking system of health promotion capacity for municipalities. Its goal is to assess the health benefit-enhancing effects of culture

through the services provided by the municipality. (THL, n.d.a.) The data collection is biannual and national, and the survey concerning cultural well-being was added in 2018 (Houni, 2021, p. 32). The data collection is done in collaboration with the Finnish Ministry of Education and Culture's department of art and culture policy, AFLRA, the Finnish National Agency of Educations, Statistics Finland, the Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, the Center for Cultural Policy Research, the Southern Finland Regional State Administrative Agency and TAIKE. (THL, 2019.) The strength of the data collection is longevity; in the future, the state of cultural well-being can also be observed (Houni, 2021, p. 32).

In 2019, The Finnish Institution of Health and Well-being updated TEAviisari, on the part of the culture as a part of municipal operations. The data collection included the following: culture in the municipal strategy, regarding differing demographics in the municipal cultural operating, means to participate and influence the municipal inhabitants, considering culture in the broad welfare, a cultural operations strategy that promotes the well-being of the municipality, evaluating the accessibility factors the different areas of culture services, the collaboration between cultural stakeholders and the municipality, the use of cultural spaces and venues, culture education for children and youth, and measures to improve basic education. (THL, 2015.) TEAviisari also observes the status of political strategies, the likes of which I have previously mentioned as examples of Finnish cultural strategies, in municipal governance and administration.

The evaluation of the accessibility of basic services is the statutory requirement of the Regional State Administrative Agencies. Their evaluation is done biannually, and it oversees, monitors, and assesses the equal fulfillment of the accessibility of basic services in Finland. The analyzed material for the evaluation project of cultural services came from a survey directed at the personnel in charge of municipal cultural services in Finland. 75% of Mainland Finland. (Regional State Administrative Agencies, n.d.) Also, AFLRA commissions report producing information to develop measurement tools and models to record and monitor the impact of arts and culture festivals. In these reports, the impacts have meant the broader long-term impacts that arts and culture festivals have generated in the host localities, nationally and internationally. (Luonila et al., 2019, p. 4.)

A currently running development project ArtWell (UEF//Connect, n.d.), aims to develop procedures and calculations for predicting the evaluation of cultural wellbeing operations, develop criteria for evaluation, recognize the needs for knowledge acquisition that support evaluation. and make action recommendations concerning all of the above to progress the economic evaluation of cultural well-being in Finland. ArtWell's literature review (Kippo & Koivisto, 2002) observes the cultural well-being operations in publications on society's micro, meso, and macro levels, which is necessary to verify impact. The research included different areas of life in a multidisciplinary manner, such as psychological and physical quality of life.

In addition to these operations, Finnish ministries have also periodically commissioned reports on the effects of cultural well-being, the effects of events, and measuring the effects of cultural well-being and events (Luonila et al., 2019; Saukko et al., 2021; Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland, 2016; Luonila et al., 2022). These reports are characterized by their economic underpinnings. A publication translated by Jensen (2020, pp. 1, 4) is an example of a guidebook to establish a framework to report and understand the evaluation of cultural well-being projects and operations. A recent review by Hyttinen (2022) focuses on measuring the physical, psychological, and social effects of cultural well-being. Hyttinen (2022, p. 5) calls for understanding in this time of lacking in the measurement methods for the impact of events since cultural well-being as a whole and the knowledge, operations, and know-how about it are all subject to rigorous development.

Considering my research question, the main subjects of my research are the effects of cultural well-being and experiences at cultural events. I now present examples of research that connect to their elements thematically. These studies

include different concepts of experiencing participation, analyzing data about participation and self-assessed well-being, and different ways to categorize what experiences, such as culture, events, or well-being, benefit. The broader context has been addressed by large-scale surveys that attempted to measure the connection between participation in arts and culture and well-being (Bone et al., 2021; Elsden, Mak & Fancourt, 2021; McCrary & Altenmüller, 2021). For Bone et al. (2021), the participants and data were drawn from a repeated cross-sectional and rotating panel study of adults aged 18 and over in the US (the General Social Survey [GSS]) in which arts outcomes were measured between 1993 and 2016. The data between the years could be combined because each wave contained a unique sample of individuals. Their responses were formatted into a binary variable indicating attendance at any event in the last 12 months (0 = none, 1 = one or more). Elsden et al. (2021) used data from a prospective longitudinal cohort study (1970's British Cohort Study [BCS70]) that followed a sample of the population across their life course. To examine relationships between frequency of leisure activity engagement and health functioning, OLS regressions were used with continuous outcome variables of health functioning: "general health, vitality, bodily pain, social functioning, physical functioning, and mental health." McCrary and Altenmüller (2021) aim to analyze the relationships between performing arts activity and health outcomes in the 500 largest cities in the US. The data from the US Centers for Disease Control's '500 Cities' project regarding "health outcomes and the prevalence of preventive and unhealthy behaviors" with 27 outcomes for adult residents of the 500 largest cities in the US. The analysis includes multiple regression models "to identify significant associations between performing arts activity and health outcomes and preventive and unhealthy behaviors."

In these different types of statistical analysis, the cohort studies that provide the primary data might have used subjective measures, even though none of these studies measure outcomes of subjective well-being. Often the original data cannot be accessed. However, it can be generalized using statistical analysis of cohort well-being studies that the data was collected with surveys utilizing Likert scales. Virolainen (2015, p. 52) observes that, in particular, Finnish arts and

culture audience research emphasizes descriptive studies that investigate motivation and effects, not causality.

Węziak-Białowolska et al. (2019) examine causality by measuring 11 different well-being-related predetermined outcomes and applying a statistical longitudinal modeling technique. They acquired the initial data from the UK Household Longitudinal Study conducted yearly to "inquire about living conditions, societal changes, economic circumstances, attitudes, behaviors, and health in the United Kingdom." The effects of specific event attendance were not measured, but attendance to events in general longevity. A positive and causal relationship was revealed between cultural attendance, cultural participation, and well-being (Węziak-Białowolska et al., 2019.), but existing evidence questions the causative link between attendance to cultural events or participation in creative activities and increased well-being (Węziak-Białowolska, 2016; Węziak-Białowolska & Białowolski, 2016).

Ramchandani and Coleman (2012) aimed to measure a sense of inspiration as an effect of an experience at an event. They wanted to locate the factors that may trigger the inspiration effect at a football game and factors that might convert inspiration into participation in sports as a result. The assessment of the inspirational impact on spectators' willingness to participate in sport was conducted as an audience survey. An encouraging finding is that "across the three events, around two-thirds of spectators interviewed (67.6 percent) either 'agreed' or 'strongly agreed' that their experience of attending the event in question had an effect and made them feel inspired to participate in more sport or physical activity than they would normally." Inspired spectators also regarded the impact of factors linked to general event attendance as moderately high. Ramchandani and Coleman (2012) could argue that "the potential of events to inspire audiences is higher amongst those who attend events rather than those who experience them elsewhere." (Ramchandani & Coleman, 2012.)

Kayser et al. (2022) explored the application of automated face analysis software to potentially study the emotional responses in concert audiences. Results showed that the software *FaceReader* (Skiendziel et al., 2019) could detect and identify facial expressions and reflect them to the emotion expressed in the music.

I am interested in the well-being benefits of cultural events, what specific things I think should be taken into account when measuring those effects, what would be the most suitable, and what should be changed. I am interested in measuring experience, what experiences and impact experiences have, and what effects experience through cultural events has. The most current methods of measuring the effects of cultural events and experiences of cultural events can be divided into two. Studies commonly use surveys with Likert scales or more in-depth interviews collecting qualitative data on subjective well-being. It is hard to compare these kinds of findings when the datasets are so different, and the questions differ much from each other because the measurement tool affects the research design so fundamentally. The aspects that are chosen for the questions just vary so much.

Qualitative surveys are often used to inquire about people's experiences and perceptions. In Kinnunen and Haahti's audience research (2015), where they explored community festivals and events by asking the participants to describe their festival experiences by writing a short description of their experiences and giving suggestions to develop the event. They received 931 experience descriptions were received the informants. Packer (2008) found that museums are important because of the experiences they create, and Binnie's (2010) surveys reported reduced anxiety levels and increased well-being after viewing art.

In 2000, Konlaan et al. linked attendance at cultural events and longevity. Their 10 000 participants were interviewed and observed for 14 years. They concluded that "the prognostic importance of changes in cultural stimulation should be investigated and experiments initiated for verification." The results were explained through cultural participation activating beneficial physiological processes associated with longevity, even though a direct causal link was not established.

Belfiore and Bennett (2010) ask, how do we construct a solid argument about the effects of arts and culture activities by separating them into genres to their historical definitions? The study by Bone et al. (2021) about art engagement categorized culture, and arts activities as follows:

Arts engagement typically refers to different types of creative activity, from actively participating in the arts like dancing, singing, acting, painting, reading, to more receptive cultural engagement like going to museums, galleries, exhibits, performances and the theater. It can also encompass broader creative activities that, whilst not always labelled as 'arts', share similar properties of creative skill and imagination, this would include gardening, cooking, and hobby or book groups. (Bone et al., 2021.)

Cieślikowski (2016, as cited by Cudny, 2020) also presents an example of what elements of events could be separated for measurement. For indicators for measuring the effect of events, the categories for the different factors an event can consist of. The most popular might be by Getz (2008, p. 404). This established typology of planned events divides them according to their type, encompassing eight groups. This segmentation by Cieślikowski and Getz provides the different factors and variables that event studies that want to observe effects can most often use. In previous research, the social effects of events have been most often observed through collaboration, regional pride, image, and the attractiveness of the host locality (e.g., Kainulainen, 2005, p. 390; Pasanen et al., 2009). The social and cultural impacts of cultural events can be seen as long-term changes like the communality of the festival host locality, or the well-being experiences of the participants, requiring long-term monitoring, qualitative methods, and an evaluation of effects (

e.g., Richards & Colombo, 2017). Pasanen et al. (2009) suggest the assessment scales to interpret surveys and interviews in the context of evaluating the effects of events. They mention SCIE (socio-cultural impact evaluation model, (e.g., Brown & Trimbol, 2011), SIP (social impact perception, e.g., Small et al., 2005),

or FEET (Finnish Event Evaluation Tool). The Method of Empathy-based Stories (Eskola, 1988) was used to evaluate qualitative experience data by Kinnunen & Haahti (2015).

Aside from measuring the different dimensions of events, different scales and measurement methods for well-being exist within the realm of cultural well-being research. I will present a selection of scales and models that I think are the most relevant to my research context. The Subjective Happiness Scale (Lyubomirsky & Lepper, 1999) consists of four items, measured on a seven-point Likert scale places focus on a broader category of happiness than just momentary feelings of happiness as a relatively stable personal. This understanding of personal happiness also allows for comparisons across local communities and cultures. Jensen and Allen (1993) developed a wellness-illness model showing an interrelationship between health, wellness, disease, and illness. For their definitions of wellness and illness, Jensen and Allen (1993) referenced Benner and Wrubel (1989, p. 221), where "wellness is the subjective experience of health" and "illness is viewed as the human experience of disease." (p. 221). Other examples of existing models to measure well-being in the literature include The Psychological Well-Being Scale of Ryff and Keyes (1995) and The Satisfaction with Life Scale of Diener et al. (1985). Schwarz and Strack (1999) demonstrated that the measurement of life satisfaction could be influenced by the mood and other situational factors that the surveyed individual experiences at the moment of responding. Konlaan et al. (2002) and Bygren et al. (2009) assessed health by observing mortality rates.

The lack of established indicators has sparked criticism, but so have the indicators in use. Kainulainen (2005) points out that distinguishing the economic and non-economic impact from the benefits they created has been problematic because the cultural, artistic, social, and economic values are multidimensionally intertwined in event and festival production and participation in them. The critique received from the medical field and the funders have often concerned the clinical evidence and emphasized prioritizing quantitative research and measuring the effects. Humanist and societal critique has been directed at the quantitative

aspects of cultural well-being research and how it can not undertake the meanings of well-being and art to different people in different contexts. (Laitinen, 2017b, pp. 42–42.) Laitinen (2017b, p. 25) notes that using different study methods alongside each other enables a multidimensional depiction of a phenomenon. No study comes without the subject of discussing limitations and developments. However, a recurring theme in well-being research seems to be that the limitations are presented up front as disclaimers alongside the presentation of concepts.

Understanding self-rated health questions and their use in longitudinal studies is a topic of criticism (Fayers, 2002; Gunasekara et al., 2012; Jylhä, 2009; Weziak-Bialowolska, 2014). Although these measures are "believed to provide useful information on overall individual health status, concerns about their interpretation and self-health-assessment, in general, are very elaborate. They may be highly dependent on a contextual framework, including an individual's cultural and biographical background. However, they also rely on social characteristics such as social class or standard of living" (Węziak-Białowolska & Białowolski, 2016).

Evidence of the impacts of culture, produced with measurements and procedures, is needed, for instance, to support goal-oriented cultural services and add to the health and well-being promotion basic tasks of municipalities (Hyttinen, 2022, p. 3). Even though subjective evaluation is not as highly regarded as data acquired by other research methods, it is important to understand that individually experienced effects reflect on the entire society. Thus the benefits of the individuals become public. (Houni et al., 2020, p. 11; Lehikoinen & Vanhanen 2017b, p. 13.) According to Stiglitz et al. (2009), "despite the persistence of many unresolved issues, subjective measures provide important information about the quality of life. Because of this, the questions that have proved their value within small-scale, unofficial surveys should be included in larger-scale surveys undertaken by official statistical offices."

A new way of measurement would not completely solve the problem. However, more quantitative leaning Likert scales and qualitative interviews could overlap the topics of the questions, which could also simplify future longitudinal studies. The studies that measure different kinds of subjective well-being are quite locked in with the usage of the subjective well-being dimension categories and, in my opinion, would benefit from both simplification and additional qualitative aspects.

## 4 Findings

In this chapter, I will first present my findings from the expert interviews thematically and introduce the common ideas shared with the theoretical premises of the literature review. I had prepared a set of eight open-ended questions in a tentative order to follow, but I prioritized spontaneous associations and conversation; they acted as a guide for dialogue.

The questions open the conversation by outlining the experts' impression of their professional experience's connection to the effects on cultural well-being. The interviews go on to cover inquiries of their views of the meanings of subjective well-being as well as participation in events. The depth of the examined details extends to different concepts of agency, experience, and measurement and their outlook on the research context.

## 4.1 Expert interviews

This is the content analysis of the three expert interviews I conducted. What should be noted about terminology and the concepts of my research task and question is that all experts used the terms festival and cultural event coincidingly. Even when mentioning theories and research findings about specific festivals, they just replaced the term with a cultural event, as if the theory or finding applied identically. The term culture production was never mentioned on its own, always inclusively culture and event production. In many instances, multiple codes from the different thematic groups could and had to be applied to the same quotation to address the layers and nuances of the experts' answers. There was some repetition to the codes that were often applied together. In some cases, quotations labeled with multiple codes carried more weight or counted more towards one code than others, but in some cases, the themes appeared in the quotation equally. Some codes do not have quotations from all of the experts.

- Interviewee 1 has extensive work experience in producing and managing arts and culture projects, events, and festivals both in the private and public sectors. As a cultural producer, a large number of their projects included an angle of well-being promotion. Interviewee 1 has master's degrees in musicology and cultural policy, and they have worked as a researcher of municipal cultural services.
- Interviewee 2 is a Ph.D. researcher with a master's degree in applied art and design, including creative sustainability. Their research regards increasing well-being through the systems of social design and urban planning, creating social well-being, social sustainability, music event attendance, and the importance of live music.
- Interviewee 3 is a researcher with a Ph.D. in tourism research. The main areas of their comprehensive personal and collaborative research and articles concern audience research, festival visitor experiences, and shared experience.

After analyzing the transcriptions, the number of recurring codes was 149, and the number of coded quotations from all three experts was 295. The most recurring categories were 'art and events to increase well-being', 'research', 'experience of well-being', and 'measurement'. The code 'art and events to increase well-being' was the most recurring. It described 35 quotations which made up 23,49% of all 149 codes. The code 'research' recurred the second most, consisting of 19,46% of all the codes. The codes 'the experience of well-being' and 'measurement' occurred 25 times and made 16,78% of all used codes equally the third most occurring.

Compared to the chosen 149 codes, the four most occurring showed up 114 times, making them 76,51% of the coded quotations in total, making them the vast majority. Overall, 98 quotations included all four of these most recurring codes making up 33,22% of all of the quotations. The 149 codes were divided into six thematic categories; 'effects', 'means of operation', 'research theory',

'tools', 'measurement', and 'research context'. Statistically, the less recurring codes belonged in the same thematic groups; in comparison, so did the most recurring. The theme groups with the most significant number of codes encompassed more abstract and immaterial terms, and the thematic groups with smaller codes dispersed between multiple thematic groups and related terms that were concrete and practical. Statistically, the numerically higher represented themes relate to the more conceptually challenging aspects of my research and my actual research question.

As a collection, these six themes are also identifiable descriptors of my research task and question. Given that the interviews stayed on topic subject-wise, it could be argued that they are very accurate and that the questions were carefully considered and formulated accordingly to give insight. They depict the subject matter of examining different well-being experiences at cultural events. Effects are the expressions of the outcomes of experiences, and measurement is a more detailed manner of observing them. Tools, research theory, research context, and means of operation are the building blocks of operationalizing the different concepts of this research. These six themes can also be seen coherently in the interview questions and my literature review. They portray the characteristics of the experts' answers and are carried through all of the ideas brought up by the interviews.

The thematic group 'research context' is composed of 6 codes. These codes paint the specifics of the features of the context that cultural well-being is research exists.

The thematic group 'research theory' is comprised of 25 codes. This is a group of verbs and nouns related to academic research. These terms are both generally related to the fundamentals of research and, specifically, the research of the elements of cultural well-being.

The thematic group, 'means of operation,' consists of 20 codes. These codes describe concrete concepts and subjects, as well as names and actions, with a sense of direction in the culture and health fields.

The thematic group 'measurement' contains 11 codes. This theme presents the facets that concern measurability, the act of measuring, and the specific aspects of measuring experiences and cultural well-being.

The thematic group 'effects' includes 43 codes. The common factors between these codes are immaterial manifestations created by some situations, like emotions, feelings, phenomena, interaction, perception, or change. The codes describe personal, social, and societal manifestations. They are also a consequence or an outcome of an experience, an experiment, or an intervention. The effect group also represents the responses, outcomes, impacts, and impacted and unimpacted areas of cultural well-being.

The thematic group 'tools' is made up of 23 codes. The codes share a nature of practicality. They have used components of operations and functions. The tools can also be related to projects on a national or municipal level or aspects of well-being promotional matters.

The findings of the topics and codes in the interviews under the theme each theme are the following. The codes grouped thematically under **'research context'** demonstrate the bigger picture of cultural and health services, government programs, and the long-term benevolent aspirations of humankind. The quotations of the experts point to the necessities and obligations of politics and economics that contribute to the required building blocks of cultural wellbeing promotion.

The interviews illustrate the bigger picture of the history of cultural well-being. They include municipal law, observations of different cultural well-being projects, research methods, and the most well-known benefits. Interviewee 1 has observed midst their research about the cultural services organized by local governments that the motives for the operations are often the promotion of the well-being of locals: "when observing the cultural operations of municipalities, there is not necessarily talk about well-being and such" as a subject. It is not explained and only vaguely stated, graced, and alluded to. Interviewee 1 states that: "in my opinion, it is strongly and fundamentally included in the mission of a municipality that the provided services need to be of benefit to the inhabitants." Culture is one means of operating, like healthcare services, elderly care, or youth services, and the essence is to provide diverse, accessible, and affordable services to the inhabitants. A central matter of participation and interaction with arts, people, and events, is that it is always voluntary.

The politics and the economics behind cultural well-being operations create the guarantee for participation, allocate funding and subsidies, affect the goals, and create differing circumstances between municipalities and countries. According to interviewee 1, the current disposition of funding for culture projects directs that: "the applicants to give reasoning about cultural well-being effects, economic effects, vitalizing city centers - everything except establishing that they have quality artistic subject matter." Interviewee 3's observation is that: "local politics, regional politics, and national politics revolve around money and making savings."

Cultural well-being promotion can be viewed by what is consumed and what culture is for individuals. Interviewee 1 thinks that: "it is great more terminology is created to describe phenomena of experiences [of subjective well-being] and subjective well-being, which can also be used to describe the demographic." Interviewee 1 also notes that from a research perspective: "different tools have such different hypotheses and theory bases."

The findings in the interviews under the theme **'research theory'** are the following. The group of codes labeling quotations related to research theory is simultaneously practical, straightforward, and reflective. In their given answers, the experts exhibit their wide-spanning knowledge. The topics derive from the history of well-being-related cultural policies, extensive scientific research,

research articles, and literature. This substantial professional knowledge also presents another side to these matters. Concurring outlook and criticism evoke contemplation about the aspects of operationalization, categorization, issues with data, terminology, and different theories.

The mentioned arguments for the well-being effects of cultural events are claims based on research, knowledge, and general knowledge used in cultural wellbeing promotion and projects' aims. Schools of research have different opinions about well-being and its dimensions, and the interviews consider the literature generously. Their contradictory points are acknowledged. As one of the challenges of measuring cultural well-being experiences, Interviewee 1 describes:" the difficulty or challenge, according to my experience, is the very differing views on how the effects of culture could be measured." Different contexts, angles, theories, and professionalism of the backgrounds of the researchers all affect the impressions of how the effects of culture could be studied. 'Bridging and bonding' and 'sense of belonging' are the most referred concepts and have the most important in the discussion.

The interviewees' different theories about cultural well-being and events are from different research fields. They include categorizations, demographics, dimensions of subjective well-being, target groups, and measuring different factors. Interviewee 3 explains that:" the dimensions of well-being in my own research have been shaped by literary research which can in many places become convoluted, because of the many different schools of research and what is available."

The history of cultural well-being research in Finland and concepts related to it are included in the context of the research theories. Pilots in Finland are based on government programs starting from the 1990s, but also historical mentions cultural movements represented in time that represents different types of communities. Collaboration between the social and health field, and arts and culture field, is present in the scientific research and between experts and in different sectors like municipalities and the private sector. Interviewee 1 thinks that in cultural well-being research, "the outcomes of participation differ within a framework of another theory, which is the problem," complicating the application of new evidence-based models.

According to interviewee 3: "especially when a researcher uses data that they have collected themselves, it is already skewed, because the researcher formulates the questions and only observes specific things." The interviews call for unification and more research on terminology to reliably analyze the acquired data and to elaborate better on the phenomena of measuring cultural well-being. Aspects of defining concepts are also philosophical. This concerns debates like what happiness is, what meaning and understanding can do as effects, what participation is, and what culture is. The experts also reflect on worldviews and responsibility for future generations. Interviewee 1 commends this research on trying to look for comparisons of the experiences of well-being: "and hopefully something is found that could be interpreted between what research talks about," even though they expect it to be challenging, especially between research perspectives and theoretical backgrounds.

The findings coded under the theme 'means of operation' introduced the immense variety of contexts, means, and methods of promoting cultural wellbeing. There is a multitude of possible circumstances to facilitate cultural wellbeing and areas of focus and aim that fall under the umbrella of event and cultural production and management. The prevailing underlying intent is to enable participation, but the matter of producing art for the sake of well-being promotion is divisive. The professionalization, development, and growth of culture, social, and health fields affect the views and potential of this theme.

The following are the topics and codes in the interviews under the theme 'means of operation.' Interviewee 2 sees that:" cultural well-being in practice is, that we have diverse organized networks around culture" and from those communities whose intrinsic activities would include variety for everyone's preference. Different means to use arts and culture activities and events to increase wellbeing are included, ranging from tourism to urban planning to projects and institutions following government programs. Many different arts and culture programs with events have been piloted, have been proven good, and are already in use. Interviewee 1 points out that projects with an objective to increase wellbeing are common among the operators of the cultural field and that these types of projects and cultural services can be" used to help individuals explore the means to learn how they could have agency, meaning, and influence in their daily lives, in their community, and the surrounding world."

The interviews mention and highlight arts and cultural activities related to having hobbies and being involved so that tribes and communities are born around them. These can be used to increase well-being but are not always viewed as cultural well-being. According to interviewee 3's research, a cultural event can be used to create experiences that affect both physical and mental health:" what is interesting is that in some dimensions of well-being, well-being can be generated by cultural events that can affect physical health. Some forms of well-being can have a great effect on mental health." Event and cultural production and management can be a method or tool to promote well-being, especially by facilitation. Interviewee 1 sees projects that utilize arts and culture experiences as "one [line of practice] of instrumental uses where specific well-being effects are sought after" as a clear branch of event and cultural production.

Interviewee 3 contemplates the importance of the effects of cultural well-being and how it is not accessible to all: "it should enable voluntary participation for everyone and financially, including those who cannot personally finance their attendance to cultural events, and a model to take part should be created." The matter of accessibility is about getting the well-being effects to everyone by different means. The best means to reach different people groups differ, but the best ones can be found even for different interests. Accessibility matters also come as a task from the law. Interviewee 1 displays their opinion: "I think that there is much potential in all art consumption and because of this it is potentially positively impactful, which is what makes accessibility, participation, agency and a low threshold to participate so important, which is the reason why cultural experiences need to be made possible because it is known that for sought people groups like low-income individuals and substance abusers have a harder time seeing positive things in life and would realize that culture is a thing they can acquire positive experiences from." Interviewee 1's views of the event and cultural production being means by which different target groups could be reached and utilized in cultural well-being promotion are "the differentiating behaviors of consuming culture and art products."

Culture is one of the means social and health fields can and should use to promote well-being. The context for these strategies is based on municipal law. Projects like 'Hyvinvointia kulttuurista,' 'kulttuuria kaikille' and 'Percent for Art'model used to purchase art pieces with 1% of the budget of a construction project, are examples of past and current implementation models in Finland. The implementation and use of well-being projects are still scattered. Cultural wellbeing-promoting projects are seen as often intervention-like and not very longitudinal in practice, making measuring the effects easier and more complicated when the beginning and after of the project are definite.

The common factors between the findings coded thematically under **'measurement'** are the factors to consider concerning how to measure or what to measure. Considering the more abstract conceptual elements of my research question, like experience, effect, and well-being, measurement is the point of view that grounds them in reality. It is pointed out that these matters also represent the issues of cultural well-being that are often vaguely alluded to in generalized conversations and arguments about well-being promotion. These points in question are also related to the instrumentalization of culture and theories of subjective well-being (through that the instrumental use is what the municipalities and experiments measure). According to interviewee's 3 research on cultural well-being, "aims are to go deeper, given that at some point claims in surveys

were mainly 'my well-being is increased,' only at a conceptual level and subjective" and terminology was very generalized and even vague.

A multitude of projects measure arts and culture for their instrumentalism. Different measurement goals depend on the project or operation, or organizer, and it should be noted that they can also be political. Successful preventative measures are a goal of The Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, so that point of view often influences the measurement. Activity is one important highlighted component to define for measuring effects. Interviewee 1 observes that "the measures and operations of well-being promotion are targeted to the audiences differently because the means that work the best depend according to each target group." Generalization can have a negative impact on how cultural well-being findings are viewed. The entirety of the context is a key aspect that affects what and how to measure. However, interviewee 2 sees that "it is a continuum; experiencing culture, gaining interest in culture, relating to culture, and seeing commonalities with oneself and cultural expression."

Wide knowledge of medical research and evidence, the foundation of many operations, are presented, and examples are given. A multitude of scientific articles and reports are also referred to. The subjective nature of cultural wellbeing studies and its problems are recognized. Interviewee 1 refers to "research done in universities, where some units study music therapy at the level of neurological measurement and note that well-being effect can be very complicated to assess medically." Interviewee 3's thoughts are that "finding objective methods of measurement or factors to measure when studying well-being experiences is challenging, and the best option that comes to mind could be a heart rate monitor used by health studies, or some other physiological device." The mentioned matters of measuring subjective well-being theories and problems align with the current literature and research on the subject. Interviewee 3 expresses that "it is hard to recognize an objective measure for cultural well-being, which is why I will keep at subjective well-being and how the individual experiences and can verbalize it." According to interviewee 1, "the measurement methods should always be developed and enriched for every specific project as well as considering what the numerical measurements could be." The presumption for interviewee 1 is that the studies would be one-off and not longitudinal. A key method that interviewee 1 would use to measure experiences at cultural experiences would be "to map out the change and measured differences at different phases of the project by surveying the organizers and participants."

The subject matter coded to the thematic group 'effects' characterizes a perpetual narrative of an example situation beginning from an arts and culture activity. The situation of the activity can be a project in which there are intentions to promote well-being or people attending a situation, including arts and culture. These examples are all coalesced into events. Many arguments and assumptions exist about the impact of experiencing arts and culture through different means. They are described to have many positive outcomes, like improving many abilities in people, creating agency and meaning in the participants, and impact that can move from individuals to society. The originator of these effects is both the art itself and different forms of being together with people, which cause an abundance of feelings and emotions, as well as change in many areas.

The background of use in events instrumentally stems from government programs wanting to facilitate all subjective well-being and well-being effects with arts and culture content. It is observed that the culture is communicated and applied to increase value. This can be seen in urban planning, municipal strategies, and projects with multiple aims in the economy, branding, and education. Interviewee 3 sees that it is problematic that cultural well-being benefits are not often explained enough as a term and "that hedonistic parties overwhelm the scope of the long-term effects."

Culture and art are noted to have many general and nonspecific benefits, like in the form of 'a balanced life', feeling better, and associations with positive feelings. This can be in the form of hobbies, where art is experienced without a well-being goal, as operations and programs of institutions and municipalities' mission statements. Interviewee 1 sees that many individuals steer towards well-being experiences from culture through arts and culture hobbies or by consuming media, both with and "without intention to gain increased well-being, still gaining increased well-being." Culture and art can impact and affect change and experience in many areas of life. Interviewee 1 describes that "cultural well-being, be the source of it any recognized factor, is very impactful to an individual's experience, perception of their reality, and satisfaction with their life." They evoke feelings that construct the well-being experience. Therapeutic use of arts and culture activities increases agency and supports personal abilities. Agency might be created by participation, a sense of belonging, and a sense of community experienced by the individual. Interviewee 1 talks about how "supporting activity, functioning, and personal capabilities" and "removing physical obstacles both mentally and physically" benefit through the instrumental effects of cultural well-being.

Participation is the key concept behind almost all of the well-being effects that can be named. Interviewee 2 says, "cultural content is secondary to the experienced well-being, and the spectrum of communities that form around [it] are what links to well-being." As a term, communality is mentioned almost exclusively as being created by event and eventful environments. A social environment can be created and facilitated, and social environments facilitate all of the effects named by the interviews. Interviewee 2 notes that "social pressure to accommodate to society can also be relieved when individuals have more environments they feel like they belong."

Interaction is a mechanism by which all social well-being is created. Interaction can be participation, attending, and passively experiencing, which positively affects well-being. It is specified that within the framework of cultural well-being, interaction is facilitated by cultural events and cultural activities. Shared experiences are associated with what happens at events, and it is one factor that creates the studied well-being effects. Interviewee 3 sees that the factor "emotions felt at cultural events run through all of the dimensions [of subjective

well-being]" and that "experiencing emotions can't be separated" from subjective experiences.

According to the interviews, an identity is created by interaction, community, meaningfulness, and art. Identity is an important element of belonging, communality, and a right for everyone. According to interviewee 3's research, "the area of social well-being that is the most important for mental health is a sense of belonging, – which can be seen the most in niche cultures" and concerns cultural events its attendees identify with. Out of the studied factors, mental health is one of the most affected by cultural well-being and the largest statistical meaning in research.

According to interviewee 3's research, "an individual realizing that they can use the experiences [at cultural events] to affect their feelings has positive effects on mental health." 'Bridging and bonding' is a leading theory that can be used to dissect mechanisms of interaction. It includes creating networks, sharing experiences, sharing emotions, finding a community, experiencing cohesion, and learning about one's own life or life as a whole. Experiences of well-being shape experiences of areas of life and how life is viewed. They are the aim of projects and what can happen in daily life. It is debated what their position in policy and research is, but many findings support their existence.

Interviewee 1 notes that a very general positive cultural well-being effect is: "increase in communality and life skills, gaining a sense of an ability to influence one's own life, the perception of happiness, and creating meaning." Meaning can be created by art itself, the experience of participation, or both. Something becoming meaningful is a result of an effect or experience. Meaning creates emotion, and the same meaning can be the factor that creates a community around it. According to interviewee 1, it is also generalized that: "when an individual attends a cultural function or takes part in arts and culture activities that they are known to enjoy, then the experience will be positive," just like if something experienced is perceived as unpleasant, it is hard to promote wellbeing by those means. Emotions are an effect and a result, but also an aim or can contribute to an effect. Other mentioned effects of cultural well-being are empowerment, meaningfulness, happiness, and enjoyment. Interviewee 3 specifies that "experiencing shared emotions is what clearly creates well-being in a discussing cultural event." The largest factor affecting this is when audience members "observe each other react with the same feeling as them in the same way when they are experiencing the same phenomenon, and it makes them feel empowered."

This is what the quotations coded to the thematic group of '**tools**' describe. As a cultural well-being promotional term, tool is an implement used in performing an operation or necessary in the practice of an undertaking. The experts discourse about the devices, methods, and resources used in the problem-solving of different operational models and projects. These also include the instrumental use of arts and culture activities. Often the context and aims of different methods constitute according to the laws, societal mechanisms, associated institutions, and funding. Measurement is a tool to give evidence of effects. Some dimensions of well-being have an evidential effect on mental health, which can be linked to the national health statistics, for instance, through GNP, which is a tool. According to interviewee 1, producing cultural well-being experiences should be aimed toward everyone, "and through that scope, it could be considered to affect the national health."

The law sets demands for operations that are tools for governance and administration. More specifically, the local government act concerning the promotion of well-being through culture. Institutions are noted to provide 'non-specific' or 'general' cultural activity that is a part of a municipality's cultural services, in which they can function as tools. According to interviewee 1's experience and research, municipalities "want to uncover positive effects from all of the functions and projects they want to fund," whether it be the municipality or the government.

Adaptation is a necessity to operate. Adaptation according to the context needs to happen in professions, measurement, and operations need to. Interviewee 1 explains that because of this "has taught the professionals in the culture field to adapt their projects to be able to apply funds [that fit the aims of the ministry.]." Educating stakeholders in projects about operation models and methods at use is also a tool.

Funding and public subsidies enable what is implemented and also direct aims and trajectories. It is noted that what is consumed can indicate what can be used as a tool. Interviewee 2 argues that "dominant culture and popular culture are a product and that if there were no economic motives that influence the marketing of that culture, our cultural environment would be much more diverse and dispersed." Interviewee 1 summarizes that "the ministry funding is most visible for youth culture and to prevent social exclusion and that they stem from this larger turn in the funding of culture," which looks at culture from an instrumentalist view.

Needs should be recognized before developing tools. An aim and a need are different things, and there is no use for tools supporting the aim if it does not suit the need. In interviewee 1's opinion, culture projects and culture projects with well-being trajectories are not the same: "if not only discussing general well-being benefits but targeted well-being promotion operations, because I would draw a slight line there because the other has a clear well-being aim since its funder has a well-being aim" if the funding comes from a source that has a specific well-being objective, whether it be the municipality or ministry. Another is a tool, and the other is not, an example of instrumental use.

Interviewee 1 stresses that because low-income demographics who would benefit from cultural activities participate less because of their economic situation, more funding should be directed towards cultural services "to guarantee cultural experiences for individuals in vulnerable positions." Experiences can be created to create effects and benefits, and events can be created to create experiences. Facilitation is an event's most important tool in cultural well-being promotion.

#### 4.2 Relating the expert interviews to the literature review

The leading themes of my literature review are *establishing the research context* of *events' cultural well-being promotion*, *looking into documented effects of events and experiences at events as well as defining a cultural event, subjective* observations of well-being experiences, and measured well-being benefits related to eventful environments. By meticulously presenting aspects and discussing the main concepts' definitions, I confirmed their relationships.

The current discourse on cultural well-being policy implementation also supports the importance of my research topic and is in the background of my context. Even if they would not be the main angle of my study, my aims benefit the issues they concern. Defining the terminology in constructing the theoretical premises for my literature review helps to ensure that results from different methods of measurement can contribute to the discussion and that I have the means to assess the specific constructs that I am investigating, such as the dimension of well-being experiences.

Analyzing the qualitative interviews brings out further information concerning the theoretical premises of my research task and question. I want to highlight the main findings that add to the established aspects of my research and show connections between the core matters. Some generalized ideas of cultural wellbeing are supported by the experts, who also have vast professional knowledge and work experience on the subjects. Discourse analysis revealed differences between communication in different contexts, government programs and their realization, and the origins of generalized knowledge. A present underpinning in analyzing my research context and the texts is that the information about the well-being effects of cultural events is assumed and not mentioned. There is overlap between the researched evidence and cultural knowledge that confirms this, and my interviewees assert it too. Examining the theories and concepts helps to ensure that results from different measurement methods can contribute to the discussion and that I have the means to assess the specific constructs that I am investigating, such as the dimension of well-being experiences. It is also a form of analysis.

Interviewee 1 mirrors the positive cultural well-being effects to negative effects and feelings that can be created with the experience. According to interviewee 1, an experience can set the individual into motion: "you start to change yourself or change the entire world when you realize that something is wrong." Interviewee 2 thinks that "abilities to feel empathy and to have a wider world view increase as a well-being effect through facilitated interaction that broadens experiences." This type of philosophical reflection adds to the argument that the factor that should be observed is the experience.

The experienced effects of cultural events strongly overlap between the different elements of subjective well-being, whether they come from personal expression, doing something enjoyable, sharing life with other people, or shaping views of the environment. The areas where Interviewee 3 sees agency the most distinctly are "especially those with a strong ethos that is connected to specific genres, the agency is stronger because you participate in the creation of that cultural expression which is a connected sense of belonging" In these communities, agency is created by a sense of belonging and participation.

The claim about scientific knowledge's objectivity and culture's widely understood subjectivity is a social construct. It upholds the lack of understanding in healthcare even though many kinds of cultural values, beliefs, and traditions, as well as artistic processes and outputs, can be affected by well-being. (Ilmola-Sheppard et al., 2021.) The chosen definitions of social capital and the dimensions of subjective well-being are in accordance with the different research fields, even if the starting points and objectives differ. Multiple interviewees refer to how Rihova et al. (2015), distinguish the different features of subjective well-being and have started to utilize the definition of a sense of belonging as a jumping point in many observations. Interviewee 1 also mentions "being in meaningful interaction with other people" as a key component of communality. According to interviewee 2, paraphrasing their research, "the different social environments that are born

around [arts and culture] foster well-being effects" and "the well-being effects realize through groups, not the substance." The effects come from the shared identities and sense of belonging with peers, not through the arts and culture as instruments.

For more crossing connections, the interviews express that sense of belonging is both a concept of social well-being and a well-being effect. Gaining agency is the outcome of well-being-promoting operations, and it is created by a combination of interaction and an experience of meaningful activity. Having experienced interaction as a form of participation is also an effect of cultural well-being.

Interviewee 1's impression is that "a cultural operator's basic argument for wellbeing-related project funding is that the effects of cultural activity are larger when an individual does something themselves instead of passively receiving." Interviewee 1 adds that this includes the idea of "anything that makes a person contribute and be creative instead of receiving the products of someone else's creativity is better participation." Deep down, the means of experiencing, sharing, and producing well-being are also about politics, for the perception of what wellbeing is directed and how and with what measures well-being promotion is conducted (Aholainen et al., 2021). The current climate of cultural well-being is filled with challenges and inspiration. This can be seen in recent publications, where Houni (2021) states that the general atmosphere favors cultural well-being, but much work is needed. At the same time, Anttila et al. (2022, p. 22) view that the national support for cultural well-being is at a critical but positive point. Interviewee 3's observation that "well-being and cultural events are usually discussed in very generalized and even vague terms" supports my views on the matter.

Cultural well-being discourse, the practice of justifying the meaning of arts and culture, is currently one of the most common ways to dialogue in the cultural political conversation. Well-being and its effects are used to vindicate cultural political objectives and programs. Many service providers from the public sector and financial institutions have participated in this type of cultural political programming. (Aholainen et al., 2021.) Historically, long-term courses of action

are the ones that policies and reports still use the most as examples of cultural well-being operations and promotion, and this gives a narrow view of the fields and the possibilities, even if the next sentence is usually about the variety and never-ending options of cultural well-being activities. These include likes of social prescribing, hospital clowns, and singing in hospices (Kingsnorth et al., 2011; Poulos et al., 2019; Young & Pringle, 2018), as well as activities that support a sense of community to improve health and reduce pressure off healthcare services.

According to Moisio (2017), it can be seen from the Finnish cultural policy strategy 2020 (Ministry of Education Department for Cultural, Sport and Youth Policy, 2009, pp. 23–24) that the citizenry is seen as a mass that automatically participates and benefits from culture and art. A question is raised; if one has never gotten an experience of participation from culture and art, why would they participate or feel the right to participate? (Moisio, 2017.) Multiple quotes show that a specific piece of arts and culture can also be used instrumentally when a product, service, or event is directed to a target audience with a known preference. According to new longitudinal research, even though advancements in cultural policies have happened, some forms of cultural participation over others are subverted through public funding, affecting people groups' participation. Some groups intentionally withdraw or are left out. (Heikkilä & Lindblom, 2022.) Interviewee 1 makes a distinction between arts and culture activities that are publicly funded and organized and those that are "underground or more hobby-like and unofficial" because: "youth might be able to participate in their own groups, and this activity does not show up in any parameters."

Cohort studies have explored the connections between arts engagement and socioeconomic health factors. (Gordon-Nesbitt, 2015). According to Daykin (2021, p. 51), "traditionally, art activities have tended to be taken up by higher income groups, those who have received more education and reside in asset-rich areas." Another recent large survey examined arts and culture activities and attending events in the US. Both demographic and socioeconomic factors were associated with arts engagement but suggested that many people would like to engage with the arts and culture more but are prevented by matters that affect

people in more vulnerable situations. (Bone et al., 2021.) Bourdieu (1979) notes that art consumption distinguishes classes. Peer groups influence an individual's choice to attend arts and culture activities. More recent research shows that art is increasingly becoming an individual's preference choice (Konijn, 1999). These same notions are present in the context of events and daily life in communities. Interviewee 2 argues that "if [people] found cultural events where they felt like they want to go, things would be better," the largest increase in cultural well-being could be achieved.

Suppose every individual could find a cultural event they desire to attend and where they would experience a sense of belonging. In that case, the largest issue is that there isn't a large enough variety of events. The discourse is strongly related to the funding of culture because those resources create the foundation for participation in cultural activities (Jansson, 2014.) economic thinking seems to be significant concerning cultural well-being and healthcare costs. Some calculations have been made on the effects of art on health (see also Houni, 2019), but in the near future, more numerical information will be necessary (Aholainen et al., 2021).

Interviewee 1 explains how "especially from the 1990s onwards, cultural subsidies adopted a 'well-being from culture' instrumental view that culture can increase well-being, or vitality, or tourism" and the larger turn in the financial policy aims of the Finnish Ministry of Education and Culture began to fund cultural projects in the 90s, "which taught the professionals in the culture field to fit this affair." Some people see this development as a devaluation of art and that quality artistic subject matter is no longer enough to justify culture. Interviewee 1's opinion is that "speaking from an instrumental point of view and of the functions that have aimed to produce benefits, which are important, but in my opinion less important than the other societal effects than what art experiences are. "A notion of focusing on content quality can increase focus on diverse programming and art experience.

The Finnish government allocates funds for arts and culture mainly through the public institution TAIKE, which has many different projects with subsidies that can

be applied depending on the conditions defined by the government strategy. One of the factors that the promotion of cultural well-being still is not rooted in national and regional cultural services is that it is simultaneously viewed as a segment under the social and healthcare field, in which case it should be funded as such. Most Finnish public funding is directed to institutions with a so-called guaranteed reach for large audiences. Therefore, this funding is the most beneficial to those who already participate. (Purhonen et al., 2014, pp. 396, 421; Virolainen, 2015, pp. 38–40, 97).

Many municipalities have succeeded in their important work to advance cultural well-being by using their project funding. However, simultaneously a common experience is that the cultural well-being-specific project funding is so scarce that it is very complicated to come through with them. (Fancourt et al., 2021; Houni et al., 2020, pp. 221–222), But the scale of the operation is still quite modest in many areas, and the organization of the operations is often unclear (Anttila et al., 2022, p. 22). According to (Jumppanen & Suutari, 2013, p. 42), actors in the cultural sector felt that stakeholders in charge of funding were preconceived about the project of the cultural field and that cultural projects needed extra vindication; the cultural impact or impact of the research was not enough, but business economic and entrepreneurial requirements had to be fulfilled as well. In a 2021 study by Fortier and Coulter, participants from all sectors noted that the healthcare sector is constantly changing in terms of new and competing priorities and funding new initiatives. This affects the foundation to organize collaboration to achieve the sought impact.

The administration's aims lean towards economic, social exclusion, and communality. However, it is the content that is most related to the aims in line with the authentic needs of the individuals. Hyttinen (2022, p. 15) notes that culture cannot define the effects on well-being from the outside, nor can culture omnipotently impact people or their well-being, but everything is born from their wishes and needs.

Agendas that increase cultural well-being have been included in Finnish national and municipal policies in multiple focus areas created to distinguish between helping and bettering different people groups' lives. It is not a newly-identified issue that the provided services in the intersection of creativity and social and healthcare are not highly prioritized. Likely because of this, the correlation between art interventions and enhanced subjective well-being has been studied extensively. Successful integration of arts and creativity into policy and practice appears inoperable to many political challenges in international and national contexts and then the changing discussions about the methodologies used to evaluate arts and culture in cultural well-being research (Daykin, 2019, pp. 6–20; Mowlah et al., 2014).

The growing economic challenges that have resulted in a lack of human resources make it more evident that different sectors need each other. Some actors also felt funding is less of a problem than properly organizing things. (Jumppanen & Suutari, 2013, pp. 27, 37.) Work could be done to broker dialogue between arts organizations and the healthcare sector. "Making the evidence base more accessible to non-academics, identifying the gaps in evidence and influencing research policy to fill them, and promulgating research findings to influence health planning and decision-making are all areas that would benefit from agreement across sectors and stronger coordination." (Howarth, 2017.) Cocreating cultural well-being promotion between different actors, for instance, crossing sectoral borders, is very fruitful.

Due to the scarcity of resources, synergy benefits are essential (Houni, 2021, p. 89). Short-term experiments with cultural well-being content in healthcare have been successful, but feedback from the healthcare workers is contradictory (Jumppanen & Suutari, 2013, p. 27; Pirkanmaa Hospital District & TAIKE, 2017). The current healthcare crisis and the healthcare system's reluctance to value humane working conditions (YLE, 2022) do not give an impression of it being fruitful soil for more multidisciplinary collaboration and integration of creative service approaches.

Researchers who have seen through many government programs concerning cultural well-being call for listening more to the subjective experiences of the individuals. They argue that examining the needs for well-being benefits should be done through the needs of the individuals, not the needs of the administration. (von Brandenburg, 2012, pp. 258, 260–261.)

The separately funded projects of the institutions are directed towards othered target groups simultaneously as the projects are not assumed to influence the development of their 'normal' audience. (Ilmola-Sheppard et al., 2021.) In practice, the development of the cultural well-being field is often different from short-term projects with specific target groups and themes.

The arts and culture can help save money on health services and social care through prevention (Howarth, 2017), but it is not viewed as an investment. One way to increase the collaboration between social and healthcare fields and the culture field would be to show how culture increases well-being to the extent of creating savings. What might become the problem is which budget would fund this experimental project. (Jumppanen & Suutari, 2013, p. 27). As for successful cultural well-being operations that include events, interviewee 1 talks about a pilot based on the Finnish 'Percent for Art'-model: "it is not only used to purchase pieces of visual art but 'Percent for Culture' where a portion of the budget of a construction project was channeled to cultural activity and events to strengthen the community and to increase the locals' well-being."

The question of doing art for art's sake, the value of art, the aims of projects using art instrumentally, and whether art is devalued or is more important than wellbeing promotion is not solved. Interviewee 1's opinion is that "the art experience itself has separate well-being experiences," which can affect change. Just art, not the effect of cultural well-being or event. Interviewee 1 wants to make a distinction between projects and activities that have an outlined instrumental goal to increase the well-being of their participants and "those who legitimize their operations by producing high-quality art." The effects of culture and art can be grouped as either instrumental or intrinsic (McCarthy et al., 2004; Novak-Leonard et al., 2014; Polzella & Forbis, 2014). 'Instrumental' relates to the arts as means to pursue "socially beneficial goals such as economic growth and human development and thus are of value to all people— be them involved in the arts or not." 'Intrinsic comprises' "captivation, pleasure, expanded capacity of empathy, cognitive growth, creation of social bonds and bridges, and expression of communal meanings." (Węziak-Białowolska et al., 2019.)

Challenges are well understood and addressed by the literature. The restrictions, limitations, and problems are positive incentives for the further development of models and research. Recommendations are also given in abundance, and those recommendations are further located to the cultural well-being clauses of the law's mandates. This, to me, seems to be where we are currently at. The more recommendations surface, the more influence is hoped to have to affect putting the strategies into practice and support the variety and longevity of operations and projects.

The intersection of subjective experiences and the valued state of arts and culture is also a matter of professionalism. Some issues can arise from cultural wellbeing being a multidisciplinary field. Established degree programs are missing or very recent. Scientific studies concerning creativity, health, arts and culture, and well-being are done by researchers of different backgrounds. Often researchers with a natural sciences background do not have a corresponding degree in the humanities. For example, someone could have studied health promotion through the arts but have credentials in neuroscience and music. Unfortunately, when the organizer of the activity is a national or regional institution, the employees in charge of the arts and culture activity job description consists of other main responsibilities (Jumppanen & Suutari, 2013, p. 27). They are usually a teacher, a nurse, a librarian, a social worker, or a project coordinator, and when a new project or piloted operation begins, its addition to the employee's original responsibilities and new resources are not provided.

When experiences of creativity, arts, and culture are inevitably subjective but also experienced collectively, individuals can become experts by experience (Jumppanen & Suutari, 2013, p. 30). Mixed with a complementary background in the social and health field, this combination has become the preceding requirement for cultural well-being pioneers. Being an expert by experience can also result in science and arts and culture amateurs getting involved in the other sectors of society, for example, entrepreneurs, teachers, and politicians. One problem is that the arts and culture subsidies are often directed to artists and specific art content, not for larger developmental purposes or to solidify piloted projects. This is, for instance, echoed by the observations of Silvanto & Hellman (2005), noting that a new generation of festival arrangers, where a growing number are amateurs of their respective arts.

Interviewee 2 sees a multitude of expressions of "[arts and culture activities, hobbies, and productions] and for instance, sports tournaments are cultural events" This supports the idea that all events are cultural events and that many arts and culture activities are eventful. Lilja-Viherlampi & Rosenlöf (2019, p. 21) list other aspects of cultural well-being as art hobbies and activities, self-expressions and interaction through arts and culture, and experiencing arts and culture by attending events and situations where art is available. Events are listed here and there, but mainly as showcases of operations in cultural well-being publications, pinnacles of a project, but not as the procedure. Interviewee 2 thinks that events facilitating interaction "is quite self-evident, but it is forgotten by many in the light of how events are currently viewed overall."

With just little investigation, the strategies behind cultural well-being promotion reveal that most creativity and arts and culture interventions are done in the form of events. The great discrepancy is that eventful activities themselves are not recognized as an instrument in the development processes. For most, events are not mentioned in strategies, but they exist between the lines as one of the main expressions of communal cultural activity. This is very similar to the lack of usage of the term cultural well-being in culture, health-promoting strategies, and the law. To propose a solution using cultural events, interviewee 2 thinks that the promotion of cultural well-being would generate more voluntary participation in events that stem from the individuals' interest and connection to different arts and cultural expressions: "in practice, most of all, cultural well-being is the organized networks and communities around culture, and from these multiple networks and communities there is one that would suit my mind."

As means of art production, festivals can serve cultural policy with different emphases throughout their operations. Events facilitate participation for the citizenry in culture and art, offer opportunities to participate in arts and culture activities, provide employment opportunities for artists, and create preconditions for business in their regions of function due to the network-like nature production models. The cultural, social, and economic impact of art and culture festivals realizes and shows up through the production operations on local, national, and international levels. From the perspective of cultural policy, festivals have become an even more central phenomenon (Ruusuvirta, 2016), of which the public funding mechanisms have been expediently developed and optimized in the 2010s.

Simultaneously, a discussion of the role of art and culture festivals as the invigorator of the host locations and the economy has been taking place. From the point of view of cultural policy, the research in these discussions has been directed more towards the observation of the impact and the questions of what benefits festivals can foster from the point of view of the habitants. The instrumental attitude growing in the discussion of the meanings of culture has been reflected in the research of cultural events. The events funded by the public sector have had more expectations for them to impact the economy both directly and indirectly. Meanwhile, the political and societal pressure to evaluate or calculate the effects of festivals has grown. (Luonila et al., 2019, p. 4, pp. 25, 31.)

Showing a connection to the insight about measuring experience and the theorybacked effects events have on subjective well-being, interviewee 1 recalls: "attending festivals is extremely important for cohesion, communality, and shared experiences, as well as what is being performed there." In relation interviewee 2 emphasizes that "in local events and culture, small phenomena can carry very large meaning in their networks." The groups that create communality and contribute greatly to sensing belonging can be small in size, and culturally very insignificant events and activities might have a strong sense of meaning in the social environments of those segments.

Interviewee 1 explains their opinion about differentiating art projects: "I somehow automatically make a slight separation between those projects and operations that do not have communicated aims to promote the well-being of the participants but legitimize their functions by producing high-quality art. And then, what happens to the experience or when it is measured is likely very similar to those projects with the well-being promotional aims, but how effects are measured and interpreted is probably very different."

According to interviewee 3, "specific dimensions of subjective well-being have a great influence on mental health, and mental health problems are very expensive to treat, affecting the GNP because if one has severe mental health issues, one cannot increase the GNP." According to interviewee 1, the agency created by activity and activation is the factor of cultural events that contribute to national health through meaningful interaction and being in contact with people.

Evaluating individuals' subjective well-being is used the most to measure the effects that cultural well-being projects have on subjective well-being and the experiences the individuals had. Interviewee 1 sees that: "because of people's different consumption habits of culture and cultural products, an individual's relationship to agency and participation can range substantially, which makes it hard to make statements about them categorically." The methods of measuring cultural well-being are scattered. Using existing methods can be difficult on a municipal level, where the needed measurement method or practice must be applied to observe the effects of multiple functions. The same goes for an international level as well. Multidisciplinary factors also count into making measurement very varied. (Hyttinen, 2022, p. 30.) According to Daykin (2021, p. 56), "Some fear that the adoption of standard evaluation frameworks that require identification of measurable outcomes in advance may distort their aims and obscure their successes."

A lack of appropriate indicators has sparked criticism, but so have the indicators in use. Antikainen et al. (2018, pp. 17, 42) state that Finland has developed few indicators to measure cultural well-being, and the current measurement methods do not enable observation of well-being effects according to the needs of knowledge. As for voicing problems and limitations about measuring subjective well-being, interviewee 3 lists that "bridging is an area of social well-being that should be more observed, the most common perspectives are usually making acquaintances, getting to know new people, and creating new networks."

A large number of well-being studies use questionnaires and surveys to assess. Many do not have questions of experience, nor is there a possibility to give a descriptive reply. When asking questions about event experiences, the questions are generally about the artistic content, like questions about a musical performance or questions about a specific painting. There have been few studies about causal links, but they are inconcise. It remains an open question whether there is no causality or depends on the studies' specific measurement tools for well-being (Węziak-Białowolska et al., 2019). In my opinion, the evidence contrasts the widely accepted concepts of culture increasing well-being because these measurement issues and approaches come from different fields and have different results in the cultural well-being context.

Some interviews are about the overall experience, done with small samples, and the approach is more from the direction is from social sciences. Context is an emotion or a dimension of well-being. In this case, the questions are usually about atmosphere and interactions. Of course, open-ended qualitative interviews are very hard to conduct for a large sample, which is why most studies use Likert scales about quality of life and what emotions are recognized. The Likert scale is the most used basis for a well-being survey in my literature review, often including questions about how dissatisfied or satisfied the participants view themselves overall. The surveys also rarely include perspectives of arts and culture, even if the research would be arts and culture related. Both scales with claims of satisfaction or depression or the cultural well-being experience of the event experience miss the point of the event experience.

Studies about the effects and impact of events often want to know about the impacts on the economy or image in the eyes of the locals or the audience. When a municipality conducts a study about effects, it is always survey-based. Timonen et al. (2022, p. 7) state that compiling and evaluating culture and cultural effect-related well-being information is complicated. In Houni. (2021, p. 16) goal-

oriented cultural operations are defined as" operations designed with specific aims to promote health and well-being" and that it does not exclude the positive effects of cultural operations in general, but that those operations cannot be examined through economic measures. "A deeper understanding of the development of the field needs to recognize that the way its trajectory is shaped by wider social relations," not just by evidence production. (Daykin, 2021, pp. 56– 57)

In addition to the external factors that affect the measurement of the well-being effects of cultural well-being, it has been noted that another challenge is taking an account long-term effects (Lehikoinen & Vanhanen, 2017b, p. 11). Karpusheff (2019, p. 203) argues that "the analytical limitations that evaluating well-being effects have, have generated empirical approaches that are not equipped to demonstrate longer-term changes."

## 5 Discussion and conclusions

In this chapter, I look at the concepts, terminology, and findings of this study in the light of internal consistency, propose a solution to the gaps found in literature and revealed by the interviews, and contemplate a new measurement method for well-being experiences.

### 5.1 Implications of findings

As for a summary of findings, it can be generally said that the studies that measure the benefits of participating in arts and culture activities do not measure the effects of the full extent of participation in events. The focus tends to be on the participant's observations of the art subject or performance as the factor that increases well-being. In addition, more information is needed about the measurement methods to call for more evidence on the effects of well-being experiences. Reports like Hyttinen (2022) and Timonen et al. (2022) have recently started to review this aspect of current cultural well-being operations by investigating how cultural well-being has been measured. Still, experiences and experiences at events are not touched or specified.

My research task' premise is in findings like "both listening to music and attending live events are proven to increase health benefits both physically and mentally" (Dingle et al., 2021) and "live music events offer an opportunity for shared emotions when the audience acts like a like-minded group of people strengthening the personal emotions evoked by the music" (Wood & Kinnunen, 2020). Results like this are well known, but evidence of the well-being effects of arts and culture activities include overlap and contradiction. Researchers have recently criticized especially popularized texts on the impact of the arts. These studies often present general, vague, or even false conclusions and often come with an undercurrent of an aspiring political agenda. (Muurinen, 2016.) While it is believed that "there are indeed benefits to practicing and enjoying cultural activities," '5 amazing benefits of art' type internet and magazine articles are more

likely to create false expectations (Odendaal et al., 2018). Neuromyths are born from "simplifications of scientific results and offer misinformation about, and misinterpretations of, neuroscientific findings" (Muurinen, 2016). "Relational tacit knowledge is only a matter of how particular people relate to each other—either because of their propensities or those they acquire from the local social groups to which they belong" (Collins, 2010). This is why it seems common knowledge that having hobbies is a way to make yourself feel better, have fun, feel mental and physical benefits, and balance one's lifestyle.

Collective knowledge is part of communicating what has previously been shared in a community (Carpendale & Müller, 2014). Most of it exists in the form of people's experiences, the tacit knowledge (Polanyi, 1967). Tacit knowledge refers to personal knowledge, and it is embedded in individuals' experiences involving abstract factors like personal belief systems, ideas, and values (Nonaka et al., 2000). Cultural beliefs are learned and shared across people (Weller, 2007). Cultural knowledge combines beliefs and holdings of justified knowledge developed from persons' experiences and equity. Most of the time, cultural knowledge reflects the questions that are the person's own opinions and shared subjects. Tacit knowledge is shared and externalized through dialogue. (Choo, 2000.) In this case, tacit knowledge about the benefits of culture and art activities could mean listening to music apropos to an emotional response, turning to a creative hobby to better one's mood, or going to a museum to acquire inspiration.

The process of Socialization, Externalization, Combination, and Internalization, the SECI model, creates knowledge in the conversion of tacit. In socialization, the process converts the new tacit knowledge into shared experiences. An example would be for a person to notice a busking musician, realize that they forgot about their grievance for a moment, and then tell about the experience to a friend. In externalization, tacit knowledge becomes explicit knowledge that can be documented. This could be, for instance, a researcher conducting brain imaging to see the physical reaction of looking at a painting and then documenting the findings. The third subject is a combination in which knowledge transforms into explicit and systematic knowledge. An example of a combination could be for an early childhood educator studying the benefits of dance movement for two-year-

olds, the benefits of singing with children under five, and then compiling a booklet of exercising for parents to do at home. The last part of the SECI process is internalization. In internalization, the individuals transform explicit knowledge into tacit knowledge, like the knowledge shared inside a workplace and then converted by the employees. Knowledge creation is always happening, and the process can never be stopped. (Nonaka et al., 2000).

The perceived outcomes of increasing cultural well-being are seen through personal experiences subjectively. Due to this nature, other common characterizations of cultural expressions and their impact create assumptions that feel universal and applicable to almost any activity. This results in the well-being benefits of all culture and art activities being common knowledge, which can be problematic. Because the vast amount of different arts and cultures and creative activities and the findings of the benefits have been popularized, the combined outcome is that the claim of experiencing increased well-being through them has become common knowledge, thus creating a false overall impression called a neuromyth (Odendaal et al., 2018).

Although neuromyths are known to affect societal outcomes and have become a part of academic discourse, they can still falsely influence the findings of certain benefits (Huhtinen-Hildén, 2014; Odendaal et al., 2018). An approach with more nuance in understanding how the arts can affect people could serve as the foundation to clarify the actual implications of the findings. (Belfiore & Bennett, 2010; Huhtinen-Hildén, 2014). Research has found that multiple individuals, social and cultural, define the effects of arts and culture activities and material factors, for example, the ability to take in the art. Previous experiences in arts and culture activities and the matters that affect the choice affect art's influence. (Laitinen 2017b).

A prominent topic of study focuses on the social and communal nature of cultural activities (Nummelin, 2011) and Hyyppä (2007) even goes as far as to say that cultural activities themselves are not linked to well-being. However, the social, communal, and cohesion in the background are. This consists of activities, concrete measures, and services that offer arts and culture substances that offer

meaning and opportunities for individuals' and communities' well-being. Supporting the possibilities of agency and participation is central.

Because the communality of events is considered a notable advantage in building cohesion and social capital (Herranen & Karttunen, 2016, pp. 8–9) and even the Finnish Ministry of Education and Culture notices that festivals are a communal function that has notability on people's well-being and the construction of identity, I question the standing of cultural events regarding these stances. The importance of events to people is very similar to how cultural expression is important to humans, and they hold weight in how identity, sense of community, and sense of belonging are created. However, this connection is not directly made in the context of cultural well-being promotion. Research that observes participation in culture and art activities and events does. This research evidence emphasizes the importance of culture and art activities' benefits of that sense of community. However, I did not find mentions of the outcome being adding eventful activities.

The current situation regarding cultural well-being policies can be evaluated through regional and municipal welfare reports and a growing number of cultural strategies that include well-being goals or cultural well-being strategies that have been drawn as a result of the mandatory welfare reports and the biannual TEAviisari pursuit. It has been observed by, for instance, Houni (2021, p. 36) that these strategies are still novel and quite one-sided, and the work to provide cultural well-being experience for everyone alike has just started. The complexities of cultural well-being terminology can lead to beliefs of non-proven cultural well-being benefits that direct people's thinking instead of facts (Hyyppä, 2013, p. 15). According to Hyyppä (2013, p. 126), it is a bad thing if the positive effects of culture are taken undisputedly without research. The poorer quality of the studies regarding culture and well-being can lead to a situation where due to a lesser understanding of theory, some aspects can be dismissed from research that would be very important to consider in the full process (Laitinen 2017b, pp. 39, 43).

The public funding for the arts seems to be decreasing because there is no indisputable proof of the effects of art and because achieved advantages are never waived. The scarcer and scarcer resources keep being directed to financially secure art products directed towards traditionally valued art forms and established audiences, with large aims of maximizing profits. At the same time, welfare reports are required, and national and municipal strategies call for the use of arts and culture for well-being. Houni (2021, p. 21) comments that suggestions made to promote cultural well-being should remark those entrusted with the responsibility to carry the plans out. This can only be seen in policies' international and national aims. I would also call for transparency in funding. When responsibility is given, it should be concordant with what operations were actually funded.

The big picture of cultural well-being operations, systematic reviews, and corresponding scientific journals vary between medical evidence and embellished descriptions of the beauty and balance of day-to-day lives, which can be supported and deepened by cultural well-being. For example, Ranta-Meyer et al. (2021, p. 13) express that: "small can be big, and giving attention to the beauty of our daily lives can improve our gratitude for them and our environment. And gratitude, if anything, increases subjective well-being and happiness." This tone is found in the conclusions of articles, research papers, and strategies, where the complexities of cultural well-being effects are positioned in a positive light for their positivity.

This is also the general level in designing cultural well-being operations. It alludes that the experiences from arts, culture, and community have the evidence, but the solutions proposed are either very broad or specific or established procedures. Arts and culture activities for well-being promotion and the objectives for well-being promotion in strategies are most commonly described as 'participatory.' In practice, what the term means and how an experience facilitates the experience of increased well-being depends on the participants themselves. (Huhtinen-Hildén, 2014.)

Interestingly a distinct comparison can be made between two types of cultural well-being events. Events organized in a culture and art context and venue, including cultural activities with well-being benefits, are perceived as cultural events if the term well-being is not separately brought up. Events organized in a social and healthcare context are automatically viewed as cultural well-being events, even when a creative or arts and culture subject is not mentioned. This is how innately, events - people coming together to participate in a subject related to a phenomenon are inherently cultural. The well-being aspect of cultural events is also less likely to be mentioned if a social and healthcare field operator does not organize the activity.

Lilja-Viherlampi (2021, p. 79) describes an example of a cultural well-being continuum where every individual experiences music, is creative, and has the prerequisites to express themselves through art. Some have an inclination for a specific artistic expression, and some less, but all of them can be cultivated. They should all be cultivated. Cultural events are an excellent way to facilitate experiences for expression and introduce environments to find ways for people to express themselves and participate.

Like Biaett (2017) noted, demographic differences break down as participants of all ages, races, economic and social classes, gender, and lifestyle lose themselves, bonding and bridging with others in front of the same thing, that thing being and experience at an event or festival with culture and art content. When cultural well-being research has already justified many methods and models to promote well-being, the nature of events is the host for the experience and what can be utilized to reach the individuals. An event's arts and culture contents can also be modified and adapted according to different interests, needs, and aims. The combination of arts and culture and interaction creates an experience of wellbeing that is the most research already comes true in the form of cultural events.

#### 5.2 Discussion

I find myself reflecting on the politics of the context of my research question quite critically, and I want to challenge action with my proposal. I observe the legislation, beginning from the constitution and currently sitting at The Act on Cultural Activities in Local Government (166/2019). I see construct after construct separating and reframing well-being issues and not investing enough to take root. I also think that, as a term, cultural well-being does not have an established definition in public policies.

In contrast, events are highly regarded as a component of urban development. Diverse events are known and emphasized in marketing strategies to make a city more attractive, enhance its habitants' satisfaction by increasing a sense of community and communication and make a difference in the brand image. These types of strategies and studies recognize that the cities' residents' observed wellbeing affects the image it has of their city and that there are recognized means to achieve it. When marketing realizes that cultural events increase people's wellbeing and detail eventful operating is an important tool, but social and healthcare do not. I find this concerning, especially because communality and the intent to increase the sense of community and belonging are dominating themes in the promotional aims of cultural well-being operations.

Also, while different functions of the cultural operation and eventful activities can offer people new means of coping, new outlooks on their lives, and vitalizing experiences within the realm of arts, the challenges that those in vulnerable positions are fazed with cannot be solved who are struggling, they cannot alone solve socioeconomic circumstances or inequality (Daykin, 2021, p. 52). As an unfortunate example of the welfare state, the people who spend the most time in arts and culture activities are the privileged with the most power (Heikkilä & Lindblom, 2022).

Tusa (2002) critiqued government policies towards the arts "for failing to recognize their special nature, stating that the arts are probably instruments for social improvement, agents for social change, for social equality, or for

community harmony, but political demands set a list of challenges which are not intrinsic to the arts, are distant from their true nature, and all of which could be antithetical to their basic functions and purposes." From an intrinsic point of view, "arts have been used to communicate, to express feelings and thoughts, to reflect on experiences, and for therapeutic intent as well. Art has been used to deliver messages that are not easily articulated, such as after profound experiences where thoughts may not be expressible in words." (Fraser & al Sayah, 2011.) Because events innately incorporate culture and communality, I propose that they should be recognized as the instrument they are to expand the promotion of cultural well-being.

Despite the government programs and fruitful regional projects, accessibility still has a long way to go. As a cultural event producer, I find the absence of the instrumental use of cultural events in culture strategies and cultural well-being strategies mind-boggling, a blind spot. When a coordinator has a tool innate to the operating model of creating community, gathering people around a specific subject, reaching specific audiences, and enriching common customs, it is extremely interesting that it is not brought up and invested in.

I also want to highlight a critique from Karpusheff (2019, p. 217), where they note that "assertions of the value of cultural activities are largely derived from the views of funders, providers, and researchers. That they present the 'official' narrative that appears in the literature, which represents either the assumptions of providers of cultural activities, who argue that the intrinsic value of participation delivers a 'common good' experience for participants, or the expected instrumental value of funders, which often assumes that taking part can lead to being economically 'productive.'"

What I think needs to be done is to develop what constitutes an event. This would include what is seen as the main substance of the event, the idea, and the angle the production has for the outcome. So much of the culture and art activity is eventful. The perspective to see the existing creative, arts, and culture activity in hospices, elementary schools, libraries, and peer groups for immigrants or the unemployed as the inception of increasing well-being through events is missing.

In these kinds of examples, the well-being effects come from both participation and the influence of the culture and arts content. I notion that piloted forms of operation should look at the eventful activity already present in cultural well-being measures, culture and art activities, and community activities from the same angle that the process development projects have been approaching cultural well-being promotion as a whole.

At the core of event production is the questions of who the event is; how the audiences are reached; what is being offered to them and why, and what would be the best experience to be offered to the participants. These areas innately include well-being aspects: the main environments and networks of the target audience, the different backgrounds of the demographic are the host to different interests, creativity and aspirations, existing communities, different sub-cultures, and traditions, but also matters like challenging circumstances, trauma, illness, and inequality.

A cultural event can offer substance and content to promote well-being from many perspectives. It has the means to facilitate whichever mission and vision a project has or any means to increase well-being the most.

The means of operation should examine where the creativity of the event is, what is the art of the event, how and what aspects of culture are present and find and embrace the overlapping well-being factors. These are the building blocks for creating a cultural well-being strategy or intervention. A one-time or recurring event is flexible enough to function as either or both.

The most important areas of development are not new approaches, there are plenty, and new creative ideas never end, especially in the creative arts and culture field. The opportunity to produce communal cultural content and harness the innate sense of belonging and community needs to be recognized as the most impactful elements of event production. These notions need to extend to what is viewed as the more practical matter of production, like organization, coordination, projects management, communications, and marketing. All of the different areas of the production of a cultural event hold possibilities for creativity and collaboration. Elements of event production can all be put to service to create impact through the experience.

When considering the launch of a cultural event project, creating new aims for departments, and thus creating more responsibility for employees in the cultural services, healthcare services, and the arts and culture field, the question of cost cannot be avoided. I would contrast creating and innovating something new with expanding what is already there. The cultural well-being events originally organized in the arts and culture context could already be counted in the cultural well-being promotion operations as they are.

From my point of view, as a producer, additional responsibilities could be avoided if the resources would just be redirected. It could be argued that making that investment of directing more resources to the activity that already has eventful aspects would not overload the employees. Suppose the resources provided for an eventful approach to cultural well-being were more paid hours for the coordinator or bringing in more professionals for project management purposes. In that case, promoting cultural well-being could be given a footing. One possible approach is to monetize the well-being benefits of culture and art activities using the well-being valuation approach (Fujiwara & Campbell, 2011) so that the value of the benefits can be compared against the costs of the investments and programs (Fujiwara & MacKerron, 2015, p.12), especially if regional governance views events as more of a commercial goal.

According to Timonen et al. (2022, p. 9), generalizing individual events could enable describing the creating well-being effects of culture, which would help reveal, for instance, the well-being effects and the benefits of cultural projects in the municipalities and well-being services counties well-being and health promoting operations. In the future, it will be important to create multidisciplinary tools to value the impact that will focus on designated areas, especially when discussing the social, cultural, and economic effects created by culture and art festivals on a local, national and international level. One recommendation for developing measurement tools would be to observe effects from artistic premises. A survey could, for instance, look into how and how much festivals base their content on new artistic endeavors. The social impacts of the festival could be observed by setting up questions on participation, agency, and accessibility. Longitudinal examinations would allow information about the operational models and the festival's development. (Luonila et al., 2019, p. 5.)

Haanpää et al. (2020) composed a report on the statistical knowledge base of the field of arts and culture in Finland. They pointed out very appropriate criticism of the operations and functions highlighted. The measurement of experiences is adjacent to the topics of the report but measuring them is not something that is wanted to be increased; measuring impact is. These are great premises for future research.

The field should be especially interested in the well-being benefits of cultural events, what specific things I think should be taken into account when measuring those effects, what would be the most suitable, and what should be changed. I am interested in measuring experience, what experiences and impact experiences have, and what effects experience through cultural events has. Making parameters to measure an experience at a cultural event can require more complexity than an existing scale. However, as a method, it would not be different from measuring subjective well-being. I propose an applied questionnaire with event-specific objectives. Cultural organizations and institutions should also collect data on momentary well-being and experience. "This data could also be linked with specific interventions and activities to provide a more fine-grained level of analysis on the drivers of affective well-being in the cultural sector" (Fujiwara & MacKerron, 2015, p. 12).

Hyttinen (2022, p. 33) considers the immaterial nature of culture in itself an important point of view and a reason to evaluate whether the measurement of cultural well-being is always necessary if the effects can be observed and stated without specific measurement. However, I think the well-being effects of cultural events need to be backed up with heft. It can still be argued if there already is enough evidence of participation and cultural contents of events. To influence strategies, significant findings seem to be necessary.

Haanpää et al. (2020) point out in the findings that defining events and festivals is overall recognized as problematic, and the general eventification of culture blurs both terms (Kainulainen, 2015), but it would be more essential to gain more accurate knowledge that can have a large regional value. The most criticism was directed at the indicators of the statistics run by Finland Festivals, which does not cover all significant festivals, and thus creates a limited picture of the size of the event sector. Some survey replies from pilot regions were concerned that the indicators might negatively affect the impressions the local policy-makers might have on the meaning of the event sector. It was mentioned that the indicators should express what events they concern, and their definitions should be broadened. It was also requested that the differences between the definitions of event and cultural event would be recorded. Statistics for the cultural operations in the third sector were called, but recommendations about what to include in them were nonexistent. (Haanpää et al., 2020, p. 114.) Aholainen et al. (2021, p. 565) argue that measurement that focuses on savings and efficiency instead of the well-being of people should be criticized because this can indicate talk with political aspirations. Measuring experienced well-being has the benefit that due to the subjective measurements and the information gained from them, the possibility that politicians would base decisions on something like hearsay can be avoided (Martela & Ahokas, 2021, p. 4). According to Simpura and Uusitalo (2011, pp. 106–107), it is worth considering whether measuring well-being topdown is even possible without the individual's subjective evaluation or what factors would be chosen if an objective evaluation were conducted.

Financially directed procedures distance the actors who are supported by volunteers and who are financially supported. It also rules out the arts and art education based on accessibility, that does not produce any apparent financial gains, is hierarchical, has its resources determined for its benefit, as well as exploits art's resources for finance, and forces the art field to justify its basic operations from the point of view of financial gain. Art that supports healthcare and healing and is seen as therapeutic is named 'hospital art.' As a result, fine-

arts professionals, higher-level education, and elite audiences consider it lesser than and thus do not include it within their premises. (Ilmola-Sheppard et al., 2021.)

The impact-orientation of operations, systematization, and creating criteria can become an obstacle if there are not a lot of project resources or the requirements are too high (Anttila et al., 2022, p. 22). Laitinen (2017b, p. 42) points out that qualitative research enables the collection of the factors that give the most meaning to the participants of arts and culture activities or experiences and that studies should follow more diverse criteria than just biological and medical models. This opposing view is not uncommon. According to Daykin (2021, p. 56), evidence-based evaluation frameworks can be seen as "medicalized, disempowering for artists and participants, and contrary to their creative ethos" (Skingley et al., 2011; Swan & Atkinson, 2012) by some actors in the arts and culture field. Anttila et al. (2022, p. 20) argue that the sparsity of impact evaluation can become a problem if the well-being services counties of Finland choose to invest based on the principles of what has the most impact. There is no knowledge of cultural well-being models.

According to Houni et al. (2020, p. 191), a good measurement method for cultural well-being would direct operations and evaluate their quality, evaluate the journey towards the impact goal, would cover all aspects of an impact and its stages, give evidence of short-term and long-term changes, produce information from the perspective of different stakeholders, including subjective, objective, qualitative and quantitative methods and that would mesh well with the operators' practices. Martela and Ahokas (2021, p. 4) list three integral reasons to measure experienced well-being on a national level: experienced well-being reveals information that other methods cannot measure, experienced well-being as a measurement method is proactive and reactive, and the researched data reveals the citizenry's experiences equally.

#### 5.3 Research reliability

Some matters of translation should be addressed in light of research reliability. In Finnish, the word for cultural well-being is 'kulttuurihyvinvointi' and is used throughout TAIKE. They provide services in the matters of the arts and culture field and the social and healthcare field, which they call 'kulttuurihyvinvoinnin asiantuntijapalvelut .'What I have translated to 'cultural well-being,' TAIKE has translated into 'art health and wellbeing' advisory services (TAIKE, 2022, n.d.). The TAIKE publication 'Art! A handbook of Art, Health and Wellbeing' (Houni et al., 2020, p. 17) includes a footnote of the translation of the term being both 'art, health and wellbeing' and 'cultural wellbeing.' Taikusydän Arts and Health Coordination Centre of Finland, which uses the Finnish term as I do, translate it in their material to 'creative wellbeing' (Taikusydän, 2018). A membership organization for creative health across England has chosen to be called The Culture, Health and Wellbeing Alliance (The Culture, Health & Wellbeing Alliance, n.d.). Norma Daykin, professor emerita in Arts in Health at UWE (University of the West of England) in Bristol, uses both 'arts, health and wellbeing' (Daykin, 2019, pp. 19–31) and 'creativity, health and wellbeing' (Daykin, 2022). These are all terms that, in the Finnish translation, are connected to the umbrella term. In this study, it is suitable to use the term cultural well-being to include these variations, to show the similarities between the different operations, and to address the breadth of arts and culture activities as the source of well-being. However, it could be argued that because the same is not done in all of the source material, some examples contribute to the generalization of the effects of art on well-being.

This study focuses on the cultural well-being policies of Finland. However, I have intended to use the remarks and examples of policy changes and findings as generalizable and comparable to other research in the same context and using similar concepts from various international frameworks. Some examples can be interchangeable, and it can be argued that not every comparison is identical. It can also be debated whether articles set in the policy context of other countries can be used as sources. In my literature review, I address the problem of construct validity because my research concerns experiences with multiple ways of measurement, and the measurable indicators vary. The concepts I focus on vary across different periods and social settings. It can also be argued that if the data fully represents the aims of my research. "Transferability is the ability to transfer research findings from one context to another; the more descriptive, the more there can be fittingness" (Leavy, 2017, p. 154), which I aim to achieve with triangulation. (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

I believe this research's trustworthiness increases because I also collected data through qualitative interviews in addition to the literature review. The same correlation defined by the concepts describing my research question and task is found in both texts and shows convergent validity. This also increases the quality.

My researcher's bias could be argued as my choice of judgment sampling. Jackson (2021, p. 136) calls the "two main weaknesses of authoritative sampling are the authority and the sampling process; both pertain to the reliability and the bias that accompanies the sampling technique." The risk with judgment sampling is that I could exercise judgment as the researcher on the informants' reliability, knowledge, and skill (Godambe, 1982). There could be a risk that, as a researcher, I would choose a sample to establish my professional and personal opinions on matters of event production and cultural well-being in the cultural field and the policy. To avoid sampling error brought by the experts, I required overlapping that is less represented in my research field and the public conversation about cultural well-being and events. A small number of participants can make up a sufficient judgment sample as long as the information that the research task and question require is attained (Bernard, 2002). I wanted the interviews to have as much generalizability and trustworthiness as possible for a specific topic, and the participants' backgrounds added to this.

It could be argued that my research does not allow generalization when showing the connections between my literature review and interviews or a that the sample sizes affect trustworthiness and generalizability. "Despite its inherent bias, purposive sampling can provide reliable and robust data. The strength of the method actually lies in its intentional bias" (Palinkas et al., 2015). The judgment sampling method relying on my prior professional knowledge was the most in favor of my research task's and question's context and rationale. A focused "purposeful sampling strategy for qualitative analysis that 'complements' a broader focused probability sample for quantitative analysis may help to achieve a balance between increasing inference quality/trustworthiness (internal validity) and generalizability/transferability (external validity)" (Palinkas et al., 2015). (Bernard, 2002; Poggie, 1972; Tremblay 1957.)

The interviews' themes and codes include both professional and personal opinions. It can be problematic to draw the line between them when professional and academic background and knowledge could be viewed as a validation of that opinion as an argument. A choice had to be made on how much these arguments are considered as a part of the interpretation of the data. In some cases, the interviewees addressed their replies themselves and made a difference between the stance they were replying from. I could also be accused of cherry-picking. Content analysis already involves subjective interpreting, which can affect the quality of the results and conclusions, and this research is about subjective operationalization experiences. The cannot be poor. Inappropriate conceptualizations of agency, participation, cultural event, well-being effect, and experience leave this body of research open to critique.

In a judgement sample, the interpretation is limited to the interviewed segment (Bernard, 2002). Semi-structured interviews can be viewed as having a lower validity than structured interviews (Heneman, 1975), but the benefits of deeper reflections outweigh the other options. "The greater variety of relevant information that can be gathered via open-ended probes during a more unstructured interview can increase the validity of the interview method" (Chauhan, 2022). Other weaknesses of semi-structured interviews are that their flexibility may imply to some that there could be reliability issues. Less structured interviews can ensure that the participants do not leave out important issues regarding the research

topic. However, there is a danger that "respondents may convey irrelevant information to the researcher while the chances of researcher bias and misunderstanding cannot be ruled out." The success of obtaining information also relies on whether I was able to be the highly skilled interviewer that semi-structured interviews require (Hofisi et al., 2014).

# Bibliography

Act on Cultural Activities in Local Government 166/2019. <u>https://www.finlex.fi/en/laki/kaannokset/2019/en20190166.pdf</u>

Aholainen, M., Jäntti, S., Tammela, A., & Tanskanen, J. (2021). Miten taide vaikuttaa? Kulttuurisia näkökulmia hyvinvointiin ja terveyteen. *Lääkärilehti, 76*(9), 564–568. http://urn.fi/URN:NBN:fi:jyu-202103091902

Aldskogius, H. (1993). Festivals and Meets: The Place of Music in 'Summer Sweden.' *Geografiska Annaler. Series B, Human Geography, 75*(2), 55. https://doi.org/10.2307/490700

Allardt, E. (1976). Hyvinvoinnin ulottuvuuksia. WSOY.

Allen, J., O'Toole, W., Harris, R., & McDonnell, I. (2010). *Festival and Special Event Management* (5th ed.). John Wiley & Sons.

Antikainen, J., Haanpää, S., Laasonen, V., & Siltanen, K. (2018). *Kulttuurin aluetietoperustan esiselvitys* [Preliminary study of the culture-related regional information base]. (Publications of the Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland 2018:37). Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland. <u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-263-602-7</u>

Anttila, S., Kuusisto, E., & Siltanen, K., MDI. (2022). *Selvitys kulttuurihyvinvointipalvelujen toimintamalleista kunnissa ja perustettavilla hyvinvointialueilla 2022.* Ministry of Education and Culture, Ministry of Social Affairs and Health.

Appadurai, A. (1990). Disjuncture and Difference in the Global Cultural Economy. *Theory, Culture & Society, 7*(2–3), 295–310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/026327690007002017</u>

Arcodia, C., & Whitford, M. (2006). Festival attendance and the development of social capital. *Journal of Convention and Event Tourism 8*(2), 1– 18. https://doi.org/10.1300/J452v08n02\_01

Arts Promotion Centre Finland (TAIKE). (n.d.) *Art health and wellbeing advisory services*. <u>https://www.taike.fi/fi/art-health-and-wellbeing-advisory-services</u>

Association of Finnish Local and Regional Authorities (2021). *Kulttuuri- ja kirjastopalvelut.* AFLRA. <u>https://www.kuntaliitto.fi/kulttuuri-ja-kirjastopalvelut</u>

von Brandenburg, C. (2008). *Kulttuurin ja hyvinvoinnin välisistä yhteyksistä. Näköaloja taiteen soveltavaan käyttöön*. (Publications of the Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland 2008:12). Ministry of Education and Culture, Department for Cultural, Sport and Youth Policy. <u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-485-516-7</u>

von Brandenburg, C. (2012). Taiteen hyödyntämisestä hyvinvoinnin edistämisessä. In Honkasalo M-L., & Salm, H. (Eds.). *Terveyttä kulttuurin ehdoilla* (pp. 243–266). K&H kustannus.

Belfiore, E., & Bennett, O. (2008). *The social impact of the arts: an intellectual history*. Palgrave Macmillan.

Belfiore, E., & Bennett, O. (2010). Beyond the 'Toolkit Approach': Arts Impact Evaluation Research and the Realities of Cultural Policy-Making. *Journal for Cultural Research, 14*(2), 121–

142, https://doi.org/10.1080/14797580903481280

Benner, P., & Wrubel, J. (1989). *The primacy of caring: Stress and coping in health and illness*. Addison-Wesley.

Bennett, A., Taylor, J., & Woodward, I., (2014). Introduction. In A. Bennet & J. Taylor (Eds.). *The festivalization of culture* (pp. 1–10). Ashgate.

Bernard, H.R. (2002). *Research Methods in Anthropology: Qualitative and quantitative methods.* (3rd ed.). AltaMira Press.

Biaett, V. (2013). Exploring the on-site behavior of attendees at community festivals: A social constructivist grounded theory approach [Doctoral dissertation, Arizona State University] KEEP. http://hdl.handle.net/2286/R.I.17788

Biaett, V. (2017). Organic festivity. A missing element of community festival. In A. Jepson & A. Clarcke (Eds.). *Exploring Community Festivals and Events* (pp. 17–30). Routledge.

Binnie, J. (2010). Does Viewing Art in the Museum Reduce Anxiety and Improve Wellbeing? *Museums & Social Issues, 5*(2), 191– 201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1179/msi.2010.5.2.191</u>

Bone, J. K., Bu, F., Fluharty, M. E., Paul, E., Sonke, J. K., & Fancourt, D. (2021). Who engages in the arts in the United States? A comparison of several types of engagement using data from The General Social Survey. *BMC Public Health*, *21*(1), 1349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11263-0</u>

Bourdieu, P. (1979). *The inheritors: French students and their relation to culture.* University of Chicago Press.

Konijn, Elly A. 1999. Spotlight on spectators: Emotions in the theater. Discourse Processes 28(2), 169–194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01638539909545079</u>

Bowdin, G., O'Toole, W., Allen, J., Harris, R., & McDonnell, I., (2006). *Events Management* (2nd ed.). Routledge.

Brown, A.S., & Ratzkin, R. (2012). Measuring the intrinsic impact of live theatre. In C. Lord (Ed.). *Counting new beans: Intrinsic impact and the value of art* (pp. 65–164). Theatre Bay Area.

Brown, S., & Trimboli, D (2011). The real 'worth' of festivals: challenges for measuring socio-cultural impacts. *Asia Pacific Journal of Arts & Cultural Management* 8(1), 616–629.

Buck, N., & McFall, S. (2012). Understanding society: Design overview. *Longitudinal and Life Course Studies, 3*(1), 5–17. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.14301/llcs.v3i1.159</u>

Bungay, H., & Clift, S. (2010). Arts on prescription: a review of practice in the U.K. *Perspectives in public health, 130*(6), 277–281. https://doi.org/10.1177/1757913910384050

Burgess, J. (1992). The cultural politics of nature conservation and economic development. In K. Anderson & F. Gale (Eds.). *Inventing places, studies in cultural geography* (pp. 235–251). Longman Cheshire.

Burns, J. P. A., Hatch, J. H., & Mules, T.J. (1986). *The Adelaide grand prix: The impact of a special event*. The Centre for South Australian Economic Studies.

Bygren, L. O., Johansson, S-E., Konlaan, B. B., Grjibovski, A. M., Wilkinson, A.
V., & Sjöström, M. (2009). Attending cultural events and cancer mortality: A
Swedish cohort study. *Arts & Health: An International Journal of Research, Policy and Practice, 1*(1), 64–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17533010802528058</u>

Carpendale, J. I. M., & Müller, U. (Eds.). (2004). Social Interaction and the Development of Knowledge. Psychology Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781410609649</u> Chauhan, R. S. (2022). Unstructured interviews: are they really all that bad? *Human Resource Development International, 25*(4), 474–487. https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2019.1603019

Choo, C. W. (2000). Working with knowledge: how information professionals help organisations manage what they know, *Library Management*, 21(8), 395–403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/01435120010342770</u>

Collins, H. (2010). Tacit and Explicit Knowledge. University of Chicago Press.

Crawford, P., Brown, B. J., & Charise, A. (2020). *The Routledge Companion to Health Humanities.* Routledge.

Communications MDR. (2016). *Environmental Scan of the Culture Sector Ontario Culture Strategy Background Document.* https://files.ontario.ca/books/mtcs\_environmental\_scan\_of\_the\_cultu re sector en 0.pdf

Council of the European Union. (2018). *Council conclusions on the Work Plan for Culture 2019-2022* (2018/C 460/10). <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52018XG1221%2801%29&qid=16640213912</u> 21

Cudny, W., Korec, P., Rouba, R. (2012). Resident's perception of festivals – the case study of Lodz, *Sociológia – Slovak Sociological Review, 44*(6), 704–728. https://doi.org/10.2478/v10197-011-0021-7

Cudny, W. (2016). *Festivalisation of urban spaces*. Springer Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-31997-1</u>

Cudny, W. (2020). The Concept of Place Event Marketing: Setting the Agenda. In W. Cudny (Ed.). *Urban Events, Place Branding and Promotion: Place Event Marketing* (pp. 3–21). Routledge

The Culture, Health & Wellbeing Alliance. (n.d.) *About the Alliance*. Retrieved 22.9.2022 from: https://www.culturehealthandwellbeing.org.uk/who-we-are/about-alliance

Daykin, N., & Joss, T. (2016). *Arts for health and wellbeing: An evaluation and development framework.* Public Health England.

Daykin, N., Mansfield, L., Meads, C., Julier, G., Tomlinson, A., Payne, A., Grigsby Duffy, L., Lane, J., D'Innocenzo, G., Burnett, A., Kay, T., Dolan, P., Testoni, S., & Victor, C. (2017). What works for wellbeing? A systematic review of wellbeing outcomes for music and singing in adults. *Perspectives in Public Health, 138*(1), 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1177/1757913917740391

Daykin, N. (2019). *Arts, Health and Well-Being: A Critical Perspective on Research, Policy and Practice.* Routledge.<u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429356049</u>

Daykin, N. (2021). Creativity, health and wellbeing: challenges of research and evidence. *Musiikki-lehti*, *51*(4), 50–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.51816/musiikki.113249</u>

Daykin, N., & Coulter, A. (Eds). (2021). *Culture, Health and Wellbeing International Conference 2021 (CHW21): Research Proceedings.* Exeter: Arts & Health South West. <u>https://www.ahsw.org.uk/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2021/07/CHW21-Conference-Research-Proceedings-June-</u> <u>2021-PDF.pdf</u>

Dewey, J. (1934). Art as experience. Perigee Books.

Diener, E. (1984). Subjective well-being. *Psychological Bulletin,* 95(3), 542– 575. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.95.3.542</u>

Diener, E. (2000). Subjective well-being: The science of happiness, and a proposal for a national index. American Psychologist, 55, 34–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.34</u>

Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsen, R. J., & Griffin, S. (1985). The Satisfaction With Life Scale. *Journal of Personality Assessment, 49*(1), 71– 75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa4901\_13</u>

Diener, E., & Suh, E. M. (Eds.). (2000). *Culture and Subjective Well-Being.* MIT Press.

Diener, E., Oishi, S., & Lucas, R. E. (2003). Personality, culture, and subjective well-being: Emotional and cognitive evaluations of life. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *54*(1), 403–425.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.54.101601.145056

Diener, E., & Seligman, M. E. P. (2002). Very happy people. *Psychological Science*, *13*(1), 81–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00415</u>

Diener, E., & Seligman, M. E. P. (2004). Beyond money: Toward an economy of well-being. Psychological Science in the Public Interest 5(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0963-7214.2004.00501001.x

Diener, E. (1994). Assessing subjective well-being: Progress and opportunities. *Social Indicators Research, 31*(2), 103–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01207052</u>

Diener, E., & Ryan, K. (2009). Subjective well-being: a general overview. *South African Journal of Psychology, 39*(4), 391–406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/008124630903900402</u>

Dingle, G. A., Sharman, L. S., Bauer, Z., Beckman, E., Broughton, M., Bunzli,
E., Davidson, R., Draper, G., Fairley, S., Farrell, C., Flynn, L. M., Gomersall, S.,
Hong, M., Larwood, J., Lee, C., Lee, J., Nitschinsk, L., Peluso, N., Reedman, S.
E., Vidas, D., ... Wright, O. (2021). How Do Music Activities Affect Health and
Well-Being? A Scoping Review of Studies Examining Psychosocial
Mechanisms. *Frontiers in psychology*, *12*, 713818.
https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.713818

Duffy, M., & Mair, J. (2014). Festivals and sense of community in places of transition The Yakkerboo Festival, an Australian case study. In A. Jepson & A. Clarcke (Eds.). *Exploring Community Festivals and Events* (pp. 54–65). Routledge.

Duvignaud, J. (1976). Festivals: A Sociological Approach. Cultures, 3, 15–25.

Dwyer, L., Mellor, R., Mistilis, N., & Mules, T. (2000). Forecasting the Economic Impacts of Events and Conventions. *Event Management, 6*(3), 191–204. <u>https://doi.org/10.3727/096020197390266</u>

Ellis, R. (2011). Serving publics: International theater festivals and their global audiences. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science, 1*(14), 110–117.

Elsden, E., Hei, W. M., & Fancourt, D. (2021). Longitudinal associations between frequency of engagement in leisure activities and health functioning: analyses from the 1970's British Cohort Study using the SF-36. In N. Daykin & A. Coulter (Eds.). *Culture, Health and Wellbeing, International Conference 2021, CHW21, Research Proceedings* (pp. 35–

36). <u>https://www.ahsw.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/CHW21-Conference-</u> <u>Re-search-Proceedings-June-2021-PDF.pd</u> Eskola, A. (1988). Non-active role-playing: Some experiences. In A. Eskola, A. Kihlström, D. Kivinen, K. Weckroth & O-H. Ylijoki (Eds.). *Blind alleys in social psychology: A search for ways out* (pp. 239–311). North-Holland.

Eteläpelto, A., Hökkä, P., Paloniemi, S., & Vähäsantanen, K. (2014). Ammatillisen toimijuuden ja työssä oppimisen vahvistaminen: hankkeen tausta ja lähtökohdat. In P. Hökkä, S. Paloniemi, K. Vähäsantanen, S. Herranen, M. Manninen, & A. Eteläpelto (Eds.). *Ammatillisen toimijuuden ja työssä oppimisen vahvistaminen – Luovia voimavaroja työhön!* (pp. 17–31). University of Jyväskylä.

Eurostat (n.d.) *Culture statistics*. Eurostat Statistics Explained. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-</u> <u>explained/index.php?title=Culture\_statistics</u>

Falassi, A. (1987). Festival: definition and morphology. In A. Falassi (Ed.). *Time Out of Time* (pp. 1–10). University of New Mexico Press.

Fancourt, D., & Finn, S. (2019). *What is the evidence on the role of the arts in improving health and well-being? A scoping review.* (Health Evidence Network Synthesis Report 67). World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/329834

Fancourt, D., Aughterson, H., Finn, S., & Walker, E. (2021). How leisure activities affect health: a narrative review and multi-level theoretical framework of mechanisms of action. The Lancet. Psychiatry, 8(4), 329–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30384-9

Fayers, P. M., & Sprangers, M. A. (2002). Understanding self-rated health. Lancet (London, England), 359(9302), 187–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07466-4 Finnish Government. (n.d.a). *Mikä soteuudistus?* https://soteuudistus.fi/uudistus-lyhyesti-

Finnish Government. (n.d.b). *Hyvinvointikertomus osana kunnan strategiatyötä ja* 

*tietojohtamista* <u>https://valtioneuvosto.fi/documents/10623/307649/kuntatuottavu</u> <u>us\_hyvin-vointikertomus.pdf/5b11837d-f349-4598-9c71-</u> f1ab85e62796/kuntatuottavuus\_hyvinvointikerto-mus.pdf.pdf

Finnish Government. (2020) *Kulttuurihyvinvoinnin yhteistyöryhmä Taiku3.* (OKM045:00/2020). <u>https://valtioneuvosto.fi/hanke?tunnus=OKM045:00</u> /2020

Finnish Government. (2021). *Hyvinvoinnin, terveyden ja turvallisuuden edistäminen 2030: Toimeenpanosuunnitelma* [Promotion of wellbeing, health and safety 2030: Implementation plan]. (Publications of the Finnish Government 2021:27) <u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-383-670-9</u>

Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (2015). *TEAviisari näyttää kunnan terveydenedistämistyön suunnan*. <u>https://urn.fi/URN:NBN:fi-fe2015110516123</u>

Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (n.d.a). *Hyvinvoinnin mittaaminen.* Retvieved 22.8.2022 from: https://thl.fi/fi/web/hyvinvointi-jaterveyserot/eriarvoisuus/hyvinvointi/hyvinvoinnin-mittaaminen

Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (2019). *Kulttuuri.* Retrieved 22.9.2022 from: <u>https://teaviisari.fi/teaviisari/fi/tiedonkeruu/85</u>

Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (n.d.b) (2019b). *Osallisuus*. Retrieved 22.9.2022 from: https://thl.fi/fi/web/hyvinvointi-ja-terveyserot/eriarvoisuus/hyvinvointi/osallisuus

Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. (n.d.c)( (2022a). *Welfare report*. Retrieved 22.9.2022 from: <u>https://thl.fi/en/web/management-of-health-</u> and-wellbeing-promotion/management-of-wellbeing/practices/welfare-report

Finnish National Board on Research Integrity TENK. (2012). *Responsible conduct of research and procedures for handling allegations of misconduct in Finland. Guidelines of the Finnish Advisory Board on Research Integrity 2012.* https://tenk.fi/sites/tenk.fi/files/HTK\_ohje\_2012.pdf

Finnish National Board on Research Integrity TENK. (2019). *The ethical principles of research with human participants and ethical review in the human sciences in Finland TENK guidelines 2019.* (Publications of the Finnish National Board on Research Integrity TENK

3/2019) <u>https://tenk.fi/sites/default/files/2021-</u> 01/Ethical review in human sciences 2020.pdf

Fortier, J. P., & Coulter, A. (2021). Creative cross-sectoral collaboration: a conceptual framework of factors influencing partnerships for arts, health and wellbeing. *Public health, 196*, 146–

149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2021.05.017</u>

Fraser, K. D., & Fatima al Sayah, F. (2011). Arts-based methods in health research: A systematic review of the literature *Arts & Health, 3*(2), 110–145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17533015.2011.561357</u>

Fredline, E., & Faulkner, B. (1998). Resident reactions to a major tourist event: The Gold Coast Indy car race. *Festival Management and Event Tourism, 5(4), 185-205.* <u>https://doi.org/10.3727/106527098791784475</u>

Fredrickson, B. (2003). What good are positive emotions in crisis? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology. 84(2),* 365–376. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.84.2.365 Fujiwara, D., & Campbell, R. (2011). Valuation Techniques for Social Cost-Benefit Analysis: Stated Preference, Revealed Preference and Subjective Well-Being Approaches. Department for Work and Pensions and HM Treasury Discussion Paper.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/att achment\_data/file/209107/greenbook\_valuationtechniques.pdf

Fujiwara, D., Kurdna, L., & Dolan, P. (2014a). *Quantifying the Social Impacts of Sport and Culture*. Department for Culture Media and Sport. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quantifying-the-social-impacts-ofsport-and-culture

Fujiwara, D., Kurdna, L., & Dolan, P. (2014b). *Quantifying and Valuing the Wellbeing Impacts of Culture and Sport.* Department for Culture Media and Sport. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quantifying-the-socialimpacts-of-sport-and-culture

Fujiwara, D., & MacKerron, G. (2015). *Cultural activities, art forms and wellbeing*. Arts Council England. https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/Cultural\_activities\_artforms\_and\_wellbeing.pdf

Getz, D. (1997). *Event Management and Event Tourism*. Cognizant Communication Corporation.

Getz, (2008). Event tourism: Definition, evolution, and research, *Tourism Management 29*(3), 403–428. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2007.07.017</u>

Getz, & Page, S. J. (2020). *Event Studies: Theory, research and policy for planned events.* (4th ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315708027

Gillo, M. (2021). Fundamentals of Hermeneutics as A Qualitative Research Theoretical Framework. *European Journal of Education and Pedagogy, 2*(3), 42–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.24018/ejedu.2021.2.3.43</u>

Gilovich, T., Kumar, A., & Jampol, L. (2015). A wonderful life: Experiential consumption and the pursuit of happiness. *Journal of Consumer Psychology, 25*(1), 152–165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcps.2014.08.004</u>

Godambe, V.P. (1982). Estimation in survey sampling: robustness and optimality. *Journal of the American Statistical* Association 77(378), 393–403. https://doi.org/10.2307/2287257

Goldblatt, J. J. (1990). Special Events: The Art and Science of Celebration. Wiley.

Gordon-Nesbitt, R. (2015). *Exploring the Longitudinal Relationship between Arts Engagement and Health.* Manchester Metropolitan University. <u>https://www.artsforhealth.org/research/artsengagementandhealth/Art</u> <u>sEngagementandHealth.pdf</u>

Gordon-Nesbitt, R., & Howarth, A. (2019). The arts and the social determinants of health: findings from an inquiry conducted by the United Kingdom All-Party Parliamentary Group on Arts, Health and Wellbeing. *Arts & Health, 12*(1), 1–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17533015.2019.1567563</u>

Grape, C., Sandgren, M., Hansson, L. O., Ericson, M., & Theorell, T. (2003). Does singing promote well-being?: An empirical study of professional and amateur singers during a singing lesson. *Integrative physiological and behavioral science: the official journal of the Pavlovian Society, 38*(1), 65–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02734261 Gross, H., Schwarz, N., Cramer Von Clausbruch, S., & Hary, K. (2021). Art projects as transformative services to integrate refugees. *Journal of Business Research*, *127*, 373–381. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.01.015</u>

de Groot, A. (1969). *Methodology: Foundations of inference and research in the behavioral sciences*. De Gruyter

Mouton. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783112313121

Gunasekara, F. I., Carter, K., & Blakely, T. (2012). Comparing self-rated health and self-assessed change in health in a longitudinal survey: which is more valid? *Social science & medicine 74*(7), 1117–1124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.038

Haanpää, S., Manu, S., & Siltanen, K. (2020). *Taiteen ja kulttuurin toimialan tilasto- ja tietoperusta. Nykytila ja kehittämisehdotukset* [Statistics and data in the field of arts and culture. Present state and recommendations for development].

(Publications of the Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland 2020:13). Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland. <u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-263-</u> 708-6

Hall, C. (1989). The definition and analysis of hallmark tourist events. *GeoJournal*, *19*(3), 263–268. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00454570

Hall, C. (1992). *Hallmark tourist events: Impacts, management, and planning.* John Wiley.

Hall, J., O'Mahony, B., & Vieceli, J. (2009). An empirical model of attendance factors at major sporting events. *International Journal of Hospitality Management.* 29(2):328–334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2009.10.011</u>

Hammersley, M. (2013). *What is Qualitative Research?* Bloomsbury Academic. http://dx.doi.org/10.5040/9781849666084.ch-001

Hardiman, M. (2019). The Arts, Creativity, and Learning: From Research to Practice. In J. Contreras-Vidal, D. Robleto, J. Cruz-Garza, J. Azorín & C. Nam (Eds.). *Mobile Brain-Body Imaging and the Neuroscience of Art, Innovation and Creativity* (pp. 199–206). Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-</u> 24326-5\_23

Health Care Act,

(1326/2010). <u>https://www.finlex.fi/en/laki/kaannokset/2010/en20101326\_201312</u> 93.pdf

Heikkilä, R., & Lindblom, T. (2022). Overlaps and accumulations: The anatomy of cultural non-participation in Finland, 2007 to 2018. *Journal of Consumer Culture 0*(0) <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/14695405211062052</u>

Heinonen (2012). Seinäjoki tanssii ja soi – Kaupunkitilan festivalisoituminen Tangomarkkinoiden aikana. In A-V. Kärjä & K. Åberg (Eds.). *Tango Suomessa.* (pp. 181–217). (Nykykulttuurin tutkimuskeskuksen julkaisuja 108). University of Jyväskylä.

Heneman, H. G.(1975). The Impact of Interviewer Training and Interview Structure on the Reliability and Validity of the Selection Interview. Academy of Management Proceedings 1975(1), 231–233. doi:10.5465/ambpp.1975.4982670.

Herranen, K., & Karttunen, S. (2016). *Festivaalien ja tapahtumien edistäminen valtion kulttuuripolitiikassa: Katsaus tietopohjaan, valtionavustuksiin ja vaikuttavuuteen.* (Cuporen verkkojulkaisuja 35). Foundation for Cultural Policy Research.

Hesse-Biber, S., & Leavy, P. (2011). *The practice of qualitative research* (2nd ed.). SAGE.

Hofisi, C., Hofisi, M., & Mago, S. (2014). Critiquing Interviewing as a Data Collection Method. Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences 5(16), 60–46. https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n16p60

Honkasalo, M-L., & Laukkanen, A. (2015). Osallisuus ja yhteisöllisyys hyvinvointia edistämässä. Taiteen ja kulttuurin vaikuttavuuden arviointi EUhankkeissa [Social inclusion, communality and well-being. Evaluating the impact of art and culture in EU projects]. *Kulttuuripolitiikan tutkimuksen vuosikirja 2015*, 24–41.

Houni, P. (2019). *Taide ja kulttuuri vaikuttavat hyvinvointiin. Tiedosta toimintaan.* Arts Promotion Centre Finland (TAIKE).

Houni, P. (2021). Taide keskellä arkea! Etelä-Pohjanmaan kulttuurinhyvinvoinnin selvitys 2015–2020. The Regional Council of South Ostrobothnia. https://epliitto.fi/wpcontent/uploads/2021/03/B\_94\_Taide\_keskella\_arkea\_Etela-Pohjanmaan kulttuurihyvinvoinnin selvitys-2015n2020 web.pdf

Houni, P., Turpeinen, I., & Vuolasto, J. (2020). *Taidetta! Kulttuurihyvinvoinnin käsikirja* [Art! A handbook of Art, Health and Wellbeing]. Arts Promotion Centre Finland (TAIKE).

Howarth, L. (2017). Creative health: the arts for health and wellbeing. *Perspectives in Public Health*, *138*(1), 26–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1757913917736680</u>

Huhtinen-Hildén, L. (2014). Perspectives on professional use of arts and artsbased methods in elderly care, *Arts & Health, 6*(3), 223–234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17533015.2014.880726</u> Huhtinen-Hildén, L., & Isola, A-M. (2019). Reconstructing life narratives through creativity in social work. *Cogent Social Sciences*, *5*(1), 1606974. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2019.1606974

Huhtinen-Hildén, L., Isola, A-M., Berden, I., Hiltunen, M., & Salonen, A. O. (2020, December 1). Mitä on kulttuurihyvinvointi? [What is cultural well-being?] *YP-blogi*. <u>https://blogi.yplehti.fi/mita-on-kulttuurihyvinvointi/</u>

Hyttinen, J. (2022). Katsaus kulttuurihyvinvoinnin vaikutuksiin ja niiden mittamiseen. City of Joensuu. Regional Council of North Karelia. <u>https://www.joensuu.fi/documents/144181/2168958/Katsaus+kulttuurihy</u> <u>vinvoinnin+vaikutuksiin+ja+niiden+mittaamiseen+2022\_06\_16.pdf/cac2cc59-</u> <u>44f0-a26f-2421-01848ef1e234</u>

Hyyppä, M. T. (2007). Livskraft ur gemenskap: Om socialt kapital och folkhälsa. Studentlitteratur.

Hyyppä, M. T. (2011). Elinvoimaa yhteisöstä. *Tieteessä Tapahtuu,* 29(8), 15– 18. <u>https://journal.fi/tt/article/view/4639</u>

Hämäläinen L., & Rosenlöf A-M. (2020 December 1). Kulttuurista ja taiteesta uutta näkökulmaa hyvinvoinnin edistämiseen. *Dialogiblogi*. <u>https://blogit.utu.fi/soteakatemia/kulttuurista-ja-</u> taiteesta-uutta-nakokulmaa-hyvinvoinnin-edistamiseen/

Ikäläinen Patrik. (2014). *Olen tullut vähän rohkeammaksi – Talous ja sosiaalinen pääoma Kotkan nuorisoteatterissa.* (Kymenlaakson ammattikorkeakoulun julkaisuja. Sarja B. Tutkimuksia ja raportteja nro: 127). KYAMK University of Applied Sciences. <u>https://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-306-073-9</u>

Ilmola-Sheppard, L., Rautiainen, P., Westerlund, H., Lehikoinen, K., Karttunen, S., Juntunen, M.-L., & Anttila, E. (2021). *ArtsEqual: Tasa-arvo taiteen ja taidekasvatuksen palveluiden suuntana.* ArtsEqual. <u>https://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-353-042-3</u>

Jackson, B. (2021). Business Research Methods. ED-Tech Press.

Jansson S-M., (2014). *Mittaamattoman arvokasta? Taiteen ja kulttuurin vaikutustutkimuksia ja -metodologioita.* (Uniarts Helsinki Kokos publication series 2/2014).

Jensen, A. (2020). *OPAS kulttuurihyvinvointitoiminnan arviointiin. Arviointiopas.* Taikusydän Arts & Health Coordination Centre in Finland. https://taikusydan.turkuamk.fi/uploads/2020/09/100485fb-opas\_kulttuurihyvinvointitoiminnan\_arviointiin\_taikusydan\_saavutettava.pdf

Jensen, L., & Allen, M. (1993). Wellness: The dialectic of illness. *IMAGE: Journal of Nursing Scholarship, 25*(3), 220–224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1547-5069.1993.tb00785.x</u>

Jepson A., & Clarke, A. (Eds.). (2014). Introduction. In *Exploring Community Festivals and Events* (pp. 1–17). Routledge.

Jowell, T. (2004). Government and the value of culture. *Leisure Manager,* 22(7), 8–10.

Jumppanen, A., & Suutari, T. (2013) *Hyvinvointia kulttuurista: esimerkkejä kulttuuritoimijoiden sekä sosiaali- ja terveyssektorin yhteistyöstä Etelä-Pohjanmaalla.* (Raportteja; No. 100). Ruralia-instituutti. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10138/228156</u>

Jokić, B., & Purić, D. (2020). Does cultural participation make us happier? Favorite leisure activities and happiness in a representative sample of the Serbian population. *Kultura 169,* 377–393. https://doi.org/10.5937/kultura2069377J

Jylhä M. (2009). What is self-rated health and why does it predict mortality? Towards a unified conceptual model. *Social science & medicine* 69(3), 307– 316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.05.013

Kahle, L.R., & Riley, C. (Eds.). (2004). Sports Marketing and the Psychology of Marketing Communication. Psychology
Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781410610003</u>

Kahneman, D., & Krueger, A. B. 2006. Developments in the Measurement of Subjective Well-Being. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 20(1), 3-24. http://dx.*doi*.org/10.1257/089533006776526030

Kainulainen, K. (2005). *Kunta ja kulttuurin talous. Tulkintoja kulttuuripääoman ja festivaalien aluetaloudellisista merkityksistä* [Doctoral dissertation, University of Tampere]. Trepo. <u>https://urn.fi/urn:isbn:951-44-6439-7</u>

Kallio-Peltoniemi, M. (2012). Subjektiivisen hyvinvoinnin mittaamiseen liittyy epävarmuustekijöitä ja tulkinnallisuutta. (Tilastokeskuksen Hyvinvointikatsaus 4/2012). <u>https://www.stat.fi/artikkelit/2012/art\_2012-12-10\_011.html</u>

Kant, I. (1892). The Critique of Judgement. Macmillan.

Karpusheff, J. (2019). Cultural Activities in Mental Health Care: Ordinary Participation to be in and of the Community [Doctoral dissertation, University of Manchester].

https://www.research.manchester.ac.uk/portal/files/160456816/FULL\_TEXT.PD F

Kashdan, T., Biswas-Diener, R., & King, L. (2008). Reconsidering happiness: the costs of distinguishing between hedonics and eudaimonia. *The Journal of* 

Positive Psychology, 3(4), 219–233. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760802303044

Kayser, D., Egermann, H., & Barraclough, N. E. (2022). Audience facial expressions detected by automated face analysis software reflect emotions in music. *Behavior research methods*, *54*(3), 1493–1507. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-021-01678-3

Keyes C. L. (2005). Mental illness and/or mental health? Investigating axioms of the complete state model of health. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, *73*(3), 539–548. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.73.3.539

Keyes, C. (2007). Towards a mentally flourishing society: mental health promotion, not cure. Journal of Public Mental Health, 6(2), 4– 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/17465729200700009</u>

Keyes, C. L. M., Shmotkin, D., & Ryff, C. D. (2002). Optimizing well-being: The empirical encounter of two traditions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *82*(6), 1007–1022. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.82.6.1007</u>

Kim-Prieto, C., Diener, E., Tamir, M., Scollon, C., & Diener, M. (2005).
Integrating the Diverse Definitions of Happiness: A Time-Sequential Framework of Subjective Well-Being. *Journal of Happiness Studies 6*, 261–300. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-005-7226-8

Kingsnorth, S., Blain, S., & McKeever, P. (2011). Physiological and emotional responses of disabled children to therapeutic clowns: a pilot study. *Evidence-based complementary and alternative medicine, 2011*, 732394. https://doi.org/10.1093/ecam/neq008 Kinnunen, M., & Haahti, A. (2015). Visitor discourses on experiences: reasons for festival success and failure, *International Journal of Event and Festival Management, 6*(3), 251–268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEFM-01-2015-0003</u>

Kippo, S., & Koivisto, T. (2022, August 23). ArtWell: Kulttuurihyvinvointitoiminnan taloudellinen arviointi on vähäistä ja tarvitsee ennakkoluulotonta yhteiskehittämistä toiminnan vaikuttavuuden arvioimiseksi. Puheenvuoroja. University of Eastern Finland. https://blogs.uef.fi/puheenvuoroja/2022/08/23/artwellkulttuurihyvinvointitoiminnan-taloudellinen-arviointi-on-vahaista-ja-tarvitseeennakkoluulotonta-yhteiskehittamista-toiminnan-vaikuttavuuden-arvioimiseksi/

Konijn, Elly A. 1999. Spotlight on spectators: Emotions in the theater. *Discourse Processes. 28*(2), 169–194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01638539909545079</u>

Konlaan, B. B., Bygren, L. O., & Johansson, S. E. (2000). Visiting the cinema, concerts, museums or art exhibitions as determinant of survival: a Swedish fourteen-year cohort follow-up. *Scandinavian journal of public health, 28*(3), 174–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/14034948000280030501</u>

Konlaan, B. B., Theobald, H., & Bygren, L. O. (2002). Leisure time activity as a determinant of survival: a 26-year follow-up of a *Swedish cohort. Public health, 116*(4), 227–230. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ph.1900851

Kupiainen, J., & Sevänen, E. (Eds.). (1994). Johdanto. In *Kulttuurintutkimus*. Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seura.

Liikanen, H-L. (2003). *Taide kohtaa elämän. Arts in Hospital -hanke ja kulttuuritoiminta itäsuomalaisten hoitoyksiköiden arjessa ja juhlassa* [Doctoral dissertation, University of Helsinki]. Otava.

Liikanen, H-L. (2010). Taiteesta ja kulttuurista hyvinvointia - ehdotus

*toimintaohjelmaksi 2010–2014* [Art and Culture for Well-being: Proposal for an action programme 2010–2014]. (Publications of the Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland 2010:1). Ministry of Education and Culture, Department for Cultural, Sport and Youth Policy. <u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-485-826-7</u>

Lilja-Viherlampi, L-M. (2021). Mitä on kulttuurihyvinvointi? [What is cultural wellbeing?] *Musiikki-lehti*, *51*(4),73–89. <u>https://doi.org/10.51816/musiikki.113252</u>

Lilja-Viherlampi, L-M., & Rosenlöf, A-M. (2019). Moninäkökulmainen kulttuurihyvinvointi. In I. Tanskanen (Ed.), *Taide töissä – Näkökulmia taiteen opetukseen sekä taiteilijan rooliin yhteisöissä*. (pp. 20–39). (Turun ammattikorkeakoulun raportteja 256). Turku University of Applied Sciences.

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry. Sage Publication.

Laitinen, L. (2017a). Taide, taiteellinen toiminta ja mielenterveys. In K. Lehikoinen & E. Vanhanen (Eds.). *Taide ja hyvinvointi. Katsauksia kansain väliseen tutkimukseen.* (pp. 85–95). (Uniarts Helsinki Kokos publication series 1/2017).

Laitinen, L. (2017b). Vaikuttavaa? Taiteen hyvinvointivaikutusten tarkastelua. (Turun Ammattikorkeakoulun Tutkimuksia, 46).

Laitinen, L., Jakonen, O., Lahtinen, E., & Lilja-Viherlampi, L-M. (2020). From grass-roots activities to national policies – the state of arts and health in Finland. *Arts & Health, 14*(1), 14–

31. https://doi.org/10.1080/17533015.2020.1827275

Leavy, P. (2017). *Research Design: Quantitative, Qualitative, Mixed Methods, Arts-Based, and Community-Based Participatory Research Approaches*. The Guilford Press. Lee, C., Lee, Y., & Wicks, B.E. (2004). Segmentation of festival motivation by nationality and satisfaction, *Tourism Management*, *25*(1), 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0261-5177(03)00060-8

Lehikoinen, K., & Vanhanen, E. (Eds.). (2017a). *Taide ja hyvinvointi: Katsauksia kansainväliseen tutkimukseen.* (Uniarts Helsinki Kokos publication series 1/2017).

Lehikoinen, K., & Vanhanen, E. (2017b). Introduction. In Lehikoinen, K. & Vanhanen, E. (Eds.). *Taide ja hyvinvointi: Katsauksia kansainväliseen tutkimukseen.* (pp. 7–28). (Uniarts Helsinki Kokos publication series 1/2017).

Lesić, K. T., Brščić, K., & Ružić, M. D. (2017). The importance of understanding event experience. *Tourism in Southern and Eastern Europe* 4, 605–618. https://doi.org/10.20867/tosee.04.26

Local Government Act 2002. https://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/public/2002/0084/167.0/whole.html

Local Government Act (410/2015). https://finlex.fi/en/laki/kaannokset/2015/en20150410.pdf

Luonila, M., Niiniaho, A., Karttunen, S., & Mäenpää, M. (2019). *Taide- ja kulttuurifestivaalien vaikuttavuus. Opetus- ja kulttuuriministeriön harkinnanvaraiset valtionavustukset festivaaleille vuonna 2018*. (Cuporen verkkojulkaisuja 52). Foundation for Cultural Policy Research.

Lybeck, T., Kaunisharju, K., Niemi, M., & Talvitie, H. (2018). *Taide ja kulttuuri* osana alueiden kehitystä: Näkymä vuoteen 2025 [Arts and culture as part of regional development; Outlook for 2025]. (Publications of the Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland 2018:20). <u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-263-566-2</u>

Lyubomirsky, S., & Lepper, H. S. (1999). A measure of subjective happiness: Preliminary reliability and construct validation, *Social Indicators Research 46*, 137–155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006824100041</u>

Martela, F., & Ahokas J. (2021). Kyllä kansa tietää – Suomi tarvitsee koetun hyvinvoinnin mittarin. (Eva analyysi. No 98.) Finnish Business and Policy Forum EVA. https://www.eva.fi/blog/2021/09/14/miten-hyvinvointia-tulisi-mitata/

Matarasso, F. (1997). Use or ornament? The social impact of participation in the arts. Comedia.

Matarasso, F. (2019). A Restless Art: How participation won and why it matters. London: Calouste Gulbenkian Foundation. <u>https://arestlessart.com/</u>

Maul, A. (2018). Judgment Sampling. In B. B. Frey (Ed.). *The SAGE Encyclopedia of Educational Research, Measurement, and Evaluation vol 2.* (pp. 913–914). SAGE. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781506326139

McCarthy, K. F., Ondaatje, E. H., Zakaras, L., & Brooks, A. (2004). *Gifts of the Muse: Reframing the Debate About the Benefits of the Arts*. RAND Corporation.

McCrary, M. J., & Altenmüller, E. (2021). Are culturally vibrant communities healthier? Relationships between performing arts activity and public health outcomes in the 500 largest US cities. In N. Daykin & A. Coulter (Eds.). *Culture, Health and Wellbeing, International Conference 2021, CHW21, Research Proceedings:* (pp. 104–106). <u>https://www.ahsw.org.uk/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2021/07/CHW21-Conference-Re-search-Proceedings-June-</u> 2021-PDF.pd

Mercer, C. (2002). *Towards Cultural Citizenship: Tools for Cultural Policy and Development*. The Bank of Sweden Tercentenary Foundation. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2153304</u> Meyrick, J. (2000). Art for Health: A review of good practice in community-based arts projects and initiatives which impact on health and wellbeing. Health Development Agency.

Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland (2016). *Taide- ja kulttuurifestivaalit – vahvistuva kulttuurinen voimavara. Esitys toimintaohjelmaksi vuosille 2017–2025* [Arts and cultural festivals – a cultural resource growing in strength; Proposal for an action programme for 2017–2025]. (Publications of the Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland 42:2016). <u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-263-437-5</u>

Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland. (2017). *Opetus- ja kulttuuriministeriön kulttuuripolitiikan strategia 2025* [Strategy for Cultural Policy 2025 – Ministry of Education and Culture]. (Publications of the Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland 2017:20). <u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-263-</u> <u>466-5</u>

Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland. (2019). *Tule luo taide 2019. Taiteen prosenttiperiaatteen laajentamisen kärkihankkeen (2016–2018) loppuraportti* [Open your art. Final report of the Expansion of the per cent for art scheme (2016–2018) key project]. (Publications of the Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland 2019:9) http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-263-625-6

Ministry of Education Department for Cultural, Sport and Youth Policy. (2009). *Strategy for Cultural Policy* (Publications of the Ministry of Education, Finland 2009:45) <u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978–952–485–775–8</u>

Ministry of Social Affairs and Health. (2015). *Taiteesta ja kulttuurista hyvinvointia. Toimintaohjelman 2010–2014 loppuraportti*. (Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, Helsinki 2021 Reports and Memorandums of the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health 2015:17) <u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-00-3578-5</u>

Moisio, S. (2017). Understanding Audiences and the Impact of Arts and Culture: Experience as the Focus of Audience Research. *Kulttuuripolitiikan Tutkimuksen Vuosikirja,* 155–161. https://doi.org/10.17409/kpt.60110

Mossberg, L.L. (2000). Event Evaluations. In L. L. Mossberg (Ed.). *Evaluation of Events: Scandinavian Experiences.* Cognizant Communication Corporation,

Morrone, A. (2006). *Guidelines for Measuring Cultural Participation*. UNESCO Institute for Statistics (UIS). <u>http://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/guidelines-for-</u>

measuring-cultural-participation-2006-en.pdf

Mowlah, A., Niblett, V., Blackburn, J., & Harris, M. (2014). *The value of arts and culture to people and society.* Arts Council England. <u>https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/publication/value-arts-and-culture-people-and-society</u>

Muurinen, H. (2016, September 12). Lost in translation? The allure of neuromyths in advocating the arts. *Taideyliopiston blogit*. <u>https://blogit.uniarts.fi/kirjoitus/lost-in-translation-the-allure-of-neuromyths-in-advocating-the-arts/</u>

Niemi, P., Rautiainen, A., Kannasoja, S., Haapakoski, K., Pellinen, J., & Mäntysaari, M. (2017). Hyvinvoinnin teoriat hyvinvoinnin edistämisessä ja poliittisessa päätöksenteossa. *Hallinnon tutkimus, 36*(3), 166–181. <u>http://urn.fi/URN:NBN:fi:jyu-201901211249</u>

Nonaka, I., Toyama, R., & Konno, N. (2000). SECI, Ba and Leadership: a Unified Model of Dynamic Knowledge Creation. *Long Range Planning, 33*(1), 5– 34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0024-6301(99)00115-6</u>

Novak-Leonard, J., Baach, P., Schultz, A., Farrell, B., Anderson, W., & Rabkin, N. (2014). *The changing landscape of arts participation: A synthesis of literature* 

and expert interviews. Cultural Policy Center at the University of Chicago. Knowledge UChicago.

Nummelin, S. (2011). *Kulttuurin hyvinvointivaikutukset: onnea, elämyksiä, terveyttä.* (Tutkimuskatsauksia 1/2011). Turun kaupunki, kaupunkitutkimus- ja tietoyksikkö.

https://kalenteri.turku.fi/sites/default/files/atoms/files/tutkimuskatsauksia\_2011-1.pdf

Odendaal, A., Levänen, S., & Westerlund, H. (2019). Lost in translation? Neuroscientific research, advocacy, and the claimed transfer benefits of musical practice. *Music Education Research*, *21*(1), 4–

19. https://doi.org/10.1080/14613808.2018.1484438

Ojanen, M. M-T., Lavapuro, J., Rautiainen, P., & Valtonen, V. (2016). *Sivistykselliset ja sosiaaliset perusoikeudet syrjäkunnissa*. (Kunnallisalan kehittämissäätiön tutkimusjulkaisut; Vol. 97). The Foundation for Municipal Development sr.

Poggie, J.J. 1972. Toward quality control in key informant data. *Human Organization* 31(1), 23–30. https://www.jstor.org/stable/44125113

Oxford Wordpower Dictionary. (2002). Event. In Oxford Wordpower Dictionary (2nd edition). Oxford University Press.

Packer, J. (2008). Beyond learning: Exploring visitors' perceptions of the value and benefits of museum experiences. *Curator 51*(1), 33–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2151-6952.2008.tb00293.x</u>

Packer, J., & Ballantyne, J. (2010). The impact of music festival attendance on young people's psychological and social well-being. *Psychology of Music, 39*(2), 164–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/030573561037261</u>

Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful Sampling for Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis in Mixed Method Implementation Research. *Administration and policy in mental health*, *42*(5), 533–544. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y</u>

Pasanen, K., & Hakola, E. (2009). Suomalaisten kulttuuritapahtumien matkailullinen merkittävyys ja kansainvälinen potentiaali. Matkailun edistämiskeskus.

Pasanen, K., Taskinen, H., & Mikkonen, J. (2009). Impacts of Cultural Events in Eastern Finland – Development of a Finnish Event Evaluation
Tool, *Scandinavian Journal of Hospitality and Tourism*, 9(2–3), 112–129. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15022250903119546">https://doi.org/10.1080/15022250903119546</a>

Pascoe, R., Leong, S., Mac Callum, J., Mackinlay, E., Marsh, K., Smith, B., Church, T., & Winterton, A. (2005). *National Review of School Music Education, Augmenting the diminished.* Australian Government Department of Education, Science and Training, The Centre for Learning, Change and Development, Murdoch University.

Patterson, M., & Williams, D. (2002). *Collecting and analyzing qualitative data: Hermeneutic principles, methods and case examples.* Sagamore Publishing.

Perttula, E. (2011). *Iloa ja kuntoa kulttuurista. Kartoitus kulttuurin hyvinvointipalveluista Kaakkois-Suomessa.* Kaakkois-Suomen sosiaalialan osaamiskeskus (Socom), Kaakkois-Suomen taidetoimikunta. http://www.socom.fi/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Iloa\_ja\_kuntoa\_kulttuurista.pdf

Pine, B. J., & Gilmore, J. H. (1998). Welcome to the experience economy. *Harvard Business Review*, *76* (4), 97–105. https://hbr.org/1998/07/welcome-to-the-experience-economy Pine, J., & Gilmore, J. (1999). *The Experience Economy.* Highbridge Audio and Blackstone Publishing.

Pirkanmaa Hospital District & Arts Promotion Centre Finland (TAIKE). (2017). *Pirkanmaan alueellinen kulttuurihyvinvointisuunnitelma*. <u>http://www.tays.fi/download/noname/%7B355A5</u> <u>40C-37B4-4233-81D7-90FC45985D19%7D/64258</u>

Pitts, S. E. (2005). What makes an audience? Investigating the roles and experiences of listeners at a chamber music festival. *Music & Letters, 86*(2), pp. 257–269. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3526537

Polanyi, M. (1967). The tacit dimension. Doubleday.

Polzella, D. J., & Forbis, J. S. (2014). Relationships between traditional music audience participation and pro-social behaviors. *Empirical Studies of the Arts,* 32(1), 109–120. http://dx.doi.org/10.2190/EM.32.1g

Poulos, R. G., Marwood, S., Harkin, D., Opher, S., Clift, S., Cole, A., Rhee, J., Beilharz, K., & Poulos, C. J. (2019). Arts on prescription for community-dwelling older people with a range of health and wellness needs. *Health & social care in the community*, *27*(2), 483–492. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12669

Procter, D. E. (2004). Building Community Through Communication: The Case For Civic Communion. *Community Development Society. Journal, 35*(2), 53–72. https://doi.org/10.1080/15575330409490132

Proshansky, H., Fabian, K., & Kaminoff, R. (1983). Place-identity: Physical world socialization of the self. *Journal of Environmental Psychology 3*(1), 57–83 https://doi.org/10.1016/s0272-4944(83)80021-8

Purhonen, S., Gronow, J., Heikkilä, R., Kahma, N., Rahkonen, K., & Toikka, A. (2014) *Suomalainen maku. Kulttuuripääoma, kulutus ja elämäntyylien sosiaalinen eriytyminen*. Gaudeamus.

Putnam, R. (2000). *Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community*. Simon & Schuster.

Ramchandani, G. M., & Coleman, R. J. (2012). The inspirational effects of three major sport events. *International Journal of Event and Festival Management, 3*(3), 257–271. https://doi.org/10.1108/17582951211262693

Ranta-Meyer, T., Houni, P., & Vikman, N. (2021). Musiikki, ääni ja hyvinvointi – nykytutkimuksen tilaa kartoittamassa. *Musiikki-lehti,* 

51(4). https://doi.org/10.51816/musiikki.113245

Regional Council of North Karelia. (2022). *Pohjois-Karjalan kulttuurihyvinvointisuunnitelma 2022–2025.* Retrieved 22.9.2022 from: https://www.pohjois-karjala.fi/document-s/33565/17086600/206+Pohjois-Karjalan+kulttuurihyvinvointisuunnitelma+2022%E2%80%932025.pdf/612186b5 -3f38-6513-8861-90a7c2c03319?version=1.0

Regional State Administrative Agencies (n.d.). *Performance evaluation of health and social services.* https://www.patio.fi/web/pepa-2019-valtakunnallinen

Relph, E. (1980). Place and placelessness. Pion.

Renton, A., Phillips, G., Daykin, N., Yu, G., Taylor, K., & Petticrew, M. (2012). Think of your art-eries: arts participation, behavioural cardiovascular risk factors and mental well-being in deprived communities in London. *Public health, 126*(1), 57–S64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2012.05.025

Richards, G. (2001). Cultural attractions and European tourism. In G. Richards (Ed.). *Cultural attractions and European tourism.* CABI Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1079/9780851994406.0000</u>

Richards, G., de Brito, M., & Wilks, L. (Eds.). (2013). *Exploring the Social Impacts of Events*. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203108123</u>

Richards, G., & Palmer, R. (2010). *Eventful Cities: Cultural management and urban revitalisation*. Butterworth-Heinemann.

Rihova, I., Buhalis, D., Moital, M., & Gouthro, M. B. (2015). Social constructions of value: marketing considerations for the context of event and festival visitation. In O. Moufakkir & T. Pernecky (Eds.). *Ideological, social and cultural aspects of events* (pp. 74–85). CABI Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1079/9781780643526.0074

Ritchie, J. (1984). Assessing the Impact of Hallmark Events: Conceptual and Research Issues. *Journal of Travel Research, 23*(1), 2–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/004728758402300101</u>

Robertson, M., Rogers, P., & Leask, A. (2009). Progressing socio-cultural impact evaluation for festivals. *Journal of Policy Research in Leisure, Tourism and Events* 1(2), 156–169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19407960902992233</u>

Roller, M., & Lavrakas, P. (2015). *Applied qualitative research design: A total quality framework approach.* The Guilford Press.

Rosenlöf A-M., & Laukkanen, A. (2017). Esipuhe: Vaikuttavaa! In L. Laitinen Vaikuttavaa? Taiteen hyvinvointivaikutusten tarkastelua. (pp. 9–11). (Turun ammattikorkeakoulun tutkimuksia 46). https://julkaisut.turkuamk.fi/isbn9789522166166.pdf

Ruuskanen, P. (2001). *Sosiaalinen pääoma –käsitteet, suuntaukset ja mekanismit* [Social capital: Concepts, traditions and mechanisms] (VATT-research reports 81). Government Institute for Economic Research. <u>https://urn.fi/URN:NBN:fi-fe2018042619012</u>

Ryff, C. D., & Keyes, C. L. M. (1995). The structure of psychological well-being revisited. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 69*(4), 719–727. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.4.719</u>

Sadie, S. (1983). The New Grove Dictionary of Music and Musicians. *Speculum*, *58*(2), 528–535. https://doi.org/10.2307/2848307

Saukko, N., Ikonen, J., Saaristo, V., & Ståhl, T. (2020). *Terveyttä edistävä kulttuuri kunnan toiminnassa*. (Working Paper 8/2020). Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. <u>https://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-343-467-7</u>

Saukko N., Pirnes E., Kaunisharju K., Saaristo V., Vuolasto J., & Wiss K. (2021). *Kulttuuri kunnan toiminnassa 2021 hyvinvoinnin ja terveyden edistämisen näkökulmasta.* (Tutkimuksesta tiiviisti 68/2021). Finnish Intitute of Health and Welfare. <u>https://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-343-763-0</u>

Schechner. (2020). *Performance studies: an introduction* (4th ed.). Routledge.

Schwarz, N., & Strack, F. (1999). Reports of subjective well-being: Judgmental processes and their methodological implications. In D. Kahneman, E. Diener & N. Schwarz (Eds.). *Well-being: The foundations of hedonic psychology* (pp. 61– 84). Russell Sage Foundation.

Seligman, M. E. P., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive psychology: An introduction. *American Psychologist, 55*(1), 5–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.55.1.5</u>

Silvanto, S. (Eds.). (2016). *Festivaalien Suomi.* (Cuporen julkaisuja 29). Foundation for Cultural Policy Research.

Silvanto, S., & Hellman, T. (2005). Helsinki – The festival city. In L. Lankinen (Ed.), *Arts and culture in Helsinki.* (pp. 4–9) (City of Helsinki Urban Facts, Web publications 2005:6)

Simpanen, M. (2007). Terveyttä taiteesta – Taideteoksia Keski-Suomen sairaanhoitopiirin kuntayhtymän taidekokoelmasta. Minerva.

Simpura, J., & Uusitalo, H. (2011). Hyvinvointi ja sosiaalinen kehitys. In J. Saari (Ed.). *Hyvinvointi – Suomalaisen yhteiskunnan perusta.* (pp. 106–139) Gaudeamus.

Skiendziel. T, Rösch A. G., & Schultheiss, O. C. (2019). Assessing the convergent validity between the automated emotion recognition software Noldus FaceReader 7 and Facial Action Coding System Scoring. *PLoS ONE 14*(10), e0223905. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0223905

Skingley, A., Bungay, H., & Clift, S. (2011). Researching participatory arts, wellbeing and health: Some methodological issues. *Journal of Arts & Communities 3*(1), 73–87.

https://doi.org/10.1386/jaac.3.1.73\_1

Small, K., Edwards, D., & Sheridan, L. (2005). A flexible framework for evaluating the socio-cultural impacts of a (small) festival. International Journal of Event Management Research 1(1), 66–76. http://handle.uws.edu.au:8081/1959.7/488307

Staricoff, R. (2004). *Arts in health: A review of the medical literature*. Arts Council England.

Staricoff, R., & Clift, S. (2011). *Arts and music in healthcare: An overview of the medical literature: 2004-2011*. Canterbury Christ Church University.

Stiglitz, J., Sen, A., & Fitoussi, J. P. (2009). *Report by the Commission on the Measurement of Economic Performance and Social Progress.* The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

(OECD). <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/8131721/8131772/Stiglitz-</u> <u>Sen-Fitoussi-Commission-report.pdf</u>

Stuckey, H. L., & Nobel, J. (2010). The connection between art, healing, and public health: a review of current literature. *American journal of public health, 100*(2), 254–263. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2008.156497</u>

Swan, P., & Atkinson, S. (2012). Managing evaluation: A community arts organisation's perspective. *Arts & Health, 4*(3), 217–229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17533015.2012.665372</u>

Taikusydän Arts & Health Coordination Centre of Finland. (2018, September 7). What is creative wellbeing? Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Uak9tEFIKGU

Ţară-Lungă, M-O. (2012). Major special events; an interpretive literature review. Management & Marketing; Bucharest 7(4), 759–776. http://www.managementmarketing.ro/pdf/articole/296.pdf

Timonen V-P., Rotko, T., & Kauppinen T. (2022). *Kulttuurihyvinvointi – vaikutusten mittaaminen hyvinvoinnin osoittajana.* (Working paper 10/2022). Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare THL. <u>https://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-343-839-2</u>

Terho, H. (2004). Katujen kulkijat ja näyttämöt kaupunkifestivaalissa. In R. Laitinen (Ed.). Tilan kokemisen kulttuurihistoriaa. (pp. 77–93). (Cultural history – Kulttuurihistoria 4, University of Turku).

Tremblay, M-A. (1957). The key informant technique: a nonethnographic application. *American Anthropologist 59*(4), 699-701. https://doi.org/10.1525/aa.1957.59.4.02a00100 Tusa, J. (2002, August 29). Thou shalt worship the arts for what they are. Spiked.

https://www.spiked-online.com/2002/08/29/thou-shalt-worship-the-arts-for-what-they-are/

UEF//Connect. (n.d.). *Economic evaluation of cultural Health and Wellbeing - project. ArtWell.* https://uefconnect.uef.fi/en/group/economic-evaluation-of-cultural-health-and-wellbeing-project/

UN Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO). (2001). UNESCO Universal Declaration on Cultural Diversity. <u>https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-</u> <u>mechanisms/instruments/universal-declaration-cultural-diversity</u>

UNESCO Institute for Statistics (UIS). (2005). International Flows of Selected Cultural Goods and Services, 1994-2003. https://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/international-flows-ofselected-cultural-goods-and-services-1994-2003-en\_1.pdf

UNESCO Institute for Statistics (UIS). (2009) The UNESCO framework for cultural statistics (FCS).

http://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/measuring-culturalparticipation-2009-unesco-framework-for-cultural-statistics-handbook-2-2012en.pdf

United Nations. (1948). Universal Declaration of Human Rights. https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/2021/03/udhr.pdf

Van Belle, D. (2009). Festivalizing performance: Community and aesthetics through the lens of three festival experiences. *Canadian Theatre Review, 138*, 7–12.

Virjonen K., & Rouhelo, A. (2018 September 13). Kulttuuri: ihmisoikeus ja hyvinvointitekijä [PowerPoint slide]. In K. Siltanen. *Kulttuurihyvinvointiindikaattorit.* (p. 4) Council of Tampere region. https://asiakas.kotisivukone.com/files/stesotesti.kotisivukone.com/kuvat/Siltanen -Kulttuurihyvinvointi-indikaattorit-08.2018.pdf

Virolainen, J. (2015). *Kulttuuriosallistumisen muuttuvat merkitykset: Katsaus taiteeseen ja kulttuuriin osallistumiseen, osallisuuteen ja osallistumattomuuteen.* (Cuporen verkkojulkaisuja 26) Foundation for Cultural Policy Research.

Waterman, S. (1998). Carnivals for elites? The cultural politics of arts festivals. *Progress in Human Geography, 22*(1), 54–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1191/030913298672233886</u>

Weller, S. C. (2007). Cultural Consensus Theory: Applications and Frequently Asked Questions. *Field Methods*, *19*(4), 339–
368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X07303502</u>

Węziak-Białowolska, D. (2014). Health conditions in regions of Eastern and Western Europe. *International Journal of Public Health*, 59(3), 529–539. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-014-0548-8</u>

Węziak-Białowolska, D. (2016). Attendance of cultural events and involvement with the arts – impact evaluation on health and well-being from a Swiss household panel survey. *Public Health*, *139*, 161–169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2016.06.028</u>

Węziak-Białowolska, D., & Białowolski, P. (2016). Cultural events— does attendance improve health? Evidence from a Polish longitudinal study. *BMC Public Health, 16*, 730. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3433-y

Węziak-Białowolska, D., Białowolski, P., & Sacco, P. L. (2019). Involvement with the arts and participation in cultural events—Does personality moderate impact on well-being? Evidence from the U.K. Household Panel Survey. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts, 13*(3), 348–358. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/aca0000180</u>

Wigram, T., & Gold, C. (2012). Music, Health, and Wellbeing. In R. MacDonald,G. Kreutz & L. Mitchell (Eds.). *Music, Health, and Wellbeing* (pp. 164–184).Oxford University Press.

van Winkle, C., & Woosnam, K. (2014). Sense of community and perceptions of festival social impacts. *International Journal of Event and Festival Management, 5*(1), 22–38. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijefm-01-2013-0002

Wilks, L. (2011). Bridging and bonding: Social capital at music festivals. *Journal of Policy Research in Tourism, Leisure and Events.* 3(3), 281–
297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19407963.2011.576870</u>

Wirén, M., Westerholm, T. & Liikamaa, A. (2020). *Tapahtumateollisuuden toimialatutkimus 2020 osa 2.* Tapahtumateollisuus

ry. https://www.tapahtumateollisuus.fi/wp-

content/uploads/2020/07/Tapahtumateollisuuden-toimialaraportti-2020-osa-1.pdf

Wood, E. H., & Kinnunen, M. (2020). Emotion, memory and re-collective value: shared festival experiences. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, *32*(3), 1275–1298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijchm-05-2019-0488</u>

World Health Organization. (1946). Constitution of the World Health Organization. In *Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 80*(12), 983– 984. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/268688</u> World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2019). *Intersectoral action: the arts, health and well-being: sector brief on arts.* World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/346537</u>

Yaish, M., & Katz-Gerro, T. (2012). Disentangling 'cultural capital': the consequences of cultural and economic resources for taste and participation, *European Sociological Review, 28*(2), 169–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcq056</u>

Yeoman, I., Robertson, M., & McMahon-Beattie, U. (2007). Visitor management for festivals and events, In I. Yeoman, M. Robertson, J. Ali-Knight, S. Drummond & B. McMahon (Eds.). *Festival and Events Management: An International Arts and Culture Perspective* (pp. 65–79). Routledge.

Young, L., & Pringle, A. (2018). Lived experiences of singing in a community hospice bereavement support music therapy group. *Bereavement Care, 37*(2), 55–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02682621.2018.1493646</u>

Yle, Finnish Broadcasting Company. (2022 January, 11). *Nursing schools struggle to attract applicants, thousands of spots unfilled. Finland is facing a severe shortage of healthcare professionals over the coming decade, experts warn.* https://yle.fi/news/3-12265281

Zappala, C. R. (2007). Well-being: The correlation between self-transcendence and psychological and subjective well-being [Doctoral dissertation, Institute of Transpersonal Psychology] ProQuest Dissertations Publishing, 2007.

Zubala, A., MacIntyre, D. J., Gleeson, N., & Karkou, V. (2013). Description of arts therapies practice with adults suffering from depression in the UK: Quantitative results from the nationwide survey. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, *40*(5), 458–464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2013.09.003</u>

Zukin, S. (1995). The Cultures of Cities. Blackwell Publishers.

Zukin, S. (2004 September 14) *Dialogue on Urban Cultures: Globalisation and Culture in an Urbanizing World* [Paper presentation]. The United Nations Human Settlements Programme, UN-HABITAT, World Urban Forum, Barcelona, Spain. https://mirror.unhabitat.org/downloads/docs/3070\_67594\_K0471966%20WUE2

https://mirror.unhabitat.org/downloads/docs/3070\_67594\_K0471966%20WUF2-2.pdf

# Appendices

# Appendix 1. Tutkittavan informointilomake

# **TIEDOTE TUTKIMUKSESTA**

Karolina Lehikoinen: Master's thesis "The cultural well-being of cultural events"

### Pyyntö osallistua tutkimukseen

Teitä pyydetään mukaan tutkimukseen, jossa tutkitaan kulttuurihyvinvoinnin näkökulmasta hyvinvointikokemuksia kulttuuritapahtumakontekstissa. Olemme arvioineet, että sovellutte tutkimukseen oman tutkijuutenne, sekä tapahtuma-alan asiantuntijuuden perusteella. Tämä tiedote kuvaa tutkimusta ja teidän osuuttanne siinä. Perehdyttyänne tähän tiedotteeseen teille järjestetään mahdollisuus esittää kysymyksiä tutkimuksesta, jonka jälkeen teiltä pyydetään suostumus tutkimukseen osallistumisesta.

### Vapaaehtoisuus

Tutkimukseen osallistuminen on täysin vapaaehtoista. Voitte myös keskeyttää tutkimuksen koska tahansa syytä ilmoittamatta. Mikäli keskeytätte tutkimuksen tai peruutatte suostumuksen, teistä keskeyttämiseen ja suostumuksen peruuttamiseen mennessä kerättyjä tietoja ja näytteitä voidaan käyttää osana tutkimusaineistoa.

#### Tutkimuksen tarkoitus

Tämän tutkimuksen tarkoituksena on tutkia tapahtumiin osallistumisen hyvinvointia lisääviä kokemuksia, sekä niiden yhteyttä kulttuurihyvinvointiin ja subjektiivisten hyvinvoitikokemusten mittaamiseen.

#### Tutkimuksen toteuttajat

Tutkimuksen toteuttaa Metropolia ammattikorkeakoulun CRASH - creativity and arts in the social and health fields tutkinto-ohjelmassa opintojaan suorittava Karolina Lehikoinen ja tutkimus on osa hänen master's thesis lopputyötään. Opinnäytetyön ohjaajana toimii Taideyliopiston Sibelius-akatemian tutkija ja opettaja Sanna Kivijärvi.

#### Tutkimusmenetelmät ja toimenpiteet

Osallistujalta vaaditaan osallistuminen tunnin kestävään etäyhteydellä toteutettavaan haastatteluun. Haastattelu nauhoitetaan vastausten tarkempaa ja laajempaa analyysiä varten. Osallistujan rooli haastateltavana on julkinen ja suoria lainauksia vastauksista saatetaan käyttää osana opinnäytetyön kirjallista osuutta. Osallistuja antaa suostumuksensa litteroitujen haastattelujen arkistointiin opinnäytetyön tekijän henkilökohtaiselle kovalevylle. Kerättyjä tietoja voidaan käyttää myöhemmin opinnäytetyön tekijän jatkotutkimuksissa.

#### Kustannukset ja niiden korvaaminen

Tutkimukseen osallistuminen ei maksa teille mitään. Osallistumisesta ei myöskään makseta erillistä korvausta.

#### Tutkimustuloksista tiedottaminen

Opinnäytetyö julkaistaan avoimesti Theseus-tietokannassa.

### Tutkimuksen päättyminen

Myös tutkimuksen toteuttaja voi keskeyttää tutkimuksen opintojen suorittamisen mahdollisista muutoksista johtuen.

### Lisätiedot

Pyydämme teitä tarvittaessa esittämään tutkimukseen liittyviä kysymyksiä opinnäytetyön tekijälle.

## Yhteystiedot

# Appendix 2. Tutkittavan suostumus

Tutkimuksen nimi: Karolina Lehikoinen: Master's Thesis "The cultural well-being of cultural events" Tutkimuksen toteuttaja: Metropolia ammattikorkeakoulu, Karolina Lehikoinen, puhelinnumero, karolina.lehikoinen@metropolia.fi Ohjaaja: Sanna Kivijärvi, sanna.kivijarvi@metropolia.fi

Minua <u>[tutkittavan nimi]</u> on pyydetty osallistumaan yllämainittuun tutkimukseen, jonka tarkoituksena on kulttuurihyvinvoinnin ja hyvinvoinnin lisääntymisen tutkiminen kulttuuritapahtumakontekstissa.

Olen saanut tiedotteen tutkimuksesta ja ymmärtänyt sen. Tiedotteesta olen saanut riittävän selvityksen tutkimuksesta, sen tarkoituksesta ja toteutuksesta, oikeuksistani sekä tutkimuksen mahdollisesti liittyvistä hyödyistä ja riskeistä. Minulla on ollut mahdollisuus esittää kysymyksiä ja olen saanut riittävän vastauksen kaikkiin tutkimusta koskeviin kysymyksiini.

Olen saanut tiedot tutkimukseen mahdollisesti liittyvästä henkilötietojen keräämisestä, käsittelystä ja luovuttamisesta ja minun on ollut mahdollista tutustua tutkimuksen tietosuojaselosteeseen.

Osallistun tutkimukseen vapaaehtoisesti. Minua ei ole painostettu eikä houkuteltu osallistumaan tutkimukseen.

Minulla on ollut riittävästi aikaa harkita osallistumistani tutkimukseen.

Ymmärrän, että osallistumiseni on vapaaehtoista ja että voin peruuttaa suostumukseni koska tahansa syytä ilmoittamatta. Olen tietoinen siitä, että mikäli keskeytän tutkimuksen tai peruutan suostumuksen, minusta keskeyttämiseen ja suostumuksen peruuttamiseen mennessä kerättyjä tietoja ja näytteitä voidaan käyttää osana tutkimusaineistoa.

Allekirjoituksellani vahvistan osallistumiseni tähän tutkimukseen.

Jos tutkimukseen liittyvien henkilötietojen käsittelyperusteena on suostumus, vahvistan allekirjoituksellani suostumukseni myös henkilötietojeni käsittelyyn. Minulla on oikeus peruuttaa suostumukseni tietosuojaselosteessa kuvatulla tavalla.

Nimenselvennys:

Alkuperäinen allekirjoitettu tutkittavan suostumus sekä kopio tutkimustiedotteesta liitteineen jäävät tutkijan arkistoon. Tutkimustiedote liitteineen ja kopio allekirjoitetusta suostumuksesta annetaan tutkittavalle.

# Appendix 3. Interview questions, Finnish

# Haastattelukysymykset

Miten tutkimuksesi ja/tai työkokemuksesi liittyy laajempaan kontekstiin kulttuuritapahtumien vaikutuksista?

Minkälaisena näet hyvinvoinnin osuuden näissä vaikutuksissa?

Mitkä ovat mielestäsi tärkeimmät yhdistävät tekijät subjektiivisen hyvinvoinnin eri ulottuvuuksissa?

Mikä on näkemyksesi osallisuudesta muissa kulttuuritapahtumissa kuin festivaaleilla tai musiikkitapahtumissa?

Miten valitsit hyvinvointia mittaavat tekijät ja kategoriat tutkimuksessasi?/Minkälaisia tekijöitä ja kategorioita valitsisit hyvinvointikokemusten mittaamiseen?/Mitä aiemmasta tutkimuksesta ilmeni, mikä saisi sinut valitsemaan nyt toisin?

Mitä ajattelet kokemusten tutkimisesta ja mittausmetodeista suhteessa tämän hetkiseen kulttuurihyvinvointiin ilmiönä?

Miten ajattelet kulttuuritapahtumiin osallistumisen vaikuttavan kansanterveyteen?

Miten sinä näet kulttuurihyvinvoinnin?